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PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2012 2011
Revenues
Net sales $ 145,920 $ 94,307
Other revenues 1,077 988
Total revenues 146,997 95,295
Cost of Sales
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation shown
below) 63,393 45,427
Gross profit 83,604 49,868
Operating Expenses
Advertising and promotion 20,325 10,233
General and administrative 16,151 9,850
Depreciation and amortization 3,295 2,550
Total operating expenses 39,771 22,633
Operating income 43,833 27,235
Other (income) expense
Interest income ) )
Interest expense 19,850 8,580
Gain on settlement — (5,063)
Total other expense 19,848 3,515
Income before income taxes 23,985 23,720
Provision for income taxes 9,330 8,952
Net income $ 14,655  $ 14,768
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 029 $ 0.29
Diluted $ 0.29 $ 0.29
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 50,342 50,183
Diluted 51,106 50,646
Comprehensive income, net of tax:
Currency translation adjustments (42) (10)
Total other comprehensive loss (42) (10)
Comprehensive income $ 14,613 $ 14,758

See accompanying notes.



Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)

(In _thousands)
Assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Deferred income tax assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Property and equipment, net
Goodwill

Intangible assets, net

Other long-term assets

Total Assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued interest payable

Other accrued liabilities

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt
Principal amount
Less unamortized discount

Long-term debt, net of unamortized discount

Deferred income tax liabilities
Total Liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies — Note 16

Stockholders' Equity
Preferred stock - $0.01 par value
Authorized - 5,000 shares
Issued and outstanding - None
Preferred share rights
Common stock - $0.01 par value
Authorized - 250,000 shares
Issued - 50,473 shares at June 30, 2012 and 50,466 shares at March 31, 2012
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock, at cost - 181 shares at June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Retained earnings
Total Stockholders' Equity
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

See accompanying notes.

June 30, March 31,
2012 2012

4,404 S 19,015
69,418 60,228
53,848 51,113
5,309 5,283
11,390 11,396
144,369 147,035
2,279 1,304
173,928 173,702
1,397,414 1,400,522
34,665 35,713
1,752,655 $ 1,758,276
26,854 $ 26,726
13,853 13,889
22,483 23,308
63,190 63,923
1,107,000 1,135,000

(10,688) (11,092)
1,096,312 1,123,908
174,819 167,717
1,334,321 1,355,548
283 283
505 505
392,891 391,898

(687) (687)

(55) (13)
25,397 10,742
418,334 402,728
1,752,655 $ 1,758,276




Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2012 2011
Operating Activities
Net income $ 14,655 $ 14,768
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 3,295 2,550
Deferred income taxes 7,076 3,186
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,048 283
Stock-based compensation costs 913 861
Amortization of debt discount 404 229
Loss on disposal of equipment 21 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable (9,214) 585
Inventories (2,748) (3,966)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6 1,356
Accounts payable 135 2,562
Accrued liabilities (849) (6,971)
Net cash provided by operating activities 14,742 15,443
Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment (1,198) (76)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 15 —
Acquisition of brands from GSK purchase price adjustments (226) —
Net cash used in investing activities (1,409) (76)
Financing Activities
Repayments of long-term debt (45,000) (23,000)
Repayments under revolving credit agreement (8,000) —
Borrowings under revolving credit agreement 25,000 —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 80 563
Shares surrendered as payment of tax withholding — (271)
Net cash used in financing activities (27,920) (22,708)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (24) )
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (14,611) (7,343)
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period 19,015 13,334
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period $ 4,404 % 5,991
Interest paid $ 18,391 $ 13,201
Income taxes paid $ 407  $ 209

See accompanying notes.

-4-



Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1.Business and Basis of Presentation

Nature of Business

Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. (referred to herein as the “Company” or “we”, which reference shall, unless the context requires otherwise, be deemed to refer
to Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. and all of its direct and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries on a consolidated basis) is engaged in the marketing, sales and
distribution of Over-The-Counter (“OTC”) Healthcare and Household Cleaning brands to mass merchandisers, drug stores, supermarkets and dollar and club
stores primarily in the United States and Canada and in certain other international markets. Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. is a holding company with no
operations and is also the parent guarantor of the senior credit facility and the senior notes described in Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Basis of Presentation

The unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements presented herein have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial reporting and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do
not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. All significant intercompany transactions and balances
have been eliminated in the Consolidated Financial Statements. In the opinion of management, the Consolidated Financial Statements include all
adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments that are considered necessary for a fair presentation of our consolidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows for the interim periods presented. Our fiscal year ends on March 31st of each year. References in these Consolidated Financial
Statements or notes to a year (e.g., “2013”) mean our fiscal year ending or ended on March 31st of that year. Operating results for the three months ended
June 30, 2012 are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2013. This financial information should be
read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2012.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on our knowledge of current events and actions that we may undertake in the
future, actual results could differ from those estimates. As discussed below, our most significant estimates include those made in connection with the
valuation of intangible assets, sales returns and allowances, trade promotional allowances and inventory obsolescence.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all short-term deposits and investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Substantially all of our cash is
held by a large regional bank with headquarters in California. We do not believe that, as a result of this concentration, we are subject to any unusual financial
risk beyond the normal risk associated with commercial banking relationships.

Accounts Receivable

We extend non-interest-bearing trade credit to our customers in the ordinary course of business. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts receivable
based upon historical collection experience and expected collectability of the accounts receivable. In an effort to reduce credit risk, we (i) have established
credit limits for all of our customer relationships, (ii) perform ongoing credit evaluations of customers' financial condition, (iii) monitor the payment history
and aging of customers' receivables, and (iv) monitor open orders against an individual customer's outstanding receivable balance.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value, with cost determined by using the first-in, first-out method. We reduce inventories for diminution
of value resulting from product obsolescence, damage or other issues affecting marketability, equal to the difference between the cost of the inventory and its
estimated market value. Factors utilized in the determination of estimated market value include (i) current sales data and historical return rates, (ii) estimates
of future demand, (iii) competitive pricing pressures, (iv) new product introductions, (v) product expiration dates, and (vi) component and packaging
obsolescence.



Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method based on the following estimated useful lives:

Years
Machinery 5
Computer equipment 3
Furniture and fixtures 7

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the term of the lease or five years.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. When an asset is sold or otherwise disposed of, we remove the cost and
associated accumulated depreciation from the respective accounts and recognize the resulting gain or loss in the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income.

Property and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Goodwill

The excess of the purchase price over the fair market value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in purchase business combinations is classified as
goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized, although the carrying value is tested for impairment at least annually in the fourth fiscal quarter of each year, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit “brand” level,
which is one level below the operating segment level.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets, which are comprised primarily of trademarks, are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. For intangible assets with finite lives,
amortization is computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 30 years.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment at least annually in the fourth fiscal quarter of each year. Intangible assets with finite lives are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts exceed their fair values and may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Deferred Financing Costs
We have incurred debt origination costs in connection with the issuance of long-term debt. These costs are capitalized as deferred financing costs and
amortized using the straight-line method, which approximates the effective interest method, over the term of the related debt.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when the following criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) the selling price is fixed or determinable,
(iii) the product has been shipped and the customer takes ownership and assumes the risk of loss, and (iv) collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably
assured. We have determined that these criteria are met and the transfer of the risk of loss generally occurs when product is received by the customer, and,
accordingly, we recognize revenue at that time. Provisions are made for estimated discounts related to customer payment terms and estimated product returns
at the time of sale based on our historical experience.

As is customary in the consumer products industry, we participate in the promotional programs of our customers to enhance the sale of our products. The cost
of these promotional programs varies based on the actual number of units sold during a finite period of time. These promotional programs consist of direct-
to-consumer incentives, such as coupons and temporary price reductions, as well as incentives to our customers, such as allowances for new distribution,
including slotting fees, and cooperative advertising. Estimates of the costs of these promotional programs are based on (i) historical sales experience, (ii) the
current promotional offering, (iii) forecasted data, (iv) current market conditions, and (v) communication with customer purchasing/marketing personnel. At
the completion of a promotional program, the estimated amounts are adjusted to actual results.

Due to the nature of the consumer products industry, we are required to estimate future product returns. Accordingly, we record
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an estimate of product returns concurrent with recording sales, which is made after analyzing (i) historical return rates, (ii) current economic trends, (iii)
changes in customer demand, (iv) product acceptance, (v) seasonality of our product offerings, and (vi) the impact of changes in product formulation,
packaging and advertising.

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales includes product costs, warehousing costs, inbound and outbound shipping costs, and handling and storage costs. Shipping, warehousing and
handling costs were $8.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and $6.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011.

Advertising and Promotion Costs

Advertising and promotion costs are expensed as incurred. Allowances for new distribution costs associated with products including slotting fees, are
recognized as a reduction of sales. Under these new distribution arrangements, the retailers allow our products to be placed on the stores' shelves in exchange
for such fees.

Stock-based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation by measuring the cost of services to be rendered based on the grant-date fair value of the equity
award. Compensation expense is recognized over the period an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award, generally referred to as the
requisite service period.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities using the
enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce
deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized.

The Income Taxes topic of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attributes for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return. As a result, we have applied a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold for all tax uncertainties. The guidance only allows the recognition of those
tax benefits that have a greater than 50% likelihood of being sustained upon examination by the various taxing authorities.

We are subject to taxation in the United States and various state and foreign jurisdictions.

We classify penalties and interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive
Income.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on income available to common stockholders and the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the
reporting period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated based on income available to common stockholders and the weighted-average number of common
and potential common shares outstanding during the reporting period. Potential common shares, composed of the incremental common shares issuable upon
the exercise of stock options, stock appreciation rights and unvested restricted shares, are included in the earnings per share calculation to the extent that they
are dilutive.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In July 2012, the FASB issued guidance regarding testing the impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets other than goodwill. The new guidance is
intended to simplify how entities test impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets other than goodwill. The new guidance permits an entity to first assess
qualitative factors to determine whether it is "more-likely-than-not" that the fair value of the asset is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining
whether it is necessary to perform the impairment test described in the ASC Intangibles-Goodwill and Other topic. The more-likely-than-not threshold is
defined as having a likelihood of more than 50%. The new guidance is effective for annual and interim impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning
after September 15, 2012. Early adoption is permitted. We do not expect that the adoption of this new guidance will have a material impact on our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2011, the FASB issued guidance regarding disclosures about offsetting assets and liabilities. The new disclosure requirements mandate that
entities disclose both gross and net information about instruments and transactions eligible for offset in the statement of financial position, as well as
instruments and transactions subject to an agreement similar to a master netting arrangement. In addition, the standard requires disclosure of collateral
received and posted in connection with master netting agreements or similar arrangements. An entity will be required to disclose the following information
for assets and liabilities within the scope of the new standard: (i) the gross amounts of those recognized assets and those recognized liabilities; (ii) the
amounts



offset to determine the net amounts presented in the statement of financial position; (iii) the net amounts presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet; (iv) the
amounts subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement not otherwise included in (ii); and (v) the net amount after deducting the
amounts in (iv) from the amounts in (iii). The standard affects all entities with balances presented on a net basis in the financial statements, derivative assets
and derivative liabilities, repurchase agreements, and financial assets and financial liabilities executed under a master netting or similar arrangement. This
guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and interim periods within those annual periods. We do not expect
the adoption of this new guidance to have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements. However, our arrangement with GSK provided that,
during the term of the arrangement, we would receive a net monthly remittance and, therefore have reported a net amount due from GSK in our accounts
receivable.

In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance regarding presentation of comprehensive income. Under the ASC Comprehensive Income topic, entities are allowed
the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single
continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. In both choices, an entity is required to present each
component of net income along with total net income, each component of other comprehensive income along with a total for other comprehensive income,
and a total amount for comprehensive income. This guidance eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the
statement of changes in stockholders' equity. This guidance does not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income or when an item
of other comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income.

In December 2011, the FASB issued guidance to defer the new requirement to present components of reclassifications of other comprehensive income on the
face of the income statement. Based on this guidance, entities are still required to adopt either the single continuous statement or the two-statement approach
required by the new guidance. However, entities should continue to report reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income consistent with
the requirements in effect before the adoption of the new standard (i.e., by component of other comprehensive income, either by displaying each component
on a gross basis on the face of the appropriate financial statement or by displaying each component net of other changes on the face of the appropriate
financial statement with the gross change disclosed in the notes). The new guidance and this deferral were effective for the Company beginning with the three
months ended June 30, 2012, and full retrospective application is required. The December 2011 deferral of the guidance issued in June 2011, as well as the
June 2011 guidance, are effective at the same time. The adoption of this new guidance did not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

In September 2011, the FASB issued guidance regarding testing goodwill for impairment. The new guidance is intended to simplify how entities test goodwill
for impairment. The new guidance permits an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is "more-likely-than-not" that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test described in
the ASC Intangibles-Goodwill and Other topic. The more-likely-than-not threshold is defined as having a likelihood of more than 50%. The new guidance is
effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011. Early adoption is permitted. The
adoption of this new guidance did not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Management has reviewed and continues to monitor the actions of the various financial and regulatory reporting agencies and is currently not aware of any
other pronouncement that could have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

2.Acquisitions

Acquisition of GlaxoSmithKline OTC Brands
On December 20, 2011, we entered into two separate agreements with GlaxoSmithKline plc (“GSK”) to acquire a total of 17 North American OTC
pharmaceutical brands for $660.0 million in cash.

On January 31, 2012, we completed, subject to a post-closing inventory and apportionment adjustment, as defined in the GSK agreement, the acquisition of
15 North American over-the-counter healthcare brands owned by GSK and its affiliates (the “GSK Brands I”) for $615.0 million in cash, including the related
contracts, trademarks and inventory.

The GSK Brands I include, among other brands, BC, Goody's and Ecotrin brands of pain relievers; Beano, Gaviscon, Phazyme, Tagamet and Fiber Choice
gastrointestinal brands; and the Sominex sleep aid brand. These brands are complementary to our existing OTC Healthcare portfolio.

We acquired the GSK Brands I pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreement we entered into on December 20, 2011 with GSK and its affiliates. We also
entered into a separate purchase agreement on December 20, 2011 with GSK and its affiliates to acquire Debrox and Gly-Oxide brands (the “GSK Brands I1”)

in the United States for $45.0 million in cash, including the related contracts,
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trademarks and inventory, subject to a post-closing inventory adjustment. The GSK Brands II are also complementary to our existing OTC Healthcare
portfolio. The acquisition of the GSK Brands II was completed on March 30, 2012.

These acquisitions were accounted for in accordance with the Business Combinations topic of the ASC, which requires that the total cost of an acquisition be
allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their respective fair values at the date of acquisition.

The purchase price of the GSK Brands I and GSK Brands II was funded by cash provided by the issuance of long-term debt and additional bank borrowings,
which are discussed further in Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In April 2012, we received the post-closing inventory and apportionment adjustments, which required an additional $2.8 million to be paid to GSK, and in
May 2012 we received a revised post-closing inventory and apportionment adjustment, which required an additional $0.2 million, for a total of $3.0 million,
to be paid to GSK.

Concurrent with the closing of the GSK Brands I transaction, we entered into a Transitional Services Agreement with GSK (the “TSA”), whereby GSK
provided various services including: marketing, operations, finance and other services from the GSK Brands I acquisition date through June 30, 2012. As part
of the TSA, GSK, among other things, shipped products, invoiced customers, collected from customers and paid certain vendors on our behalf. Our costs
under the TSA were approximately $2.5 million per month for the length of the agreement and were reduced during the service period as we removed certain
services and transitioned these processes to us. We incurred $6.8 million in TSA costs for the period ended June 30, 2012. Pursuant to this arrangement, we
received on a monthly basis the amount owed to us for revenues and expenses, net of GSK's TSA fees and inventory that GSK purchased on our behalf.
Therefore, a net amount of $22.2 million due from GSK is included in our accounts receivable at June 30, 2012.

The allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired is based on a valuation we performed to determine the fair value of such assets as of the acquisition
date. We are still finalizing the purchase price allocation. The following table summarizes our preliminary allocation of the $663.0 million purchase price to
the assets we acquired on the GSK Brands I and GSK Brands II (collectively, the "GSK Brands") acquisition dates:

GSK Brands I GSK Brands II
(In thousands) (January 31, 2012) (March 30, 2012) Total
Inventory $ 14,820 $ 250 % 15,070
Prepaid expenses 3,575 — 3,575
Trade names 542,892 81,257 624,149
Goodwill 17,401 2,831 20,232
Total purchase price $ 578,688 $ 84,338 $ 663,026

We recorded goodwill based on the amount by which the purchase price exceeded the fair value of assets acquired. The amount of goodwill deductible for tax
purposes is $20.2 million.

The fair value of the trade names is comprised of $556.9 million of non-amortizable intangible assets and $67.2 million of amortizable intangible assets. We
are amortizing the purchased amortizable intangible assets on a straight-line basis over an estimated weighted average useful life of 19.3 years. The weighted
average remaining life for amortizable intangible assets at June 30, 2012 was 18.9 years.

The operating results of the GSK Brands I have been included in our Consolidated Financial Statements beginning February 1, 2012, while the operating
results of the GSK Brands IT have been included in our Consolidated Financial Statements beginning April 1, 2012.

Revenues of the acquired operations for the three months ended June 30, 2012 were $51.6 million and net income was $4.4 million.

The following table provides our unaudited pro forma revenues, net income and net income per basic and diluted common share as if the results of GSK's
operations had been included in our operations commencing on April 1, 2011, and based upon available information related to GSK's operations. This pro
forma information is not necessarily indicative either of the combined results of operations that actually would have been realized by us had the GSK

acquisition been consummated at the beginning of the period for which the pro forma information is presented, or of future results.
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Three Months Ended

(In_thousands, except per share data) June 30, 2011
Revenues $ 146,834
Net income $ 19,796

Earnings per share:

Basic $ 0.39
Diluted $ 0.39
3.Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consist of the following:
June 30, March 31,

(In_thousands) 2012 2012
Components of Accounts Receivable
Trade accounts receivable $ 49,536 $ 55,721
Other receivables 23,645 9,368

73,181 65,089
Less allowances for discounts, returns and uncollectible accounts (3,763) (4,861)
Accounts receivable, net $ 69,418 $ 60,228
4.Inventories
Inventories consist of the following:

June 30, March 31,

(In_thousands) 2012 2012
Components of Inventories
Packaging and raw materials $ 2,597 $ 1,189
Finished goods 51,251 49,924
Inventories $ 53,848 $ 51,113

Inventories, depicted above, are carried at the lower of cost or market, which includes a reduction in inventory values of $2.0 million and $1.6 million at
June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012, respectively, related to obsolete and slow-moving inventory.

5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following:

June 30, March 31,

(In_thousands), 2012 2012
Components of Property and Equipment
Machinery $ 1,414 $ 1,454
Computer equipment 2,881 2,693
Furniture and fixtures 835 241
Leasehold improvements 852 436

5,982 4,824
Accumulated depreciation (3,703) (3,520)
Property and equipment, net $ 2,279 $ 1,304

We recorded depreciation expense of $0.2 million for each of the three months ended June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2011, respectively.
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6.Goodwill

A reconciliation of the activity affecting goodwill by operating segment is as follows:

OTC Household
(In thousands) Healthcare Cleaning Consolidated
Balance — March 31, 2012
Goodwill $ 296,483 $ 72,549 $ 369,032
Accumulated impairment losses (130,170) (65,160) (195,330)
166,313 7,389 173,702
Additions 226 — 226
Balance — June 30, 2012
Goodwill 296,709 72,549 369,258
Accumulated impairment losses (130,170) (65,160) (195,330)
$ 166,539 $ 7,389 % 173,928

At March 31, 2012, during our annual test for goodwill impairment, there were no indicators of impairment under the analysis. Accordingly, no impairment
charge was recorded in 2011. Additionally, for the three months ended June 30, 2012, no indicators of impairment existed and no impairment charge was
recorded.

The discounted cash flow methodology is a widely-accepted valuation technique to estimate fair value utilized by market participants in the transaction
evaluation process and has been applied consistently. We also considered our market capitalization at March 31, 2012, as compared to the aggregate fair
values of our reporting units, to assess the reasonableness of our estimates pursuant to the discounted cash flow methodology. The estimates and assumptions
made in assessing the fair value of our reporting units and the valuation of the underlying assets and liabilities are inherently subject to significant
uncertainties. Consequently, changing rates of interest and inflation, declining sales or margins, increases in competition, changing consumer preferences,
technical advances, or reductions in advertising and promotion may require impairments in the future.

During the three months ended June 30, 2012, we received a revised post-closing inventory and apportionment adjustment from GSK for an additional
amount of $0.2 million, which resulted in an increase to our recorded goodwill balance.

As discussed in Note 1, in accordance with recent guidance from the FASB, an entity is permitted to first assess qualitative factors in testing goodwill for

impairment prior to performing a quantitative assessment. The new guidance is effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011, and became effective for the Company in fiscal year 2013.

-11-



7.Intangible Assets

A reconciliation of the activity affecting intangible assets is as follows:

Indefinite
Lived Finite Lived Non Compete

(In thousands) Trademarks Trademarks Agreement Totals
Carrying Amounts
Balance — March 31, 2012 $ 1,245,414  $ 217,512  $ 158 $ 1,463,084
Additions — — — —
Balance — June 30, 2012 $ 1,245,414  $ 217,512  $ 158 $ 1,463,084
Accumulated Amortization
Balance — March 31, 2012 $ — 3 62,404 $ 158 $ 62,562
Additions — 3,108 — 3,108
Balance — June 30, 2012 $ —  $ 65,512 $ 158 $ 65,670
Intangible assets, net - June 30, 2012 $ 1,245,414  $ 152,000 $ — 3 1,397,414

In a manner similar to goodwill, we completed our test for impairment of our indefinite-lived intangible assets during the three months ended March 31,
2012. We did not record an impairment charge, as facts and circumstances indicated that the fair values of the intangible assets for our operating segments
exceeded their carrying values. Additionally, for the indefinite-lived intangible assets, an evaluation of the facts and circumstances as of June 30, 2012
continues to support an indefinite useful life for these assets. Therefore, no impairment charge was recorded for the three months ended June 30, 2012.

The weighted average remaining life for finite-lived intangible assets at June 30, 2012 was approximately 13.9 years and the amortization expense for the
three months ended June 30, 2012 was $3.1 million. At June 30, 2012, intangible assets are expected to be amortized over a period of 3 to 30 years as follows:

(In_thousands)

Year Ending March 31, Amount
2013 (Remaining nine months ending March 31, 2013) $ 8,920
2014 10,898
2015 9,563
2016 9,563
2017 9,563
Thereafter 103,493
$ 152,000

8.0ther Accrued Liabilities

Other accrued liabilities consist of the following:

June 30, March 31,

(In_thousands), 2012 2012
Accrued marketing costs $ 15,118 $ 10,554
Accrued payroll 2,684 7,181
Accrued commissions 336 415
Accrued income taxes — 577
Accrued professional fees 3,714 3,821
Accrued severance 385 461
Accrued other 246 299

$ 22,483 $ 23,308
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9.Long-Term Debt

On March 24, 2010, Prestige Brands, Inc. ("the Borrower") issued $150.0 million of 2010 Senior Notes, with an interest rate of 8.25% and a maturity date of
April 1, 2018. On November 1, 2010, Prestige Brands, Inc. issued an additional $100.0 million of the 2010 Senior Notes. The Company may earlier redeem
some or all of the 2010 Senior Notes at redemption prices set forth in the indenture governing the 2010 Senior Notes (the "Senior Notes Indenture"). The
2010 Senior Notes issued in March and November 2010 were issued at an aggregate face value of $150.0 million and $100.0 million, respectively, with a
discount to the initial purchasers of $2.2 million and a premium of $0.3 million, respectively, and net proceeds to the Company of $147.8 million and $100.3
million, respectively, yielding an 8.5% effective interest rate for the 2010 Senior Notes on a combined basis. The 2010 Senior Notes are unconditionally
guaranteed by Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. and its domestic 100% owned subsidiaries other than Prestige Brands, Inc., the issuer. Each of these guarantees
is joint and several. There are no significant restrictions on the ability of any of the guarantors to obtain funds from their subsidiaries.

On March 24, 2010, the Borrower entered into the 2010 Senior Term Loan for $150.0 million, with an interest rate at LIBOR plus 3.25% with a LIBOR floor
of 1.5% and a maturity date of March 24, 2016. The $150.0 million 2010 Senior Term Loan was entered into with a discount to lenders of $1.8 million and
net proceeds to the Company of $148.2 million, yielding a 5.0% effective interest rate. On November 1, 2010, we, together with the Borrower and certain of
our other subsidiaries, executed an Increase Joinder to our 2010 Senior Term Loan Credit Agreement dated March 24, 2010 (the "Increase Joinder"), pursuant
to which the Borrower entered into an incremental term loan in the amount of $115.0 million. The incremental 2010 Senior Term Loan was scheduled to
mature on March 24, 2016 and was repaid in full on January 31, 2012 with the entry into the new senior secured credit facilities described below. The 2010
Senior Term Loan was unconditionally guaranteed by Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. and its domestic 100% owned subsidiaries, other than the Borrower.

Additionally, on March 24, 2010, Prestige Brands, Inc. entered into a non-amortizing senior secured revolving credit facility (“2010 Revolving Credit
Facility” and, collectively with the 2010 Senior Term Loan, the “Credit Agreement”) in an aggregate principal amount of up to $30.0 million. On November
1, 2010, pursuant to the Increase Joinder, the amount of the 2010 Revolving Credit Facility was increased by $10.0 million and the Borrower had borrowing
capacity under the 2010 Revolving Credit Facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $40.0 million. On January 31, 2012, in connection with the entry
into new senior secured credit facilities as described below, the Borrower terminated the Credit Agreement. There were no material early termination
penalties as a result of the termination of the Credit Agreement.

On January 31, 2012, Prestige Brands, Inc. issued $250.0 million of 2012 Senior Notes at par value, with an interest rate of 8.125% and a maturity date of
February 1, 2020. We may earlier redeem some or all of the 2012 Senior Notes at redemption prices set forth in the indenture governing the 2012 Senior
Notes. The 2012 Senior Notes are guaranteed by Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. and certain of its domestic 100% owned subsidiaries. Each of these
guarantees is joint and several. There are no significant restrictions on the ability of any of the guarantors to obtain funds from their subsidiaries. In
connection with the 2012 Senior Notes offering, we incurred $12.6 million of costs which were capitalized as deferred financing costs and are being
amortized over the term of the 2012 Senior Notes.

On January 31, 2012, the Borrower also entered into a new Senior Secured Credit Facility which consists of (i) a $660.0 million term loan facility (“2012
Term Loan”) with a seven-year maturity and (ii) a $50.0 million asset-based revolving credit facility (“2012 ABL Revolver”) with a five-year maturity. The
2012 Term Loan was issued with an original issue discount of 1.5% of the principal amount thereof, resulting in net proceeds to the Company of $650.1
million. In connection with these loan facilities, we incurred $20.6 million of costs which were capitalized as deferred financing costs and are being amortized
over the terms of the facilities.The 2012 Term Loan is unconditionally guaranteed by Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. and its domestic 100% owned
subsidiaries, other than the Borrower. Each of these guarantees is joint and several. There are no significant restrictions on the ability of any of the guarantors
to obtain funds from their subsidiaries.

The 2012 Term Loan bears interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin plus, at our option, either (i) a base rate determined by reference to the
highest of (a) the Federal Funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) the prime rate of Citibank, N.A., (c) the LIBOR rate determined by reference to the cost of funds for U.S.
dollar deposits for an interest period of one month adjusted for certain additional costs, plus 1.00% and (d) a floor of 2.25% or (ii) a LIBOR rate determined
by reference to the costs of funds for U.S. dollar deposits for the interest period relevant to such borrowing adjusted for certain additional costs, provided that
LIBOR shall not be lower than 1.25%. At June 30, 2012, the interest rate on the 2012 Term Loan was 5.5%.

Under the 2012 Term Loan, we are required to make quarterly payments each equal to 0.25% of the original principal amount of the term loan made on the
closing date, with the balance expected to be due on the seventh anniversary of the closing date. However, since we made a $25.0 million payment in March
2012, and an additional $45.0 million during the three months ended June 30, 2012, we will not be required to make a payment until the maturity date of
January 31, 2019.
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Borrowings under the 2012 ABL Revolver bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin, plus, at our option, either (i) a base rate determined
by reference to the highest of (a) the Federal Funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) the prime rate of Citibank, N.A., (c) the LIBOR rate determined by reference to the
cost of funds for U.S. dollar deposits for an interest period of one month adjusted for certain additional costs, plus 1.00% or (ii) a LIBOR rate determined by
reference to the costs of funds for U.S. dollar deposits for the interest period relevant to such borrowing adjusted for certain additional costs. The initial
applicable margin for borrowings under the 2012 ABL Revolver is 1.75% with respect to LIBOR borrowings and 0.75% with respect to base-rate borrowings.
The applicable margin for borrowings under the 2012 ABL Revolver may be increased to 2.00% or 2.25% for LIBOR borrowings and 1.00% or 1.25% for
base-rate borrowings, depending on average excess availability under the 2012 ABL Revolver during the prior fiscal quarter. In addition to paying interest on
outstanding principal under the 2012 ABL Revolver, we are required to pay a commitment fee to the lenders under the 2012 ABL Revolver in respect of the
unutilized commitments thereunder. The initial commitment fee rate is 0.50% per annum. The commitment fee rate will be reduced to 0.375% per annum at
any time when the average daily unused commitments for the prior quarter is less than a percentage of total commitments in an amount set forth in the credit
agreement covering the 2012 ABL Revolver. We may voluntarily repay outstanding loans under the 2012 ABL Revolver at any time without a premium or
penalty. At June 30, 2012, the interest rate on the 2012 ABL Revolver was 2.2%.

We used the net proceeds from the 2012 Senior Notes offering, together with borrowings under the 2012 Term Loan to finance the acquisition of the GSK
Brands I and GSK Brands II, to repay our existing senior secured credit facilities, to pay fees and expenses incurred in connection with these transactions and
for general corporate purposes. The acquisition is discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In connection with the financing activities of March 2010 relating to the 2010 Senior Notes, the 2010 Senior Term Loan and the 2010 Revolving Credit
Facility, we incurred $7.3 million in issuance costs, of which $6.6 million was capitalized as deferred financing costs and $0.7 million was expensed. In
connection with the financing activities of November 2010 relating to the 2010 Senior Notes, the 2010 Senior Term Loan and the 2010 Revolving Credit
Facility, we incurred $0.6 million in issuance costs, all of which were capitalized as deferred financing costs. In connection with the financing activities of
January 2012 relating to the 2012 Senior Notes, the 2012 Term Loan and the 2012 ABL Revolver, we incurred $12.6 million, $18.8 million and $1.8 million,
respectively, in issuance costs, which were capitalized as deferred financing costs. The deferred financing costs are being amortized over the terms of the
related loan and notes.

The 2010 Senior Notes and 2012 Senior Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis. The 2010
Senior Notes are effectively junior in right of payment to all existing and future secured obligations of the Company with the exception of the 2012 Senior
Notes, equal in right of payment with all existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness of the Company, and senior in right of payment to all future
subordinated debt of the Company. The 2012 Senior Notes are effectively subordinated to secured obligations of the Company, including the new Senior
Secured Credit Facility and the 2010 Senior Notes, equal in right of payment to all existing and future unsecured obligations of the Company, and senior in
right of payment to all existing and future subordinated obligations of the Company.

At any time prior to April 1, 2014, we may redeem the 2010 Senior Notes in whole or in part at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the notes redeemed, plus a “make-whole premium” calculated as set forth in the indenture governing the 2010 Senior Notes, together with accrued and unpaid
interest, if any, to the date of redemption. We may redeem the 2010 Senior Notes in whole or in part at any time on or after the 12-month period beginning
April 1, 2014 at a redemption price of 104.125% of the principal amount thereof, at a redemption price of 102.063% of the principal amount thereof if the
redemption occurs during the 12-month period beginning on April 1, 2015, and at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount thereof if the
redemption occurs on and after April 1, 2016, in each case, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date. In addition, prior to April 1, 2013,
with the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings, we may redeem up to 35% in aggregate principal amount of the 2010 Senior Notes at a redemption
price of 108.250% of the principal amount of the 2010 Senior Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date.

At any time prior to February 1, 2016, we may redeem the 2012 Senior Notes in whole or in part at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount
of the notes redeemed, plus a "make-whole premium" calculated as set forth in the indenture governing the 2012 Senior Notes, together with accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption. On or after February 1, 2016, we may redeem the 2012 Senior Notes in whole or in part at redemption prices
set forth in the indenture governing the 2012 Senior Notes. In addition, at any time prior to February 1, 2015, we may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate
principal amount of the 2012 Senior Notes at a redemption price equal to 108.125% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the
redemption date, with the net cash proceeds of certain equity offerings, provided that certain conditions are met. Subject to certain limitations, in the event of
a change of control, as defined in the indenture governing the 2012 Senior Notes, Prestige Brands, Inc. will be required to make an offer to purchase the 2012
Senior Notes at a price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2012 Senior Notes repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the
date of repurchase.
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The indentures governing the 2010 Senior Notes and 2012 Senior Notes contain provisions that restrict us from undertaking specified corporate actions, such
as asset dispositions, acquisitions, dividend payments, repurchases of common shares outstanding, changes of control, incurrences of indebtedness, issuance
of equity, creation of liens, making of loans and transactions with affiliates. Additionally, the credit agreement with respect to the new Senior Secured Credit
Facility and the indenture governing the 2012 Senior Notes contain cross-default provisions whereby a default pursuant to the terms and conditions of certain
indebtedness will cause a default on the remaining indebtedness under the credit agreement with the respect to the new Senior Secured Credit Facility and the
indenture governing the 2012 Senior Notes. At June 30, 2012, we were in compliance with the covenants under our long-term indebtedness.

During the three months ended June 30, 2012, we made principal payments of $45.0 million against the outstanding 2012 Term Loan and borrowed a net
amount of $17.0 million against the 2012 ABL Revolver.

Long-term debt consists of the following, as of the dates indicated:

June 30, March 31,
(In_thousands, except percentages) 2012 2012

2012 Senior Notes bear interest at 8.125%, with interest only payable on February 1 and August 1 of each
year. The 2012 Senior Notes mature on February 1, 2020. $ 250,000 $ 250,000

2012 Term Loan bears interest at the Company's option at either a base rate plus applicable margin with a
floor of 2.25% or LIBOR with a floor of 1.25%. Quarterly payments each equal to 0.25% of the original

principal amount of the term loans are due, with the balance due on January 31, 2019. 590,000 635,000

2012 ABL Revolver bears interest at the Company's option at either a base rate plus applicable margin or

LIBOR plus applicable margin. Any unpaid balance is due on January 31, 2017. 17,000 —

2010 Senior Notes bear interest at 8.25%, with interest only payable on April 1 and October 1 of each

year. The 2010 Senior Notes mature on April 1, 2018. 250,000 250,000
1,107,000 1,135,000

Current portion of long-term debt — —
1,107,000 1,135,000

Less: unamortized discount (10,688) (11,092)

Long-term debt, net of unamortized discount $ 1,096,312  $ 1,123,908

Future principal payments required in accordance with the terms of the 2012 Term Loan, the 2012 ABL Revolver and the indentures governing the 2010
Senior Notes and the 2012 Senior Notes are as follows:

(In thousands)

Year Ending March 31, Amount
2013 (remaining nine months ending March 31, 2013) $ —
2014 _
2015 —
2016 —
2017 17,000
Thereafter 1,090,000
$ 1,107,000

10.Fair Value Measurements

For certain of our financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and other current liabilities, the carrying amounts approximate
their respective fair values due to the relatively short maturity of these amounts.

The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures topic of the FASB ASC requires fair value to be determined based on the exchange price that would be
received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market assuming an orderly transaction between market participants.
The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures topic established market (observable inputs) as the preferred source of fair value to be followed by the
Company's assumptions of fair value based on
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hypothetical transactions (unobservable inputs) in the absence of observable market inputs. Based upon the above, the following fair value hierarchy was
created:

Level 1 - Quoted market prices for identical instruments in active markets;

Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, as well as quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not
considered active; and

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs developed by the Company using estimates and assumptions reflective of those that would be utilized by a market
participant.

The market values have been determined based on market values for similar instruments adjusted for certain factors. As such, the 2012 Term Loan, the 2012
Senior Notes, the 2010 Senior Notes and the 2012 ABL Revolver are measured in Level 2 of the above hierarchy. At June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012, we
did not have any assets or liabilities measured in Level 1 or 3. During any of the periods presented, there were no transfers of assets or liabilities between
Levels 1, 2 and 3.

At June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012, the carrying value of our 2012 Senior Notes was $250.0 million and $250.0 million, respectively. The market value of
our 2012 Senior Notes were $273.1 million and $270.6 million, respectively, at June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012.

At June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012, the carrying value of the 2012 Term Loan was $590.0 million and $635.0 million, respectively. The market value of
the 2012 Term Loan was $592.2 million and $639.0 million, respectively, at June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012.

At June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012, the carrying value of our 2010 Senior Notes was $250.0 million and $250.0 million, respectively. The market value of
these notes was approximately $274.4 million and $272.5 million at June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012, respectively.

At June 30, 2012, the carrying value and the market value of the 2012 ABL Revolver was $17.0 million and $17.0 million, respectively.
11.Stockholders' Equity

The Company is authorized to issue 250.0 million shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share, and 5.0 million shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par
value per share. The Board of Directors may direct the issuance of the undesignated preferred stock in one or more series and determine preferences,
privileges and restrictions thereof.

Each share of common stock has the right to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. The holders of common stock are also entitled to
receive dividends whenever funds are legally available and when declared by the Board of Directors, subject to prior rights of holders of all classes of stock
outstanding having priority rights as to dividends. No dividends have been declared or paid on the Company's common stock through June 30, 2012.

Pursuant to the provisions of the various employee restricted stock awards, we repurchased no shares of restricted common stock from our employees during
the three months ended June 30, 2012. During the three months ended June 30, 2011 we repurchased 20,999 shares of restricted common stock from our
employees pursuant to the provisions of the various employee restricted stock awards. The repurchases were at an average price of $12.86. All of the
repurchased shares have been recorded as treasury stock.

12.Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”) is comprised of various items that affect equity and results from recognized transactions and other
economic events, other than transactions with owners in their capacity as owners. AOCI consisted of the following at June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012:

June 30, March 31,
(In_thousands), 2012 2012
Components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Cumulative translation adjustment $ (55) $ (13)
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (55) $ (13)
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The following table describes the components of comprehensive income for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2011:

Three Months Ended June 30,

(In thousands) 2012 2011
Components of Comprehensive Income

Net income $ 14,655 $ 14,768
Translation adjustments (42) (10)
Comprehensive Income $ 14,613 $ 14,758

13.Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed based on the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per
share is computed based on the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding plus the effect of potentially dilutive common shares
outstanding during the period using the treasury stock method, which includes stock options, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units. The following
table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Three Months Ended June
30,

(In_thousands, _except per share data) 2012 2011
Numerator
Net income $ 14,655 $ 14,768
Denominator
Denominator for basic earnings per share — weighted average
shares 50,342 50,183
Dilutive effect of unvested restricted common stock (including
restricted stock units) and options issued to employees and directors 764 463
Denominator for diluted earnings per share 51,106 50,646
Earnings per Common Share:
Basic net earnings per share $ 029 $ 0.29
Diluted net earnings per share $ 029 $ 0.29

For the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, there were 0.4 million and 0.3 million shares, respectively, attributable to outstanding stock-based
awards that were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

14.Share-Based Compensation

In connection with our initial public offering, the Board of Directors adopted the 2005 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), which provides for the
grant of up to a maximum of 5.0 million shares of restricted stock, stock options, restricted stock units and other equity-based awards. Directors, officers and
other employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as others performing services for the Company, are eligible for grants under the Plan.

During the three months ended June 30, 2012, pre-tax share-based compensation costs charged against income were $0.9 million and the related income tax
benefit recognized was $0.3 million. During the three months ended June 30, 2011, pre-tax share-based compensation costs charged against income were
$0.9 million and the related income tax benefit recognized was $0.2 million.

Restricted Shares

Restricted shares granted to employees under the Plan generally vest in 3 to 5 years, primarily upon the attainment of certain time vesting thresholds and may
also be contingent on attainment of certain performance goals by the Company, including revenue and earnings before income taxes, depreciation and
amortization targets. The restricted share awards provide for accelerated vesting
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if there is a change of control, as defined in the Plan. On May 9, 2012, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors granted 111,152 shares of
restricted common stock units to certain executive officers and employees under the Plan. On June 29, 2012, the Compensation Committee of our Board of
Directors granted 12,652 shares of restricted common stock units to the independent members of the Board of Directors under the Plan. The restricted
common stock stock units granted to Directors will vest in their entirety one year after the date of grant so long as the membership on the Board of Directors
continues through the vesting date, with the settlement in common stock to occur on the earliest of the director's death, disability or six month anniversary of
the date on which the director's Board membership ceases for reasons other than death or disability. The restricted common stock units granted to employees
generally vest in their entirety on the 3-year anniversary of the date of the grant. Upon vesting, the units will be settled in shares of our common stock. The
fair value of the restricted common stock units is determined using the closing price of our common stock on the day of grant. The weighted-average grant-
date fair value of restricted shares granted during the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 was $13.50 and $11.22, respectively.

A summary of the Company's restricted shares granted under the Plan is presented below:

Weighted-
Average

Shares Grant-Date
Restricted Shares (in thousands) Fair Value
Three months ended June 30, 2011:
Nonvested at March 31, 2011 2754 $ 8.46
Granted 106.1 11.22
Vested and issued (76.4) 10.91
Forfeited (7.6) 10.17
Outstanding at June 30, 2011 297.5 8.77
Vested at June 30, 2011 29.2 6.84
Three months ended June 30, 2012:
Nonvested at March 31, 2012 363.4 9.92
Granted 123.8 13.5
Vested and issued — —
Forfeited (3.0) 10.11
Outstanding at June 30, 2012 484.2 10.84
Vested at June 30, 2012 54.0 7.40
Options

The Plan provides that the exercise price of options granted shall be no less than the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date the options
are granted. Options granted have a term of no greater than 10 years from the date of grant and vest in accordance with a schedule determined at the time the
option is granted, generally 3 to 5 years. The option awards provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control, as defined in the Plan.

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model that uses the assumptions noted in the
table below. Expected volatilities are based on the historical volatility of our common stock and other factors, including the historical volatilities of
comparable companies. We use appropriate historical data, as well as current data, to estimate option exercise and employee termination
behaviors. Employees that are expected to exhibit similar exercise or termination behaviors are grouped together for the purposes of valuation. The expected
terms of the options granted are derived from management's estimates and consideration of information derived from the public filings of companies similar
to us and represent the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free rate represents the yield on U.S. Treasury bonds with
a maturity equal to the expected term of the granted option. On May 9, 2012, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors granted stock options
to acquire 422,962 shares of our common stock to certain executive officers and employees under the Plan. These stock options were granted at an exercise
price of $13.24 per share, which is equal to the closing price for our common stock on the day of the grant.

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of the options granted during the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 was $5.96 and $5.83, respectively.
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Three Months Ended June 30,

2012 2011

Expected volatility 43.8% 53.0%

Expected dividends $ — $ —

Expected term in years 6.5 6.5

Risk-free rate 1.2% 2.4%
A summary of option activity under the Plan is as follows:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Contractual Value

Options (in thousands) Price Term (in thousands)
Three months ended June 30, 2011:
Outstanding at March 31, 2011 1,6215 $ 8.19
Granted 308.1 11.27
Exercised (53.3) 10.57
Forfeited or expired (8.8) 10.15
Outstanding at June 30, 2011 1,867.5 8.62 82 §$ 7,880.0
Exercisable at June 30, 2011 490.1 9.34 7.1 1,716.0
Three months ended June 30, 2012:
Outstanding at March 31, 2012 1,745.4 8.44
Granted 423.0 13.24
Exercised (6.8) 11.84
Forfeited or expired (5.7) 10.12
Outstanding at June 30, 2012 2,155.9 9.37 7.9 13,884.8
Exercisable at June 30, 2012 802.7 8.74 7.2 5,679.0

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised in the three months ended June 30, 2012 was less than $0.1 million. The aggregate intrinsic value at
June 30, 2012 for options granted during three months ended June 30, 2012 was $1.1 million.

At June 30, 2012, there were $5.9 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to nonvested share-based compensation arrangements under the Plan,
based on management's estimate of the shares that will ultimately vest. We expect to recognize such costs over a weighted-average period of 1.1 years. The
total fair value of shares vested during the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 was $0.8 million and $0.5 million, respectively. For the three months
ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, cash received from the exercise of stock options was less than $0.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively, and we realized less
than $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, in tax benefits for the tax deductions resulting from these option exercises. At June 30, 2012, there were 1.9
million shares available for issuance under the Plan.

15.Income Taxes
Income taxes are recorded in our quarterly financial statements based on our estimated annual effective income tax rate, subject to adjustments for discrete
events, should they occur. The effective tax rate used in the calculation of income taxes was 38.9% and 37.7%, respectively, for the three months ended June

30, 2012 and June 30, 2011. The increase in the effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2012 is primarily due to state income taxes and non-
deductible compensation.

At June 30, 2012, a wholly-owned subsidiary had a net operating loss carryforward of approximately $1.4 million which may be used to offset future taxable
income of the consolidated group and which begins to expire in 2020. The net operating loss carryforward is subject to an annual limitation as to usage of

approximately $0.2 million pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Section 382.

We did not have any activity in our uncertain tax liability during the three months ended June 30, 2012. Therefore, the balance in
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our uncertain tax liability was $0.3 million at June 30, 2012 and $0.3 million at March 31, 2012. We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax
positions as a component of income tax expense. We did not incur any material interest or penalties related to income taxes in any of the periods presented.
We do not anticipate any significant events or circumstances that would cause a material change to these uncertainties during the ensuing year.

16. Commitments and Contingencies

We are involved from time to time in routine legal matters and other claims incidental to our business. We review outstanding claims and proceedings
internally and with external counsel as necessary to assess probability and amount of potential loss. These assessments are re-evaluated at each reporting
period and as new information becomes available to determine whether a reserve should be established or if any existing reserve should be adjusted. The
actual cost of resolving a claim or proceeding ultimately may be substantially different than the amount of the recorded reserve. In addition, because it is not
permissible under GAAP to establish a litigation reserve until the loss is both probable and estimable, in some cases there may be insufficient time to
establish a reserve prior to the actual incurrence of the loss (upon verdict and judgment at trial, for example, or in the case of a quickly negotiated
settlement). We believe the resolution of routine matters and other incidental claims, taking our reserves into account, will not have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition or results from operations.

Lease Commitments

We have operating leases for office facilities and equipment in New York and Wyoming, which expire at various dates through 2018. Due to the recent
acquisition of the GSK Brands, we require additional office space and have entered into a lease for a new office facility in New York, which will begin early
in the third quarter of fiscal 2013. In May 2012, we entered into a 3 year office lease in Rogers, Arkansas. These amounts have been included in the schedule
below.

The following summarizes future minimum lease payments for our operating leases as of June 30, 2012:

(In_thousands) Facilities Equipment Total

Year Ending March 31,

2013 (Remaining nine months ending March 31, 2013) $ 904 $ 37 $ 941

2014 1,613 23 1,636

2015 1,018 — 1,018

2016 991 — 991

2017 1,023 — 1,023

Thereafter 1,044 — 1,044
$ 6,593 $ 60 $ 6,653

Rent expense for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 was $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

Purchase Commitments

We have entered into a 10 year supply agreement for the exclusive manufacture of a portion of one of our Household Cleaning products. Although we are
committed under the supply agreement to pay the minimum amounts set forth in the table below, the total commitment is less than ten percent of the
estimated purchases that we expect to make during the course of the agreement.

Additionally, we entered into a short-term supply arrangement with one of our Canadian suppliers to provide a certain amount of product through January
2013. As such, we have included $5.5 million in the remaining nine months ended March 31, 2013.

(In_thousands)

Year Ending March 31, Amount
2013 (Remaining nine months ending March 31, 2013) $ 6,385
2014 1,136
2015 1,105
2016 1,074
2017 1,044
Thereafter 2,555
$ 13,299

-20-



17. Concentrations of Risk

Our revenues are concentrated in the areas of OTC Healthcare and Household Cleaning products. We sell our products to mass merchandisers, food and drug
stores, and dollar and club stores. During the three months ended June 30, 2012, approximately 42.3% of our total revenues were derived from our five top
selling brands. During the three months ended June 30, 2011, approximately 58.1% of our total revenues were derived from our five top selling brands. One
customer, Walmart, accounted for more than 10% of our gross revenues for each of the periods presented. Such customer accounted for approximately 20.6%
of our gross revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2012, and 20.9% of our gross revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2011. At June 30, 2012,
approximately 23.3% of accounts receivable were owed by the same customer.

We manage product distribution in the continental United States through a third-party distribution center in St. Louis, Missouri. A serious disruption, such as
a flood or fire, to the main distribution center could damage our inventories and could materially impair our ability to distribute our products to customers in a
timely manner or at a reasonable cost. We could incur significantly higher costs and experience longer lead times associated with the distribution of our
products to our customers during the time that it takes us to reopen or replace our distribution center. As a result, any such disruption could have a material
adverse effect on our sales and profitability.

At June 30, 2012, we had relationships with 45 third-party manufacturers. Of those, we had long-term contracts with 21 manufacturers that produced items
that accounted for approximately 84.9% of gross sales for the three months ended June 30, 2012. At June 30, 2011, we had relationships with 45 third-party
manufacturers. Of those, we had long-term contracts with 11 manufacturers that produced items that accounted for approximately 50.0% of gross sales for
the three months ended June 30, 2011. The fact that we do not have long-term contracts with certain manufacturers means they could cease producing
products at any time and for any reason, or initiate arbitrary and costly price increases, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results from operations.

18. Business Segments
Segment information has been prepared in accordance with the Segment Reporting topic of the FASB ASC. Our current operating and reportable segments
consist of (i) OTC Healthcare and (ii) Household Cleaning. There were no inter-segment sales or transfers during any of the periods presented. We evaluate

the performance of our operating segments and allocate resources to them based primarily on contribution margin.

The tables below summarize information about our operating and reportable segments.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2012

OTC Household

(In _thousands) Healthcare Cleaning Consolidated

Net sales $ 126,004 $ 19,916 $ 145,920
Other revenues 181 896 1,077
Total revenues 126,185 20,812 146,997
Cost of sales 47,399 15,994 63,393
Gross profit 78,786 4,818 83,604
Advertising and promotion 17,853 2,472 20,325
Contribution margin $ 60,933 $ 2,346 63,279
Other operating expenses 19,446
Operating income 43,833
Other expense 19,848
Income before income taxes 23,985
Provision for income taxes 9,330
Net income $ 14,655
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2011

OTC Household

(In thousands) Healthcare Cleaning Consolidated

Net sales $ 71,003 $ 23,304 $ 94,307
Other revenues 199 789 988
Total revenues 71,202 24,093 95,295
Cost of sales 28,784 16,643 45,427
Gross profit 42,418 7,450 49,868
Advertising and promotion 8,421 1,812 10,233
Contribution margin $ 33,997 % 5,638 39,635
Other operating expenses 12,400
Operating income 27,235
Other expense 3,515
Income before income taxes 23,720
Provision for income taxes 8,952
Net income $ 14,768

The table below summarizes information about our revenues from similar product groups.

Three Months Ended June 30,

(In thousands) 2012 2011

Analgesics 27,675 621
Cough & Cold 23,804 20,663
Gastrointestinal 24,204 5,364
Eye & Ear Care 21,707 17,669
Dermatologicals 14,482 14,916
Oral Care 10,530 10,887
Other OTC 3,783 1,082
Total OTC Healthcare Segment 126,185 71,202
Household Cleaning Segment 20,812 24,093
Consolidated Net Revenues 146,997 95,295

During the three months ended June 30, 2012, approximately 97.8% of our sales were made to customers in the United States and Canada, while during the
three months ended June 30, 2011, approximately 96.5% of our sales were made to customers in the United States and Canada. Other than the United States,
no individual geographical area accounted for more than 10% of net sales in any of the periods presented.

At June 30, 2012, substantially all of our long-term assets were located in the United States and have been allocated to the operating segments as follows:

OTC Household

(In_thousands) Healthcare Cleaning Consolidated

Goodwill $ 166,539 $ 7,389 $ 173,928
Intangible assets

Indefinite-lived 1,125,594 119,820 1,245,414
Finite-lived 122,780 29,220 152,000
1,248,374 149,040 1,397,414
$ 1,414,913 $ 156,429 $ 1,571,342

19. Gain on Settlement
On June 15, 2011, we received a settlement payment of $8.0 million in the resolution of pending litigation, which Prestige Brands, Inc. had initiated for legal
malpractice, breach of contract and breach of fiduciary duty against a law firm and two individual lawyers who had previously provided legal representation

to Prestige Brands, Inc.

Because the result of the litigation could only have resulted in a potential gain and the amount could not be determined prior to
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the settlement, the settlement payment was not disclosed prior to the actual receipt of the settlement. Additionally, the costs netted against the gain during the
period ended June 30, 2011 were legal fees paid solely on a contingent basis and other immaterial legal fees incurred in the period ended June 30, 2011. All
other costs and legal fees that were incurred prior to the period ended June 30, 2011 were immaterial and expensed as incurred.

We incurred costs of $2.9 million in pursuing this matter. Therefore, we recorded a pre-tax gain on settlement of $5.1 million net of costs incurred and $3.2
million after income tax effects for the three months ended June 30, 2011. The $5.1 million pre-tax gain is included in other (income) expense, as this gain did
not relate to our ongoing operations.

20. Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements

As described in Note 9, we, together with certain of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, have fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a joint and several basis,
the obligations of Prestige Brands, Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) set forth in the indentures governing the 2012 Senior Notes and the 2010
Senior Notes, including, without limitation, the obligation to pay principal and interest with respect to the 2012 Senior Notes and the 2010 Senior Notes. The
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company that have guaranteed the 2012 Senior Notes and the 2010 Senior Notes are as follows: Prestige Personal Care
Holdings, Inc., Prestige Personal Care, Inc., Prestige Services Corp., Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. (a Virginia corporation), Prestige Brands International,
Inc., Medtech Holdings, Inc., Medtech Products Inc., The Cutex Company, The Denorex Company, The Spic and Span Company, and Blacksmith Brands,
Inc. (collectively, the "Subsidiary Guarantors"). A significant portion of our operating income and cash flow is generated by our subsidiaries. As a result,
funds necessary to meet Prestige Brands, Inc.'s debt service obligations are provided in part by distributions or advances from our subsidiaries. Under certain
circumstances, contractual and legal restrictions, as well as the financial condition and operating requirements of our subsidiaries, could limit Prestige Brands,
Inc.'s ability to obtain cash from our subsidiaries for the purpose of meeting our debt service obligations, including the payment of principal and interest on
the 2012 Senior Notes and the 2010 Senior Notes. Although holders of the 2012 Senior Notes and the 2010 Senior Notes will be direct creditors of the
guarantors of the 2012 Senior Notes and the 2010 Senior Notes by virtue of the guarantees, we have indirect subsidiaries located primarily in the United
Kingdom and in the Netherlands (collectively, the "Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries") that have not guaranteed the 2012 Senior Notes or the 2010 Senior Notes,
and such subsidiaries will not be obligated with respect to the 2012 Senior Notes or the 2010 Senior Notes. As a result, the claims of creditors of the Non-
Guarantor Subsidiaries will effectively have priority with respect to the assets and earnings of such companies over the claims of the holders of the 2012
Senior Notes and the 2010 Senior Notes.

Presented below are supplemental Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012, Condensed Consolidating Income and
Comprehensive Income Statements for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, and Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows for the three
months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011. Such consolidating information includes separate columns for:

a) Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc., the parent,

b) Prestige Brands, Inc., the issuer,

¢) Combined Subsidiary Guarantors,

d) Combined Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries, and

e) Elimination entries necessary to consolidate the Company and all of its subsidiaries.

The Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements are presented using the equity method of accounting for investments in wholly-owned subsidiaries. Under
the equity method, the investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost and adjusted for our share of the subsidiaries' cumulative results of operations, capital
contributions, distributions and other equity changes. The elimination entries principally eliminate investments in subsidiaries and intercompany balances and
transactions. The financial information in this note should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements presented and other notes related
thereto contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012.
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
Three Months Ended June 30, 2012

(In thousands),
Revenues
Net sales
Other revenues

Total revenues

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation shown below)

Gross profit

Advertising and promotion

General and administrative

Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Other (income) expense
Interest income
Interest expense
Equity in income of subsidiaries
Total other (income) expense
Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes

Net income (loss)

Comprehensive income, net of tax:
Currency translation adjustments
Total other comprehensive (loss) income

Comprehensive income (loss)

Prestige Prestige Combined
Brands Brands, Combined Non-
Holdings, Inc., Subsidiary Guarantor
Inc. the issuer Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
— 3 23,221 $ 121,658  $ 1,041 — 3 145,920
— 68 1,061 475 (527) 1,077
— 23,289 122,719 1,516 (527) 146,997
— 8,441 55,035 444 (527) 63,393
— 14,848 67,684 1,072 — 83,604
1 3,106 16,920 298 — 20,325
1,829 1,730 12,149 443 — 16,151
132 141 3,005 17 — 3,295
1,962 4,977 32,074 758 — 39,771
(1,962) 9,871 35,610 314 — 43,833
(12,128) (10,960) 48 (48) 23,086 )
8,666 28,516 5,754 — (23,086) 19,850
(9,402) (19,878) — — 29,280 —
(12,864) (2,322) 5,802 (48) 29,280 19,848
10,902 12,193 29,808 362 (29,280) 23,985
(3,753) 1,361 11,554 168 — 9,330
14,655 $ 10,832 $ 18,254  $ 194 (29,280) $ 14,655
(42) — — 42) 42 (42)
42) — — (42) 42 (42)
14,613 $ 10,832 $ 18,254  § 152 (29,238) $ 14,613
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
Three Months Ended June 30, 2011

(In thousands),
Revenues
Net sales
Other revenues

Total revenues

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation shown below)

Gross profit

Advertising and promotion

General and administrative

Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Other (income) expense

Interest income

Interest expense

Gain on settlement

Equity in income of subsidiaries

Total other (income) expense

Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes

Net income (loss)

Comprehensive income, net of tax:
Currency translation adjustments
Total other comprehensive (loss) income

Comprehensive income (loss)

Prestige Prestige Combined
Brands Brands, Combined Non-
Holdings, Inc., Subsidiary Guarantor

Inc. the issuer Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
— 3 21,621 $ 71,883 803 — 3 94,307

— 60 424 504 — 988

— 21,681 72,307 1,307 — 95,295

— 7,994 37,112 321 — 45,427

— 13,687 35,195 986 — 49,868

— 2,562 7,476 195 — 10,233

(182) 2,782 7,253 3) — 9,850

137 141 2,253 19 — 2,550

(45) 5,485 16,982 211 — 22,633

45 8,202 18,213 775 — 27,235
(12,888) (10,274) 54 (54) 23,160 )
8,726 17,305 5,709 — (23,160) 8,580
(5,063) — — — — (5,063)
(8,929) (7,937) — — 16,866 —
(18,154) (906) 5,763 (54) 16,866 3,515
18,199 9,108 12,450 829 (16,866) 23,720
3,431 397 4,934 190 — 8,952
14,768 8,711 7,516 639 (16,866) 14,768
(10) — — (10) 10 (10)
(10) — — (10) 10 (10)

14,758 $ 8,711 $ 7,516 629 (16,856) $ 14,758
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(In thousands),
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Deferred income tax assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Property and equipment, net
Goodwill

Intangible assets, net

Other long-term assets
Intercompany receivable
Investment in subsidiary

Total Assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued interest payable

Other accrued liabilities

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt
Principal amount
Less unamortized discount

Long-term debt, net of unamortized discount

Deferred income tax liabilities

Intercompany payable

Total Liabilities

Stockholders' Equity

Preferred share rights

Common stock

Additional paid-in capital

Treasury stock, at cost - 181 shares

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)

Total Stockholders' Equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

June 30, 2012
Prestige Prestige Combined
Brands Brands, Combined Non-
Holdings, Inc., Subsidiary Guarantor
Inc. the issuer Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
$ 3,568 $ $ — 3 836 $ — 3 4,404
30 11,238 57,248 902 — 69,418
— 7,505 45,967 376 — 53,848
336 732 4,241 — — 5,309
7,567 94 3,721 8 — 11,390
11,501 19,569 111,177 2,122 — 144,369
2,000 15 264 — — 2,279
— 66,007 107,921 — — 173,928
— 193,798 1,203,193 423 — 1,397,414
— 34,665 — — — 34,665
699,033 1,427,813 329,140 7,371 (2,463,357) —
1,361,960 1,192,329 — — (2,554,289) —
$ 2,074,494 $ 2,934,196 $ 1,751,695 $ 9916 $ (5,017,646) $ 1,752,655
$ 1,578 $ 5662 $ 19,156  $ 458  $ — 5 26,854
— 13,853 — — — 13,853
7,029 2,006 12,365 1,083 — 22,483
8,607 21,521 31,521 1,541 — 63,190
— 1,107,000 — — — 1,107,000
— (10,688) — — — (10,688)
— 1,096,312 — — — 1,096,312
— 51,735 123,007 77 — 174,819
1,647,553 473,660 342,092 52 (2,463,357) —
1,656,160 1,643,228 496,620 1,670 (2,463,357) 1,334,321
283 — — — — 283
505 — — — 505
392,891 1,280,832 1,239,610 1,111 (2,521,553) 392,891
(687) — — — — (687)
(55) — — (55) 55 (55)
25,397 10,136 15,465 7,190 (32,791) 25,397
418,334 1,290,968 1,255,075 8,246 (2,554,289) 418,334
$ 2,074,494 $ 2,934,196 $ 1,751,695 § 9916 $ (5,017,646) $ 1,752,655
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(In thousands),
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Deferred income tax assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Property and equipment, net
Goodwill

Intangible assets, net

Other long-term assets
Intercompany receivable
Investment in subsidiary

Total Assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued interest payable

Other accrued liabilities

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt
Principal amount
Less unamortized discount

Long-term debt, net of unamortized discount

Deferred income tax liabilities

Intercompany payable

Total Liabilities

Stockholders' Equity

Preferred share rights

Common stock

Additional paid-in capital

Treasury stock, at cost - 181 shares

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)

Total Stockholders' Equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

March 31, 2012
Prestige Prestige Combined
Brands Brands, Combined Non-
Holdings, Inc., Subsidiary Guarantor

Inc. the issuer Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
18,221 $ $ — 3 794 $ — 3 19,015

25 13,502 45,954 747 — 60,228

— 8,098 42,334 681 — 51,113

356 849 4,078 — — 5,283

8,102 56 1,942 1,296 — 11,396
26,704 22,505 94,308 3,518 — 147,035
935 22 345 2 — 1,304

— 66,007 107,695 — — 173,702

— 193,932 1,206,213 377 — 1,400,522

— 35,713 — — — 35,713
698,529 1,449,005 310,499 5,935 (2,463,968) —
1,340,858 1,208,775 — — (2,549,633) —
2,067,026 $ 2,975,959 $ 1,719,060 $ 9,832 $ (5013,601) $ 1,758,276
4,531 $ 4,816 $ 17,008 $ 371 $ — 5 26,726

— 13,889 — — — 13,889

11,761 1,685 8,890 972 — 23,308
16,292 20,390 25,898 1,343 — 63,923
— 1,135,000 — — — 1,135,000
— (11,092) — — — (11,092)

— 1,123,908 — — — 1,123,908

) 50,945 116,690 83 — 167,717
1,648,007 475,998 339,651 312 (2,463,968) —
1,664,298 1,671,241 482,239 1,738 (2,463,968) 1,355,548
283 — — — — 283

505 — — — 505
391,898 1,280,832 1,239,610 1,111 (2,521,553) 391,898
(687) — — — — (687)
(13) — (13) 13 (13)
10,742 23,886 (2,789) 6,996 (28,093) 10,742
402,728 1,304,718 1,236,821 8,094 (2,549,633) 402,728
2,067,026 $ 2,975,959 $ 1,719,060  $ 9832 $ (5013,601) $ 1,758,276
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(In thousands),
Operating Activities

Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Deferred income taxes

Amortization of deferred financing costs
Stock-based compensation costs
Amortization of debt discount

Loss on disposal of equipment

Equity in income of subsidiaries

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of
effects from acquisitions:

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Investing Activities

Purchases of property and equipment

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Acquisition of GSK purchase price adjustments
Intercompany activity, net

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Financing Activities

Repayments of long-term debt

Repayments under revolving credit agreement
Borrowings under revolving credit agreement
Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Shares surrendered as payment of tax withholding
Intercompany activity, net

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents

(Decrease) increase in cash
Cash - beginning of period
Cash - end of period

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
Three Months Ended June 30, 2012

Prestige Prestige Combined
Brands Brands, Combined Non-
Holdings, Inc., Subsidiary Guarantor

Inc. the issuer Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

$ 14,655 $ 10,832 $ 18,254 $ 194 $ (29,280) $ 14,655
132 141 3,005 17 — 3,295

21 907 6,154 (6) — 7,076

— 1,048 — — — 1,048

913 — — — — 913

— 404 — — — 404

_ — 21 — — 21

(9,402) (19,878) — — 29,280 —
) 2,264 (11,294) (179) — (9,214)
— 593 (3,633) 292 — (2,748)

535 (38) (1,779) 1,288 — 6
(2,953) 846 2,148 94 — 135
(7,924) 493 6,459 123 — (849)
(4,028) (2,388) 19,335 1,823 — 14,742
(1,198) — — — — (1,198)

— — 15 — — 15
— — (226) — — (226)

(226) — 226 — — —
(1,424) — — 15 — — — (1,409)
— (45,000) — — — (45,000)
— (8,000) — — — (8,000)

— 25,000 — — — 25,000

80 — — — — 80

(9,281) 30,388 (19,350) (1,757) — —
(9,201) 2,388 (19,350) (1,757) — (27,920)
— — — (24) — (24)
(14,653) — — 42 — (14,611)
18,221 — — 794 — 19,015

$ 3,568 $ — $ = $ 836 $ — $ 4,404
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(In thousands),
Operating Activities

Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided

by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Stock-based compensation costs
Amortization of debt discount

Equity in income of subsidiaries

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of
purchases of businesses:

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing Activities

Repayment of long-term debt

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Shares surrendered as payment of tax withholding
Intercompany activity, net

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Increase in cash

Cash - beginning of period

Cash - end of period

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Three Months Ended June 30, 2011

Combined Combined Non-
Prestige Brands Prestige Brands, Subsidiary Guarantor

Holdings, Inc. Inc., the issuer Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
$ 14,768 $ 8,711 7,516 $ 639 $ (16,866) $ 14,768
137 141 2,253 19 — 2,550

219 1,346 1,620 1 — 3,186

— 283 — — — 283

861 — — — — 861

— 229 — — — 229

(8,929) (7,937) — — 16,866 —

2 2,004 (1,416) 5) — 585
— (2,413) (1,728) 175 — (3,966)

2,430 (402) (665) (%) — 1,356

(309) 93 2,874 (96) — 2,562
(5,761) (5,364) 4,016 138 — (6,971)

3,418 (3,309) 14,470 864 — 15,443
(76) — — — — (76)
(76) — — — — (76)
(23,000) — — — (23,000)

563 — — — — 563
(271) — — — — (271)

(10,884) 26,309 (14,470) (955) — —
(10,592) 3,309 (14,470) (955) — (22,708)
— — — @ — )]
(7,250) — — (93) — (7,343)

12,698 — — 636 — 13,334

$ 5,448 $ = — 5 543 $ — 3 5,991
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In the first quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company determined that in prior periods it had incorrectly recorded intercompany transactions between Prestige
Brands Holdings, Inc. ("the Parent") and Prestige Brands, Inc. ("the Issuer") as a component of interest expense resulting in (i) the misclassification of
amounts between interest expense, equity in income of subsidiaries, and taxes of the Parent, and (ii) a corresponding understatement of interest income, taxes
and net income of the Issuer. It was further determined that certain subsidiaries of the Issuer had been fully consolidated by the Issuer in error resulting in (i) a
gross-up of its balance sheet, statement of income and comprehensive income and statement of cash flows and (ii) the need to revise the presentation to reflect
the Issuers' interests in those subsidiaries under the equity method. Those entities had previously been incorrectly included in the Issuer column and omitted
from the Guarantor column and accordingly this resulted in a need to revise the presentation to include the balance sheet, results of operations, and cash flows
of those Issuer subsidiary entities in the Combined Subsidiary Guarantors column of the revised Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements. In addition,
the Company reclassified portions of its intercompany activity between operating and financing in the statement of cash flows. The Company also determined
that it had incorrectly presented certain intercompany balances between the Parent, the Issuer, the Combined Subsidiary Guarantors, and Non-Guarantors
resulting in revisions impacting other accrued liabilities, deferred income taxes, intercompany receivables, intercompany payables, investment in subsidiaries,

and total equity balances.

The Company has revised its Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements to correct the presentation of these items. There were no changes to any of the
Company's Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company assessed the materiality of these items on previously issued annual and interim
financial statements in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 99 and No. 108, and concluded that the revisions were not material to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company will disclose the impact of the revisions on previously reported amounts and accordingly revise the
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for comparative periods in its future filings. The impact of these revisions as of March 31, 2012 and for the 3-

month period ended June 30, 2011 are shown in the following tables:

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2011

Prestige Brands Holdings, Prestige Brands, Inc., the Combined Subsidiary Combined Non-Guarantor
(In thousands), Inc. issuer Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations
Reported Revised Reported Revised Reported Revised Reported Revised Reported Revised

Revenue $ — 5 — 70,399 $ 21,681 $ 24,093 $ 72307 $ 1,347 $ 1,307 $ (544) $ —
Income before income taxes 21,732 18,199 4,984 9,108 (348) 12,450 829 829 (3,477) (16,866)
Provision (benefit) for

income taxes 6,964 3,431 1,992 397 (194) 4,934 190 190 — —
Net income 14,768 14,768 2,992 8,711 (154) 7,516 639 639 (3,477) (16,866)
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Condensed Consolidating Balance sheet as of March 31, 2012

Prestige Brands Holdings, Prestige Brands, Inc., the Combined Subsidiary Combined Non-
(In thousands), Inc. issuer Guarantors Guarantor Subsidiaries Eliminations
Reported Revised Reported Revised Reported Revised Reported  Revised Reported Revised

Total current assets $ 26,704 $ 26,704 $ 98,887 $ 22505 $ 19,222 $ 94,308 $ 2222 $ 3,518 $ — $ —
Total assets 2,200,652 2,067,026 3,236,598 2,975,959 267,407 1,719,060 10,402 9,832 (3,956,783) (5,013,601)
Total current liabilities 16,779 16,292 49,246 20,390 (3,446) 25,898 1,344 1,343 — —
Total liabilities 1,797,927 1,664,298 2,982,492 1,671,241 196,430 482,239 2,116 1,738 (3,623,417) (2,463,968)
Total stockholder's equity 402,725 402,728 254,106 1,304,718 70,977 1,236,821 8,286 8,094 (333,366) (2,549,633)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2011

Prestige Brands Holdings, Prestige Brands, Inc., the =~ Combined Subsidiary = Combined Non-Guarantor

(In thousands), Inc. issuer Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations
Reported Revised Reported Revised Reported Revised Reported Revised Reported Revised

Net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities $ 8,006 $ 3,418 $ 8487 $ (3,309) $ 1,564 $ 14,470 $ 863 $ 864 $ (3,477) $ =
Net cash provided by (used in)

investing activities (54) (76) (22) — — — — — — —
Net cash provided by (used in)

financing activities (15,202) (10,592) (8,465) 3,309 (1,564)  (14,470) (954) (955) 3,477 —
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21. Subsequent Events

Equity Awards:

On August 6, 2012, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors granted 5,109 shares of restricted common stock units and stock options to
acquire 10,217 shares of our common stock to Matthew M. Mannelly. The restricted stock units will vest in their entirety on the three-year anniversary of the
date of grant. Upon vesting, the units will be settled in shares of our common stock. The stock options will vest 33.3% per year over three years and are
exercisable for up to ten years from the date of grant. These stock options were granted at an exercise price of $15.66 per share, which is equal to the closing
price for our common stock on the date of grant. Termination of employment prior to vesting will result in forfeiture of the restricted common stock units and
the unvested stock options. Vested stock options will remain exercisable, subject to the terms of the plan.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
related notes included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as well as our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012. This
discussion and analysis may contain forward-looking statements that involve certain risks, assumptions and uncertainties. Future results could differ
materially from the discussion that follows for many reasons, including the factors described in Part I, Item 1A., “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, as well as those described in future reports filed with the SEC.

See also “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” on page 47 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

General

We are engaged in the marketing, sales and distribution of brand name Over-the-Counter ("OTC") Healthcare and Household Cleaning products to mass
merchandisers, drug stores, supermarkets and dollar and club stores primarily in the United States and Canada and in certain other international markets. We
use the strength of our brands, our established retail distribution network, a low-cost operating model and our experienced management team as a competitive
advantage to grow our presence in these categories and, as a result, grow our sales and profits.

We have grown our product portfolio both organically and through acquisitions. We develop our existing brands by investing in new product lines, brand
extensions and strong advertising support. Acquisitions of OTC brands have also been an important part of our growth strategy. We have acquired strong and
well-recognized brands from consumer products and pharmaceutical companies. While many of these brands have long histories of brand development and
investment, we believe that, at the time we acquired them, most were considered “non-core” by their previous owners. As a result, these acquired brands did
not benefit from adequate management focus and marketing support during the period prior to their acquisition, which created significant opportunities for us
to reinvigorate these brands and improve their performance post-acquisition. After adding a brand to our portfolio, we seek to increase its sales, market share
and distribution in both existing and new channels through our established retail distribution network. This is achieved through increased spending on
advertising and promotional support, new sales and marketing strategies, improved packaging and formulations, and innovative development of brand
extensions.

Acquisitions and Divestitures

Acquisition of GlaxoSmithKline OTC Brands
On December 20, 2011, we entered into two separate agreements with GlaxoSmithKline plc (“GSK”) to acquire a total of 17 North American OTC
pharmaceutical brands for $660.0 million in cash.

On January 31, 2012, we completed, subject to a post-closing inventory and apportionment adjustment, as defined in the GSK agreement, the acquisition of
15 North American OTC healthcare brands owned by GSK and its affiliates (the “GSK Brands I”) for $615.0 million in cash, including the related contracts,
trademarks and inventory. The GSK Brands I include, among other brands, BC, Goody's and Ecotrin brands of pain relievers; Beano, Gaviscon, Phazyme,
Tagamet and Fiber Choice gastrointestinal brands; and the Sominex sleep aid brand. These brands are complementary to our existing OTC Healthcare
portfolio.

On March 30, 2012, we completed the acquisition of the other two OTC pharmaceutical brands from GSK, the Debrox and Gly-Oxide brands (the “GSK
Brands I1”) in the United States for $45.0 million in cash, including the related contracts, trademarks and inventory, subject to a post-closing inventory
adjustment. The GSK Brands II are also complementary to our existing OTC Healthcare portfolio.

These acquisitions were accounted for in accordance with the Business Combinations topic of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), which requires that the total cost of an acquisition be allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based upon their respective fair values at the date of acquisition.

The purchase price of the GSK Brands I and GSK Brands II was funded by cash provided by the issuance of long-term debt and additional bank borrowings,
which are discussed further in Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. In April 2012, we received the post-
closing inventory and apportionment adjustments to the acquisitions of the GSK Brands I and GSK Brands II, which required an additional $2.8 million to be
paid to GSK, and in May 2012 we received a revised post-closing inventory and apportionment adjustment, which required an additional $0.2 million, for a
total of $3.0 million, to be paid to GSK.
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Concurrent with the closing of the GSK Brands I transaction on January 31, 2012, we entered into a Transitional Services Agreement with GSK (the “TSA”),
whereby GSK provided various services including: marketing, operations, finance and other services from the acquisition date of the GSK Brands I through
June 30, 2012. As part of the TSA, GSK, among other things, shipped products, invoiced customers, collected from customers and paid certain vendors on
our behalf. Our costs under the TSA were approximately $2.5 million per month for the length of the agreement and were reduced during the service period
as we removed certain services and transitioned these processes to us. We incurred $6.8 million in TSA costs for the period ended June 30, 2012. Pursuant to
such arrangement, we received, on a monthly basis the amount owed to us for revenues and expenses, net of GSK's TSA fees and inventory that GSK
purchased on our behalf. As a result, a net amount due of $22.2 million from GSK is included in our accounts receivable at June 30, 2012.

The allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired is based on a valuation we performed to determine the fair value of such assets as of the acquisition
date. We are still finalizing the purchase price allocation. The following table summarizes our preliminary allocation of the $663.0 million purchase price to
the assets we acquired at the GSK Brands I and GSK Brands II (collectively, the “GSK Brands”) acquisition dates:

GSK Brands I (January GSK Brands II
(In thousands) 31, 2012) (March 30, 2012) Total
Inventory $ 14,820 $ 250 % 15,070
Prepaid expenses 3,575 — 3,575
Trade names 542,892 81,257 624,149
Goodwill 17,401 2,831 20,232
Total purchase price $ 578,688 $ 84,338 $ 663,026

We recorded goodwill based on the amount by which the purchase price exceeded the fair value of assets acquired. The amount of goodwill deductible for tax
purposes is $20.2 million.

The fair value of the trade names is comprised of $556.9 million of non-amortizable intangible assets and $67.2 million of amortizable intangible assets. We
are amortizing the purchased amortizable intangible assets on a straight-line basis over an estimated weighted average useful life of 19.3 years. The weighted
average remaining life for amortizable intangible assets at June 30, 2012 was 18.9 years.

The operating results of the GSK Brands I have been included in our Consolidated Financial Statements from February 1, 2012, the day following the date of
acquisition. The operating results of the GSK Brands II are included in our Consolidated Financial Statements beginning April 1, 2012. Revenues of the

acquired operations for the three months ended June 30, 2012 were $51.6 million and net income was $4.4 million.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 compared to the Three Months Ended June 30, 2011

Revenues
Three Months Ended June 30,
Increase

Revenues 2012 % 2011 % (Decrease) %
Analgesics $ 27,675 18.8 $ 621 0.7 $ 27,054 4,356.5
Cough & Cold $ 23,804 162 $ 20,663 21.7 3,141 15.2
Gastrointestinal $ 24,204 165 $ 5,364 5.6 18,840 351.2
Eye & Ear Care $ 21,707 148 $ 17,669 18.5 4,038 22.9
Dermatologicals $ 14,482 99 $ 14,916 15.7 (434) 2.9)
Oral Care $ 10,530 72 $ 10,887 11.4 (357) (3.3)
Other OTC $ 3,783 26 $ 1,082 1.1 2,701 249.6
Total OTC Healthcare Revenues 126,185 85.8 71,202 74.7 54,983 77.2
Household Cleaning 20,812 14.2 24,093 25.3 (3,281) (13.6)
Consolidated Revenues $ 146,997 100.0 $ 95,295 100.0 $ 51,702 54.3
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Revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2012 were $147.0 million, an increase of $51.7 million, or 54.3%, versus the three months ended June 30,
2011. Revenues for the OTC Healthcare segment increased $55.0 million, or 77.2%, primarily due to the the GSK Brands acquisition in 2012, while revenues
for the Household Cleaning segment decreased by 13.6% versus the comparable period in the prior year. Revenues from customers outside of North America,
which represent 2.2% of total revenues, decreased by $0.1 million, or 2.0%, during the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to the three months ended
June 30, 2011.

OTC Healthcare Segment

Revenues for the OTC Healthcare segment increased $55.0 million, or 77.2%, during the three months ended June 30, 2012 versus the three months ended
June 30, 2011. The increase in revenues was primarily due to the acquisition of the GSK Brands in 2012, which added $51.6 million in revenues, and higher
revenues for Little Remedies, Dramamine, Pediacare, and Clear Eyes products.

Household Cleaning Segment

Revenues for the Household Cleaning segment decreased by $3.3 million, or 13.6%, during the three months ended June 30, 2012 versus the three months
ended June 30, 2011. The revenue decline was comprised primarily of Comet, which reflected decreased consumer demand, and the timing of Spic and Span
promotional activities.

Cost of Sales

Three Months Ended June 30,

Increase
Cost of Sales 2012 % 2011 % (Decrease) %
OTC Healthcare $ 47,399 376 $ 28,784 40.4 18,615 64.7
Household Cleaning 15,994 76.8 16,643 69.1 (649) 3.9
$ 63,393 431 $ 45,427 477 $ 17,966 39.5

Cost of sales increased $18.0 million, or 39.5% during the three months ended June 30, 2012 versus the three months ended June 30, 2011. As a percent of
total revenue, cost of sales decreased to 43.1% in the three months ended June 30, 2012 from 47.7% in the three months ended June 30, 2011. The decrease in
cost of sales as a percent of revenues was primarily due to the change in product mix associated with the acquired GSK Brands, which have a lower cost of
sales than the legacy OTC brands, combined with Household Cleaning, which have a higher cost of sales, being a lower overall proportion of total sales.

OTC Healthcare Segment

Cost of sales for the OTC Healthcare segment increased $18.6 million, or 64.7%, during the three months ended June 30, 2012 versus the three months ended
June 30, 2011. As a percent of OTC Healthcare revenues, cost of sales in the OTC Healthcare segment decreased from 40.4% during the three months ended
June 30, 2011 to 37.6% during the three months ended June 30, 2012. The reduction in cost of sales as a percentage of revenues is primarily attributable to the
acquired GSK Brands which have a lower cost of sales.

Household Cleaning Segment

Cost of sales for the Household Cleaning segment decreased $0.6 million, or 3.9%, during the three months ended June 30, 2012 versus the three months
ended June 30, 2011. As a percent of Household Cleaning revenues, cost of sales increased from 69.1% during the three months ended June 30, 2011 to
76.8% during the three months ended June 30, 2012. The increase in the cost of sales percentage was the result of higher promotional activity.

Gross Profit

Three Months Ended June 30,

Increase
Gross Profit 2012 % 2011 % (Decrease) %
OTC Healthcare $ 78,786 624 $ 42,418 59.6 $ 36,368 85.7
Household Cleaning 4,818 23.2 7,450 30.9 (2,632) (35.3)
$ 83,604 569 $ 49,868 523 $ 33,736 67.7

Gross profit for the three months ended June 30, 2012 increased $33.7 million, or 67.7%, when compared with the three months ended June 30, 2011. As a
percent of total revenues, gross profit increased from 52.3% in the three months ended June 30, 2011 to 56.9% in the three months ended June 30, 2012. The
higher gross profit was primarily the result of the GSK Brands, which increased gross profit by $33.1 million, and gross profit increases in our legacy OTC
Healthcare brands. This was partially offset by decreases in gross profit from our Household Cleaning segment, primarily Comet. The increase in gross profit
as a percent of
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revenues is primarily due to the acquisition of GSK Brands, offset by increased expenses from promotional activity in the Household Cleaning segment.

OTC Healthcare Segment

Gross profit for the OTC Healthcare segment increased $36.4 million, or 85.7%, during the three months ended June 30, 2012 versus the three months ended
June 30, 2011. As a percent of OTC Healthcare revenues, gross profit increased from 59.6% during the three months ended June 30, 2011 to 62.4% during
the three months ended June 30, 2012. The higher gross profit was primarily the result of the acquisition of the GSK Brands, which increased gross profit by
$33.1 million, and gross profit increases in our legacy OTC Healthcare brands of $3.3 million. The increase in gross profit as a percent of revenues is
primariliy due to higher margins on the acquired GSK Brands.

Household Cleaning Segment

Gross profit for the Household Cleaning segment decreased by $2.6 million, or 35.3%, during the three months ended June 30, 2012 versus the three months
ended June 30, 2011. As a percent of Household Cleaning revenue, gross profit decreased from 30.9% during the three months ended June 30, 2011 to 23.2%
during the three months ended June 30, 2012. The decrease in gross profit percentage was primarily the result of the lower revenues and increased expenses
from promotional activity in the Household Cleaning segment.

Contribution Margin

Three Months Ended June 30,

Increase
Contribution Margin 2012 % 2011 % (Decrease) %
OTC Healthcare $ 60,933 483 $ 33,997 47.7 $ 26,936 79.2
Household Cleaning 2,346 11.3 5,638 23.4 (3,292) (58.4)
$ 63,279 430 $ 39,635 416 $ 23,644 59.7

Contribution margin, a non-GAAP financial measure which is defined as gross profit less advertising and promotional expenses, increased $23.6 million, or
59.7%, during the three months ended June 30, 2012 versus the three months ended June 30, 2011. The contribution margin increase was primarily the result
of the higher gross profit as previously discussed, offset by higher advertising and promotional costs in the OTC Healthcare segment. The acquired GSK
Brands added $26.2 million, while the legacy OTC Healthcare business increases were more than offset by the Household Cleaning business.

OTC Healthcare Segment

Contribution margin for the OTC Healthcare segment increased $26.9 million, or 79.2%, during the three months ended June 30, 2012 versus the three
months ended June 30, 2011. The contribution margin increase was primarily the result of the $26.2 million contribution margin increase related to the
acquired GSK Brands, while the legacy OTC Healthcare business added $0.7 million to the contribution margin. Advertising and promotional spending
increased $9.4 million, or 112.0%, primarily to support the acquired GSK Brands and the legacy OTC Healthcare brands.

Household Cleaning Segment

Contribution margin for the Household Cleaning segment decreased $3.3 million, or 58.4%, during the three months ended June 30, 2012 versus the three
months ended June 30, 2011. The contribution margin decrease was the result of the decrease in gross profit as previously discussed and increased
advertising and promotional expense of $0.7 million, or 36.4%. The increase in advertising and promotional spending primarily related to additional coupon
distribution costs and promotional packaging.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were $16.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 versus $9.9 million for the three months ended June 30,
2011. The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to the incurrence of $4.1 million of excess TSA costs associated with the GSK
Brands acquisition and $0.5 million of costs associated with the unsolicited proposal to acquire all of the common stock of the Company.

Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization expense was $3.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 versus $2.6 million for the three months ended June 30,

2011.

Interest Expense
Net interest expense was $19.9 million during the three months ended June 30, 2012 versus $8.6 million during the three months
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ended June 30, 2011. The increase in interest expense was primarily the result of a higher level of indebtedness outstanding related to the GSK Brands
acquisition. The cost of borrowing decreased to 6.8% for the three months ended June 30, 2012 from 7.1% for the three months ended June 30, 2011, while
the average indebtedness outstanding increased from $480.5 million during the three months ended June 30, 2011 to $1,121.0 million during the three months
ended June 30, 2012, due to increased debt issued for the GSK Brands acquisitions.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes during the three months ended June 30, 2012 was $9.3 million versus $9.0 million during the three months ended June 30,
2011. The effective tax rate during the three months ended June 30, 2012 was 38.9% versus 37.7% during the three months ended June 30, 2011. The
increase in the effective tax rate is primarily due to state income taxes and non-deductible compensation. The estimated effective tax rate for the remaining
quarters of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2013 is expected to be 38.9%, excluding the impact of discrete items that may occur.

Gain on Settlement

On June 15, 2011, we received a settlement payment of $8.0 million in resolution of a pending litigation matter. We incurred costs of $2.9 million in pursuing
this matter, which we initiated for legal malpractice, breach of contract and breach of fiduciary duty against a law firm and two individual lawyers who had
previously provided legal representation to us. Therefore, during 2012, we recorded a pre-tax gain on settlement of $5.1 million net of costs incurred, which is
included in other (income) expense, as this gain did not relate to our ongoing operations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity
We have financed and expect to continue to finance our operations with a combination of borrowings and funds generated from operations. Our principal uses
of cash are for operating expenses, debt service, acquisitions, working capital and capital expenditures.

On March 24, 2010, we entered into a new $150.0 million Senior Secured Term Loan Facility with a maturity date of March 24, 2016 (the "2010 Senior Term
Loan"), a $30.0 million Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility with a maturity date of March 24, 2015 (the "2010 Revolving Credit Facility" and
collectively with the 2010 Senior Term Loan, the "Credit Agreement") and issued Senior Notes of $150.0 million that bear interest at 8.25% with a maturity
date of April 1, 2018 (the "2010 Senior Notes").

In November 2010, we issued an additional $100.0 million of 2010 Senior Notes and borrowed an additional $115.0 million term loan under the Credit
Agreement. In addition, in November 2010, we amended our Credit Agreement to increase our borrowing capacity under the 2010 Revolving Credit Facility
by $10.0 million to $40.0 million. The proceeds from the preceding transactions, in addition to cash that was on hand, were used to purchase, redeem or
otherwise retire all of the previously issued senior subordinated notes, to repay all amounts under our former credit facility and terminate the associated credit
agreement, and to fund the Blacksmith and Dramamine acquisitions.

On January 31, 2012, we issued $250.0 million of 8.125% Senior Notes with a maturity date of February 1, 2020 (the “2012 Senior Notes”) and also entered
into a new Senior Secured Credit Facility, which consists of (i) a $660.0 million term loan facility (“2012 Term Loan” with a seven-year maturity and (ii) a
$50.0 million asset-based revolving credit facility (“2012 ABL Revolver”) with a five-year maturity. We used the net proceeds from the 2012 Senior Notes
offering, together with the borrowings under the 2012 Term Loan, to finance the acquisition of the GSK Brands, to repay amounts borrowed under our Credit
Agreement, to pay fees and expenses incurred in connection with these transactions and for general corporate purposes.

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $14.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to $15.4 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2011. The $0.7 million decrease in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to higher working capital requirements related to
higher receivables associated with the TSA with GSK, higher interest payments following our additional financing in January 2012 and higher incentive
compensation payments in the current year period resulting from increased company performance in 2012 versus 2011. These decreases were partially offset
by higher marketing accruals in the current period, and a one-time gain associated with the legal settlement in the prior year period as discussed in Note 19 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Consistent with the three months ended June 30, 2011, our cash flow from operations exceeded net income due to the substantial non-cash charges related to
depreciation and amortization, increases in deferred income tax liabilities resulting from differences in the amortization of intangible assets and goodwill for

income tax purposes, the amortization of certain deferred financing costs and debt discount, and stock-based compensation costs.
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Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $1.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30,
2011. The increase in net cash used in investing activities for the three months ended June 30, 2012 was due to the higher equipment purchases primarily
resulting from the increased personnel and systems requirements associated with the acquisition of the GSK Brands as discussed in Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $27.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to $22.7 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2011. During the three months ended June 30, 2012, we repaid $45.0 million of our outstanding 2012 Term Loan debt and borrowed $17.0 million,
net of repayments on our 2012 ABL Revolver. This decreased our outstanding indebtedness to $1,107.0 million at June 30, 2012 from $1,135.0 million at
March 31, 2012. During the three months ended June 30, 2011, we used cash from operating activities and cash on hand to repay $23.0 million of our
outstanding debt.

Three Months Ended June 30,

(In thousands), 2012 2011

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating Activities $ 14,742 $ 15,443
Investing Activities (1,409) (76)
Financing Activities (27,920) (22,708)

Capital Resources

The 2010 Senior Term Loan included a discount to the lenders of $1.8 million, resulting in our receipt of net proceeds of $148.2 million. The 2010 Senior
Notes were issued at an aggregate face value of $150.0 million with a discount to note-holders of $2.2 million and net proceeds to us of $147.8 million. The
discount was offered to improve the yield to maturity to lenders reflective of market conditions at the time of the offering. In addition to the discount, we
incurred $7.3 million of costs primarily related to fees of bank arrangers and legal advisors, of which $6.6 million was capitalized as deferred financing costs
and $0.7 million was expensed as incurred. The deferred financing costs were being amortized over the term of the loan and notes and the balance was
charged to expense upon the refinancing on January 31, 2012.

In connection with the acquisition of Blacksmith, on November 1, 2010, we amended our existing debt agreements and increased the amount borrowed
thereunder. Specifically, on November 1, 2010, we amended our Credit Agreement in order to allow us to (i) borrow an additional $115.0 million as an
incremental term loan, with the same maturity date and other terms and conditions as the 2010 Senior Term Loan and (ii) increase our borrowing capacity
under our 2010 Revolving Credit Facility by $10.0 million to $40.0 million. On November 1, 2010, we also issued an additional $100.0 million of 2010
Senior Notes.

On January 31, 2012, in connection with the acquisition of the GSK Brands, we (i) issued the 2012 Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount of $250.0
million, (ii) entered into the 2012 Term Loan with a seven-year maturity and the 2012 ABL Revolver with a five-year maturity, and (iii) repaid in full and
canceled the outstanding 2010 Senior Term Loan and the 2010 Revolving Credit Facility. The 2012 Term Loan was issued with an original issue discount of
1.5% of the principal amount thereof, resulting in net proceeds to the Company of $650.1 million. In addition to the discount, we incurred $33.3 million in
issuance costs, which were capitalized as deferred financing costs and are being amortized over the terms of the related loans and notes.

Additionally, in connection with the entry into the new Senior Secured Credit Facility in January 2012, we terminated the Credit Agreement and repaid
amounts due under the 2010 Senior Term Loan.

As of June 30, 2012, we had an aggregate of $1,107.0 million of outstanding indebtedness, which consisted of the following:

*  $250.0 million of 8.25% 2010 Senior Notes due 2018;

*  $250.0 million of 8.125% 2012 Senior Notes due 2020;

*  $590.0 million of borrowings under the 2012 Term Loan; and
*  $17.0 million of borrowings under the 2012 ABL Revolver.

As of June 30, 2012, we had $33.0 million of borrowing capacity under the 2012 ABL Revolver. The 2010 Senior Term Loan bore interest at floating rates,

based on either the prime rate or, at our option, the LIBOR rate plus an applicable margin. The LIBOR rate option contains a floor rate of 1.5%. The 2010
Senior Term Loan was fully repaid during the year ended March 31, 2012.
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The 2012 Term Loan bears interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin plus, at our option, either (i) a base rate determined by reference to the
highest of (a) the Federal Funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) the prime rate of Citibank, N.A., (c) the LIBOR rate determined by reference to the cost of funds for U.S.
dollar deposits for an interest period of one month adjusted for certain additional costs, plus 1.00% and (d) a floor of 2.25% or (ii) a LIBOR rate determined
by reference to the costs of funds for U.S. dollar deposits for the interest period relevant to such borrowing adjusted for certain additional costs provided that
LIBOR shall not be lower than 1.25%.

Borrowings under the 2012 ABL Revolver bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin, plus, at our option, either (i) a base rate determined
by reference to the highest of (a) the Federal Funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) the prime rate of Citibank, N.A., (c) the LIBOR rate determined by reference to the
cost of funds for U.S. dollar deposits for an interest period of one month adjusted for certain additional costs, plus 1.00% or (ii) a LIBOR rate determined by
reference to the costs of funds for U.S. dollar deposits for the interest period relevant to such borrowing adjusted for certain additional costs. The initial
applicable margin for borrowings under the 2012 ABL Revolver is 1.75% with respect to LIBOR borrowings and 0.75% with respect to base-rate borrowings.
The applicable margin for borrowings under the 2012 ABL Revolver may be increased to 2.00% or 2.25% for LIBOR borrowings and 1.00% or 1.25% for
base-rate borrowings, depending on average excess availability under the 2012 ABL Revolver during the prior fiscal quarter. In addition to paying interest on
outstanding principal under the 2012 ABL Revolver, we are required to pay a commitment fee to the lenders under the 2012 ABL Revolver in respect of the
unutilized commitments thereunder. The initial commitment fee rate is 0.50% per annum. The commitment fee rate will be reduced to 0.375% per annum at
any time when the average daily unused commitments for the prior quarter is less than a percentage of total commitments in an amount set forth in the credit
agreement covering the 2012 ABL Revolver.

As we deem appropriate, we may from time to time utilize derivative financial instruments to mitigate the impact of changing interest rates associated with
our long-term debt obligations or other derivative financial instruments. While we have utilized derivative financial instruments in the past, we did not have
any derivative financial instruments outstanding at either June 30, 2012 or March 31, 2012 or during any of the periods presented. We have not entered into
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes; all of our derivatives were over-the-counter instruments with liquid markets.

Our debt facilities contain various financial covenants, including provisions that require us to maintain certain leverage, interest coverage and fixed charge
ratios. The new Senior Secured Credit Facility and the indentures governing the 2010 Senior Notes and the 2012 Senior Notes contain provisions that
accelerate our indebtedness on certain changes in control and restrict us from undertaking specified corporate actions, including asset dispositions,
acquisitions, payment of dividends and other specified payments, repurchasing our equity securities in the public markets, incurrence of indebtedness,
creation of liens, making loans and investments and transactions with affiliates. Specifically, beginning with the quarter ending June 30, 2012, we must:

*  Have a leverage ratio of less than 7.75 to 1.0 for the quarter ended June 30, 2012 (defined as, with certain adjustments, the ratio of our consolidated
total net debt as of the last day of the fiscal quarter to our trailing twelve month consolidated net income before interest, taxes, depreciation,
amortization, non-cash charges, and certain other items (“EBITDA”)). Our leverage ratio requirement decreases over time to 3.50 to 1.0 for the
quarter ending June 30, 2016, and remains level thereafter;

*  Have an interest coverage ratio of greater than 1.5 to 1.0 for the quarter ended June 30, 2012 (defined as, with certain adjustments, the ratio of our
consolidated EBITDA to our trailing twelve month consolidated cash interest expense). Our interest coverage requirement increases over time to
2.50 to 1.0 for the quarter ending June 30, 2016, and remains level thereafter; and

* Have a fixed charge ratio of greater than 1.0 to 1.0 for the quarter ended June 30, 2012 (defined as, with certain adjustments, the ratio of our
consolidated EBITDA minus capital expenditures to our trailing twelve month consolidated interest paid, taxes paid and other specified payments).
Our fixed charge requirement remains level throughout the term of the agreement.

At June 30, 2012, we were in compliance with the applicable financial and restrictive covenants under the 2012 Term Loan and the 2012 ABL Revolver and
the indentures governing the 2010 Senior Notes and the 2012 Senior Notes. Additionally, management anticipates that in the normal course of operations, we
will be in compliance with the financial and restrictive covenants during the ensuing year. During the three months ended June 30, 2012, we made voluntary
principal payments of $45.0 million against outstanding indebtedness under the 2012 Term Loan. Therefore we are not required to make quarterly principal
payments until the maturity date of January 31, 2019.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
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We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements or financing activities with special-purpose entities.
Inflation

Inflationary factors such as increases in the costs of raw materials, packaging materials, purchased product and overhead may adversely affect our operating
results. Although we do not believe that inflation has had a material impact on our financial condition or results from operations for the periods referred to
above, a high rate of inflation in the future could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results from operations. The recent volatility in
crude oil prices has had an adverse impact on transportation costs, as well as certain petroleum based raw materials and packaging material. Although we
make efforts to minimize the impact of inflationary factors, including raising prices to our customers, a high rate of pricing volatility associated with crude oil
supplies may continue to have an adverse effect on our operating results.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are described in the notes to the unaudited financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
as well as in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012. While all significant accounting policies are important to our
Consolidated Financial Statements, certain of these policies may be viewed as being critical. Such policies are those that are both most important to the
portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and require our most difficult, subjective and complex estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, or the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates are based upon our
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ materially from
these estimates under different conditions. The most critical accounting estimates are described below:

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the following revenue recognition criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) the product has been
shipped and the customer takes ownership and assumes the risk of loss, (iii) the selling price is fixed or determinable, and (iv) collection of the resulting
receivable is reasonably assured. We have determined that these criteria are met and the transfer of risk of loss generally occurs when product is received by
the customer and, accordingly, recognize revenue at that time. Provision is made for estimated discounts related to customer payment terms and estimated
product returns at the time of sale based on our historical experience.

As is customary in the consumer products industry, we participate in the promotional programs of our customers to enhance the sale of our products. The cost
of these promotional programs is recorded as advertising and promotional expenses or as a reduction of sales based upon the nature of such items and the
applicable accounting guidance. Such costs vary from period to period based on the actual number of units sold during a finite period of time. We estimate
the cost of such promotional programs at their inception based on historical experience and current market conditions and reduce sales by such
estimates. These promotional programs consist of direct-to-consumer incentives, such as coupons and temporary price reductions, as well as incentives to our
customers, such as allowances for new distribution including slotting fees, and cooperative advertising. Direct reimbursements of advertising costs are
reflected as a reduction of advertising costs in the periods in which the reimbursement criteria are achieved. We do not provide incentives to customers for the
acquisition of product in excess of normal inventory quantities, because such incentives increase the potential for future returns, as well as reduce sales in the
subsequent fiscal periods.

Estimates of costs of promotional programs are based on (i) historical sales experience, (ii) the current promotional offering, (iii) forecasted data, (iv) current
market conditions, and (v) communication with customer purchasing/marketing personnel. At the completion of the promotional program, the estimated
amounts are adjusted to actual results. Our related promotional expense for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 was $32.2 million. For the three months
ended June 30, 2012, our related promotional expense was $9.0 million. We believe that the estimation methodologies employed, combined with the nature of
the promotional campaigns, make the likelihood remote that our obligation would be misstated by a material amount. However, for illustrative purposes, had
we underestimated the promotional program rate by 10% for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, our sales and operating income would have been
adversely affected by approximately $3.2 million. Net income would have been adversely affected by approximately $1.9 million. Similarly, had we
underestimated the promotional program rate by 10% for the three months ended June 30, 2012, our sales and operating income would have been adversely
affected by approximately $0.9 million. Net income would have been adversely affected by approximately $0.6 million for the three months ended June 30,
2012.

We also periodically run coupon programs in Sunday newspaper inserts, on our product website or as on-package instant redeemable coupons. We utilize a
national clearinghouse to process coupons redeemed by customers. At the time a coupon is distributed, a provision is made based upon historical redemption
rates for that particular product, information provided as a result of the clearinghouse's experience with coupons of similar dollar value, the length of time the
coupon is valid, and the seasonality of the
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coupon drop, among other factors. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, we had 127 coupon events. The amount recorded against revenues and
accrued for these events during the year was $7.2 million. Cash settlement of coupon redemptions during the year was $6.4 million. During the three months
ended June 30, 2012, we had 55 coupon events. The amount recorded against revenue and accrued for these events during the three months ended June 30,
2012 was $3.7 million. Cash settlement of coupon redemptions during the three months ended June 30, 2012 was $1.5 million.

Allowances for Product Returns

Due to the nature of the consumer products industry, we are required to estimate future product returns. Accordingly, we record an estimate of product returns
concurrent with the recording of sales. Such estimates are made after analyzing (i) historical return rates, (i) current economic trends, (iii) changes in
customer demand, (iv) product acceptance, (v) seasonality of our product offerings, and (vi) the impact of changes in product formulation, packaging and
advertising.

We construct our returns analysis by looking at the previous year's return history for each brand. Subsequently, each month, we estimate our current return
rate based upon an average of the previous six months' return rate and review that calculated rate for reasonableness, giving consideration to the other factors
described above. Our historical return rate has been relatively stable; for example, for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, returns
represented 2.9%, 2.7% and 3.8%, respectively, of gross sales. For the three months ended June 30, 2012, product returns represented 2.5% of gross sales. At
June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012, the allowance for sales returns was $2.3 million and $3.3 million, respectively.

While we utilize the methodology described above to estimate product returns, actual results may differ materially from our estimates, causing our future
financial results to be adversely affected. Among the factors that could cause a material change in the estimated return rate would be significant unexpected
returns with respect to a product or products that comprise a significant portion of our revenues. Based upon the methodology described above and our actual
returns experience, management believes the likelihood of such an event remains remote. As noted, over the last three years our actual product return rate has
stayed within a range of 2.5% to 3.8% of gross sales. However, a hypothetical increase of 0.1% in our estimated return rate as a percentage of gross sales
would have adversely affected our reported sales and operating income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 by approximately $0.5 million. Net income
would have been adversely affected by approximately $0.3 million. A hypothetical increase of 0.1% in our estimated return rate as a percentage of gross sales
for the three months ended June 30, 2012 would have adversely affected our reported sales and operating income by approximately $0.2 million, while our
net income would have been adversely affected by approximately $0.1 million for the period.

Lower of Cost or Market for Obsolete and Damaged Inventory

We value our inventory at the lower of cost or market value. Accordingly, we reduce our inventories for the diminution of value resulting from product
obsolescence, damage or other issues affecting marketability, equal to the difference between the cost of the inventory and its estimated market value. Factors
utilized in the determination of estimated market value include (i) current sales data and historical return rates, (i) estimates of future demand, (iii)
competitive pricing pressures, (iv) new product introductions, (v) product expiration dates, and (vi) component and packaging obsolescence.

Many of our products are subject to expiration dating. As a general rule, our customers will not accept goods with expiration dating of less than 12 months
from the date of delivery. To monitor this risk, management utilizes a detailed compilation of inventory with expiration dating between zero and 15 months
and reserves for 100% of the cost of any item with expiration dating of 12 months or less. Inventory obsolescence costs charged to operations were $3.3
million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, while for the three months ended June 30, 2012, we recorded obsolescence costs of $0.6 million. A
hypothetical increase of 1.0% in our allowance for obsolescence at March 31, 2012 would have adversely affected our reported operating income and net
income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 by approximately $0.5 million and $0.3 million, respectively. Similarly, a hypothetical increase of 1.0% in
our obsolescence allowance at June 30, 2012 would have adversely affected our reported operating income and net income by approximately $0.6 million and
$0.3 million, respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2012.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

In the ordinary course of business, we grant non-interest bearing trade credit to our customers on normal credit terms. We maintain an allowance for doubtful
accounts receivable, which is based upon our historical collection experience and expected collectability of the accounts receivable. In an effort to reduce our
credit risk, we (i) establish credit limits for all of our customer relationships, (ii) perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers' financial condition, (iii)
monitor the payment history and aging of our customers' receivables, and (iv) monitor open orders against an individual customer's outstanding receivable
balance.

We establish specific reserves for those accounts that file for bankruptcy, have no payment activity for 180 days, or have reported major negative changes to
their financial condition. The allowance for bad debts amounted to 1.4% and 1.1% of accounts receivable at June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012,
respectively. Bad debt expense for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 was $0.2 million, while during the three months ended June 30, 2012, we recorded
bad debt expense of less than $0.1 million.

41-



While management believes that it is diligent in its evaluation of the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts, an unexpected event, such as the
bankruptcy filing of a major customer, could have an adverse effect on our future financial results. A hypothetical increase of 0.1% in our bad debt expense
as a percentage of sales during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 would have resulted in a decrease in reported operating income of approximately $0.4
million and a decrease in our reported net income of approximately $0.3 million. Similarly, a hypothetical increase of 0.1% in our bad debt expense as a
percentage of sales for the three months ended June 30, 2012 would have resulted in a decrease in reported operating income of $0.1 million and a decrease in
our reported net income of less than $0.1 million.

Valuation of Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Goodwill and intangible assets amounted to $1,571.3 million and $1,574.2 million at June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012, respectively. At June 30, 2012,
goodwill and intangible assets were apportioned among our two operating segments as follows:

OTC Household
(In thousands), Healthcare Cleaning Consolidated
Goodwill $ 166,539 $ 7,389 $ 173,928
Intangible assets, net
Indefinite-lived:
Analgesics 342,164 — 342,164
Cough & Cold 185,453 — 185,453
Gastrointestinal 214,060 — 214,060
Eye & Ear Care 172,552 — 172,552
Dermatologicals 149,927 — 149,927
Oral Care 61,438 — 61,438
Other OTC = = =
Household Cleaning — 119,820 119,820
Total indefinite-lived intangible
assets, net 1,125,594 119,820 1,245,414
Finite-lived:
Analgesics 4,527 — 4,527
Cough & Cold 23,942 — 23,942
Gastrointestinal 27,341 — 27,341
Eye & Ear Care 8,975 — 8,975
Dermatologicals 7,218 — 7,218
Oral Care 19,541 — 19,541
Other OTC 31,236 — 31,236
Household Cleaning — 29,220 29,220
Total finite-lived intangible assets,
net 122,780 29,220 152,000
Total intangible assets, net 1,248,374 149,040 1,397,414
$ 1,414,913 $ 156,429 $ 1,571,342

Our Chloraseptic, Clear Eyes, Compound W, Dramamine, Efferdent, Luden's, PediaCare, BC, Goody's, Ecotrin, Beano, Gaviscon, Phazyme, Tagamet, Fibre
Choice, Sominex and Debrox brands comprise the majority of the value of the intangible assets within the OTC Healthcare segment. The Chore Boy, Comet,
and Spic and Span brands comprise substantially all of the intangible asset value within the Household Cleaning segment.

Goodwill and intangible assets comprise substantially all of our assets. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a purchase business combination. Intangible assets generally represent our trademarks, brand names and patents. When
we acquire a brand, we are required to make judgments regarding the value assigned to the associated intangible assets, as well as their respective useful
lives. Management considers many factors both
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prior to and after the acquisition of an intangible asset in determining the value, as well as the useful life, assigned to each intangible asset that we acquire or
continue to own and promote. The most significant factors are:

*  Brand History
A brand that has been in existence for a long period of time (e.g., 25, 50 or 100 years) generally warrants a higher valuation and longer life
(sometimes indefinite) than a brand that has been in existence for a very short period of time. A brand that has been in existence for an extended
period of time generally has been the subject of considerable investment by its previous owner(s) to support product innovation and advertising and
promotion.

*  Market Position
Consumer products that rank number one or two in their respective market generally have greater name recognition and are known as quality product
offerings, which warrant a higher valuation and longer life than products that lag in the marketplace.

*  Recent and Projected Sales Growth
Recent sales results present a snapshot as to how the brand has performed in the most recent time periods and represent another factor in the
determination of brand value. In addition, projected sales growth provides information about the strength and potential longevity of the brand. A
brand that has both strong current and projected sales generally warrants a higher valuation and a longer life than a brand that has weak or declining
sales. Similarly, consideration is given to the potential investment, in the form of advertising and promotion, that is required to reinvigorate a brand
that has fallen from favor.

*  History of and Potential for Product Extensions
Consideration also is given to the product innovation that has occurred during the brand's history and the potential for continued product innovation
that will determine the brand's future. Brands that can be continually enhanced by new product offerings generally warrant a higher valuation and
longer life than a brand that has always “followed the leader”.

After consideration of the factors described above, as well as current economic conditions and changing consumer behavior, management prepares a
determination of the intangible assets' values and useful lives based on its analysis. Under accounting guidelines, goodwill is not amortized, but must be tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting
unit below the carrying amount. In a similar manner, indefinite-lived assets are no longer amortized. They are also subject to an annual impairment test, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. Additionally, at each reporting period an evaluation must be
made to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their
respective estimated useful lives and must also be tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the
asset may not be recoverable and exceeds its fair value.

On an annual basis, during the fourth fiscal quarter of each year, or more frequently if conditions indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be
recovered, management performs a review of both the values and, if applicable, useful lives assigned to goodwill and intangible assets and tests for
impairment.

We report goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets in two operating segments: OTC Healthcare and Household Cleaning. We identify our reporting
units in accordance with the FASB ASC Subtopic 280-10, which is at the brand level, and one level below the operating segment level. The carrying value
and fair value for intangible assets and goodwill for a reporting unit are calculated based on the key assumptions and valuation methodologies previously
discussed. As aresult, any material changes to these assumptions could require us to record additional impairment in the future.

Goodwill

As of March 31, 2012, we had 15 reporting units with goodwill, including six reporting units resulting from the acquisition of the GSK Brands. The aggregate
fair value exceeded the carrying value by 29.1%. Since the acquisition of the GSK Brands occurred recently, the fair value of these reporting units
approximates the carrying value. For the remaining reporting units, no individual reporting unit's fair value exceeded its carrying value by less than 5.0%.

As part of our annual test for impairment of goodwill, management estimates the discounted cash flows of each reporting unit, which is at the brand level, and
one level below the operating segment level, to estimate their respective fair values. In performing this analysis, management considers the same types of
information as listed below with regard to finite-lived intangible assets. In the event that the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value,
management would then be required to allocate the estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit as if the unit was acquired in a
business combination, thereby revaluing the carrying amount of goodwill. Future events, such as competition, technological advances and reductions in
advertising
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support for our trademarks and trade names, could cause subsequent evaluations to utilize different assumptions and we may be required to record additional
impairment charges in the future. However, no impairment charge was recorded during the three months ended June 30, 2012.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

In a manner similar to finite-lived intangible assets, at each reporting period, management analyzes current events and circumstances to determine whether the
indefinite life classification for a trademark or trade name continues to be valid. If circumstances warrant a change to a finite life, the carrying value of the
intangible asset would then be amortized prospectively over the estimated remaining useful life.

Management tests the indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment by comparing the carrying value of the intangible asset to its estimated fair value.
Since quoted market prices are seldom available for trademarks and trade names such as ours, we utilize present value techniques to estimate fair value.
Accordingly, management's projections are utilized to assimilate all of the facts, circumstances and expectations related to the trademark or trade name and
estimate the cash flows over its useful life. In performing this analysis, management considers the same types of information as listed below with regard to
finite-lived intangible assets. Once that analysis is completed, a discount rate is applied to the cash flows to estimate fair value. In a manner similar to
goodwill, future events, such as competition, technological advances and reductions in advertising support for our trademarks and trade names, could cause
subsequent evaluations to utilize different assumptions.

Finite-Lived Intangible Assets

As mentioned above, when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable, management performs a
review to ascertain the impact of events and circumstances on the estimated useful lives and carrying values of our trademarks and trade names. In
connection with this analysis, management:

*  Reviews period-to-period sales and profitability by brand,;

*  Analyzes industry trends and projects brand growth rates;

*  Prepares annual sales forecasts;

»  Evaluates advertising effectiveness;

*  Analyzes gross margins;

*  Reviews contractual benefits or limitations;

*  Monitors competitors' advertising spend and product innovation;

»  Prepares projections to measure brand viability over the estimated useful life of the intangible asset; and
*  Considers the regulatory environment, as well as industry litigation.

If analysis of any of the aforementioned factors warrants a change in the estimated useful life of the intangible asset, management will reduce the estimated
useful life and amortize the carrying value prospectively over the shorter remaining useful life. Management's projections are utilized to assimilate all of the
facts, circumstances and expectations related to the trademark or trade name and estimate the cash flows over its useful life. In the event that the long-term
projections indicate that the carrying value is in excess of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the intangible assets, management is
required to record an impairment charge. Once that analysis is completed, a discount rate is applied to the cash flows to estimate fair value. The impairment
charge is measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the intangible asset over fair value, as calculated using the discounted cash flow analysis. Future
events, such as competition, technological advances and reductions in advertising support for our trademarks and trade names, could cause subsequent
evaluations to utilize different assumptions.

Impairment Analysis

We estimate the fair value of our intangible assets and goodwill using a discounted cash flow method. This discounted cash flow methodology is a widely-
accepted valuation technique to estimate fair value utilized by market participants in the transaction evaluation process and has been applied consistently. In
addition, we considered our market capitalization at March 31, 2012, as compared to the aggregate fair values of our reporting units, to assess the
reasonableness of our estimates pursuant to the discounted cash flow methodology. As a result of our analysis, we did not record an impairment charge during
the three months ended March 31, 2012.

The discount rate utilized in the analyses, as well as future cash flows, may be influenced by such factors as changes in interest rates and rates of
inflation. Additionally, should the related fair values of goodwill and intangible assets continue to be adversely affected as a result of declining sales or
margins caused by competition, changing consumer preferences, technological advances or reductions in advertising and promotional expenses, we may be

required to record additional impairment charges in the future. However, no impairment charge was recorded during the three months ended June 30, 2012.

Stock-Based Compensation
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The Compensation and Equity topic of the FASB ASC requires us to measure the cost of services to be rendered based on the grant-date fair value of an
equity award. Compensation expense is to be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award,
generally referred to as the requisite service period. Information utilized in the determination of fair value includes the following:

*  Type of instrument (i.e., restricted shares vs. an option, warrant or performance shares);
»  Strike price of the instrument;

*  Market price of our common stock on the date of grant;

*  Discount rates;

e Duration of the instrument; and

*  Volatility of our common stock in the public market.

Additionally, management must estimate the expected attrition rate of the recipients to enable it to estimate the amount of non-cash compensation expense to
be recorded in our financial statements. While management uses diligent analysis to estimate the respective variables, a change in assumptions or market
conditions, as well as changes in the anticipated attrition rates, could have a significant impact on the future amounts recorded as non-cash compensation
expense. We recorded non-cash compensation expense of $0.9 million and $0.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Loss Contingencies
Loss contingencies are recorded as liabilities when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of such loss is reasonably
estimable. Contingent losses are often resolved over longer periods of time and involve many factors including:

*  Rules and regulations promulgated by regulatory agencies;
»  Sufficiency of the evidence in support of our position;

*  Anticipated costs to support our position; and

* Likelihood of a positive outcome.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2012, the FASB issued guidance regarding testing the impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets other than goodwill. The new guidance is
intended to simplify how entities test impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets other than goodwill. The new guidance permits an entity to first assess
qualitative factors to determine whether it is "more-likely-than-not" that the fair value of the asset is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining
whether it is necessary to perform the impairment test described in the ASC Intangibles-Goodwill and Other topic. The more-likely-than-not threshold is
defined as having a likelihood of more than 50%. The new guidance is effective for annual and interim impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning
after September 15, 2012. Early adoption is permitted. We do not expect that the adoption of this new guidance will have a material impact on our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2011, the FASB issued guidance regarding disclosures about offsetting assets and liabilities. The new disclosure requirements mandate that
entities disclose both gross and net information about instruments and transactions eligible for offset in the statement of financial position, as well as
instruments and transactions subject to an agreement similar to a master netting arrangement. In addition, the standard requires disclosure of collateral
received and posted in connection with master netting agreements or similar arrangements. An entity will be required to disclose the following information
for assets and liabilities within the scope of the new standard: (i) the gross amounts of those recognized assets and those recognized liabilities; (ii) the
amounts offset to determine the net amounts presented in the statement of financial position; (iii) the net amounts presented in the statement of financial
position; (iv) the amounts subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement not otherwise included in (ii); and (v) the net amount
after deducting the amounts in (iv) from the amounts in (iii). The standard affects all entities with balances presented on a net basis in the financial statements,
derivative assets and derivative liabilities, repurchase agreements, and financial assets and financial liabilities executed under a master netting or similar
arrangement. This guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and interim periods within those annual periods.
We do not expect the adoption of this new guidance to have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements. However, our arrangement with
GSK provided that, during the term of the arrangement, we would receive a net monthly remittance and, therefore we have reported a net amount due from
GSK in our accounts receivable.

In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance regarding presentation of comprehensive income. Under the ASC Comprehensive Income topic, entities are allowed
the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single
continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. In both choices, an entity is required to present each
component of net income along with total net income, each component of other comprehensive income along with a total for other comprehensive income,
and a total amount
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for comprehensive income. This guidance eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes
in stockholders' equity. This guidance does not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income or when an item of other
comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income.

In December 2011, the FASB issued guidance to defer the new requirement to present components of reclassifications of other comprehensive income on the
face of the income statement. Based on this guidance, entities are still required to adopt either the single continuous statement or the two-statement approach
required by the new guidance. However, entities should continue to report reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income consistent with
the requirements in effect before the adoption of the new standard (i.e., by component of other comprehensive income, either by displaying each component
on a gross basis on the face of the appropriate financial statement or by displaying each component net of other changes on the face of the appropriate
financial statement with the gross change disclosed in the notes). The new guidance and this deferral were effective for the Company beginning with the three
months ended June 30, 2012, and full retrospective application is required. The December 2011 deferral of the guidance issued in June 2011, as well as the
June 2011 guidance, are effective at the same time. The adoption of this new guidance did not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

In September 2011, the FASB issued guidance regarding testing goodwill for impairment. The new guidance is intended to simplify how entities test goodwill
for impairment. The new guidance permits an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is "more-likely-than-not" that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test described in
the ASC Intangibles-Goodwill and Other topic. The more-likely-than-not threshold is defined as having a likelihood of more than 50%. The new guidance is
effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011. Early adoption is permitted. The
adoption of this new guidance did not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Management has reviewed and continues to monitor the actions of the various financial and regulatory reporting agencies and is currently not aware of any
other pronouncement that could have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the
“PSLRA”), including, without limitation, information within Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. The
following cautionary statements are being made pursuant to the provisions of the PSLRA and with the intention of obtaining the benefits of the “safe harbor”
provisions of the PSLRA. Although we believe that our expectations are based on reasonable assumptions, actual results may differ materially from those in
the forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Except as required under federal securities laws and the rules
and regulations of the SEC, we do not have any intention to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances arising after the date of
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. As a result of these risks and uncertainties, readers
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or that may be made elsewhere from
time to time by, or on behalf of, us. All forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified by these cautionary statements.

» o« <« » « <

These forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of words or phrases such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “estimate,” “project,”
“will be,” “will continue,” “will likely result,” or other similar words and phrases. Forward-looking statements and our plans and expectations are subject to a
number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated, and our business in general is subject to such
risks. For more information, see “Risk Factors” contained in Part I, Item 1A. of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended March 31,
2012. In addition, our expectations or beliefs concerning future events involve risks and uncertainties, including, without limitation:

*  The high level of competition from branded and private label competitors in our industry;

*  Our dependence on a limited number of customers for a large portion of our sales;

*  General economic conditions affecting our products and their respective markets;

*  Changing consumer trends or pricing pressures which may cause us to lower our prices;

*  Our dependence on third-party manufacturers to produce the products we sell;

*  Price increases for raw materials, labor, energy and transportation costs;

» Disruptions in our distribution center;

*  Acquisitions, dispositions or other strategic transactions (including the recent acquisition of OTC healthcare brands from GSK) diverting managerial
resources, or incurrence of additional liabilities or integration problems associated with such transactions;

*  Regulatory matters governing our industry;

*  Product liability claims, recalls and related negative publicity;

*  Our ability to protect our intellectual property rights;

*  Our dependence on third parties for intellectual property relating to some of the products we sell;

*  Our assets being comprised virtually entirely of goodwill and intangibles;

¢ Our dependence on key personnel;

*  The costs associated with any adverse judgments rendered in any pending litigation or arbitration;

e Our level of indebtedness, and possible inability to service our debt;

*  Our ability to obtain additional financing; and

*  The restrictions imposed by our financing agreements on our operations.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to changes in interest rates because our 2012 Term Loan and 2012 ABL Revolver are variable rate debt. Interest rate changes generally do
not significantly affect the market value of the 2012 Term Loan and the 2012 ABL Revolver but do affect the amount of our interest payments and, therefore,
our future earnings and cash flows, assuming other factors are held constant. At June 30, 2012, we had variable rate debt of approximately $590.0 million
under our 2012 Term Loan and $17.0 million under our 2012 ABL Revolver.

Holding other variables constant, including levels of indebtedness, a one percentage point increase in interest rates on our variable rate debt would have an
adverse impact on pre-tax earnings and cash flows for the three months ended June 30, 2012 of approximately $4.5 million.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company's management, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's
disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a—15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), as of June 30, 2012. Based upon
that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of June 30, 2012, the Company's disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports the Company files or submits under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and that such information is accumulated
and communicated to the Company's management, including the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes during the quarter ended June 30, 2012 in the Company's internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of
the Exchange Act, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Part I, Item 3 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 is incorporated herein by this reference.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the risk factors set forth below and the other information set forth in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider the risk
factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2012, which could materially affect our
business, financial condition or future results. The risks described below and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K are not the only risks facing us. Additional
risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations. The information below amends, updates and should be read in conjunction with the risk factors and information disclosed
in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2012.

Our business has been and could continue to be adversely affected by a prolonged recession.

The economic uncertainty surrounding the current recession has affected and could continue to materially affect our business because such economic
challenges could adversely affect consumers, our customers and suppliers. Specifically:

+  Consumer spending may continue to be curtailed resulting in downward pressure on our sales;

*  Our customers may continue to ration the number of products that reach store shelves, resulting in a reduction of the number of products that are
carried at retail, particularly those that are not number one or two in their
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category,

*  Our customers may continue to reduce overall inventory levels to strengthen their working capital positions, which could result in additional
sales reductions for us during those periods that our customers implement such strategies;

*  Our customers may continue to increase the number and breadth of products that are sold via their “private label” to the detriment of our
branded products;

*  Our customers may continue to reduce store count, closing additional marginally performing stores resulting in sales reductions, potential
working capital reductions, and an inability to repay amounts owed to us; and

*  Our suppliers may suffer from sales reductions, which could diminish their working capital, impede their ability to provide product to us in a
timely manner or in sufficient quantities, and result in an increase in prices.

In particular, one third party manufacturer that produces one of our brands sold internationally has filed for bankruptcy protection. As a result, we have been
unable to obtain sufficient quantities of the product provided by this manufacturer, which has had an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. Although this manufacturer has committed to continue supplying us with product through calendar year 2012 while we arrange for an
alternate supplier, we have not yet been able to obtain sufficient quantities of the product. In addition, the manufacturer has substantially increased our cost
for the product, which may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on third-party manufacturers to produce the products we sell. If we are unable to maintain these manufacturing relationships or fail to enter
into additional relationships, as necessary, we may be unable to meet customer demand and our sales and profitability could suffer as a result.

All of our products are produced by third-party manufacturers. Our ability to retain our current manufacturing relationships and engage in and successfully
transition to new relationships is critical to our ability to deliver quality products to our customers in a timely manner. Without adequate supplies of quality
merchandise, sales would decrease materially and our business would suffer. In the event that our primary third-party manufacturers are unable or unwilling
to ship products to us in a timely manner, we would have to rely on secondary manufacturing relationships or identify and qualify new manufacturing
relationships. We might not be able to identify or qualify such manufacturers for existing or new products in a timely manner and such manufacturers may not
allocate sufficient capacity to us in order that we may meet our commitments to customers. In addition, identifying alternative manufacturers without
adequate lead times can compromise required product validation and stability protocol, which may involve additional manufacturing expense, delay in
production or product disadvantage in the marketplace. In general, the consequences of not securing adequate and timely supplies of merchandise would
negatively impact inventory levels, sales and gross margins, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results from
operations.

We are attempting to arrange for alternative suppliers to replace the manufacturer that has filed for bankruptcy protection. However, given the time required to
qualify new suppliers, we may be unable to fulfill our product needs for this brand once our arrangement with the current manufacturer expires.

The manufacturers we use may also increase the cost of the products we purchase, which could adversely affect our margins in the event we are unable to
pass along these increased costs to our customers. A situation such as this could also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results from operations.

At June 30, 2012, we had relationships with 45 third-party manufacturers. Of those, we had long-term contracts with 21 manufacturers that produced items
that accounted for approximately 84.9% of gross sales for the three months ended June 30, 2012. The fact that we do not have long-term contracts with
certain manufacturers means they could cease producing products at any time and for any reason, or initiate arbitrary and costly price increases, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results from operations.

Product liability claims and product recalls and related negative publicity could adversely affect our sales and operating results.

We may be required to pay for losses or injuries purportedly caused by our products. From time to time we have been and may again be subjected to various
product liability claims. Claims could be based on allegations that, among other things, our products contain contaminants, include inadequate instructions or
warnings regarding their use or inadequate warnings concerning side effects and interactions with other substances. Any product liability claims may result in
negative publicity that may adversely affect our sales and operating results. Also, if one of our products is found to be defective, we may be required to recall
it, which
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we have done on several recent occasions. Recalls may result in substantial costs and negative publicity, as well as negatively impact inventory levels which
may adversely affect our business, sales and operating results.

Although we maintain, and require our suppliers and third-party manufacturers to maintain, product liability insurance coverage, potential product liability
claims may exceed the amount of insurance coverage or potential product liability claims may be excluded under the terms of the policy, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results from operations. In addition, in the future we may not be able to obtain adequate
insurance coverage or we may be required to pay higher premiums and accept higher deductibles in order to secure adequate insurance coverage.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

Adjustments to Executive Compensation

On August 6, 2012, the Compensation Committee (the “Compensation Committee”) of the Board of Directors approved the following base salary adjustments
for certain of the Company's named executive officers, effective August 1, 2012: (i) Mr. Matthew M. Mannelly, $650,000 (increased from $600,000), (ii) Mr.
Ronald M. Lombardi, $425,000 (increased from $390,000), and (iii) Mr. Timothy J. Connors, $400,000 (increased from $370,000). In addition, the
Compensation Committee approved an equity grant to Mr. Mannelly with a value of $240,000 under the Company's 2005 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan.
Mr. Mannelly will receive one-third of the value of the award ($80,000) in the form of restricted stock units, which will vest on the third anniversary of the
date of grant, and two-thirds of the value of the award ($160,000) in the form of stock options, which will vest in three approximately equal annual
installments beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant.

Adjustments to Director Compensation

On August 6, 2012, the Compensation Committee approved certain changes to the Company's director compensation program. Effective August 1, 2012, each
non-employee member of the Board of Directors will receive: (i) an annual retainer of $30,000 (increased from $25,000); (ii) an annual grant of restricted
stock units payable on the date of the Company's Annual Meeting of Stockholders with a value of $60,000 (increased from $50,000); and (iii) $2,000 for each
meeting of the Board that he or she attends in-person (increased from $1,500). In addition, each of the Chairmen of the Compensation Committee and the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will receive a supplemental annual retainer of $6,500 (increased from $5,000), and the Chairman of the
Audit Committee will receive a supplemental annual retainer of $10,000 (increased from $7,500). All other compensation for the non-employee directors
remains unchanged.

Office Lease
On June 26, 2012, we entered into an agreement to lease 42,616 square feet of office space for our headquarters in New York. The lease is for five years and

six months and monthly payments of approximately $78,000 will commence beginning with the six month anniversary of the rent commencement date as
defined in the agreement.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
See Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

PRESTIGE BRANDS HOLDINGS, INC.

Date: August 9, 2012 By: /s RONALD M. LOMBARDI
Ronald M. Lombardi
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Duly Authorized Officer)
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Exhibit Index

10.1 Director Compensation Policy
10.2 Agreement of Lease Between RA 660 White Plains Road LLC and Prestige Brands, Inc.

311 Certification of Principal Executive Officer of Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934.

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer of Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934.

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer of Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter
63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer of Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter
63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* XBRL information is furnished and not filed for purposes of Section 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, and is not subject to liability under those sections, is not part of any registration statement, prospectus or other document to which it relates and is
not incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference into any registration statement, prospectus or other document.
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Equity Compensation

Initial Equity Grant:

Annual Equity Grant:

Cash Compensation

Annual Cash Retainer:

Exhibit 10.1

PRESTIGE BRANDS HOLDINGS, INC.
Summary of Director Compensation Program

On the day of the first annual meeting of stockholders following a non-employee director’s election or appointment to the
board, he or she will receive a one-time grant of shares of common stock with a value equal to $20,000. The number of
shares granted will be determined by dividing $20,000 by the closing price of Company common stock on such date. The
shares of common stock are fully-vested on the date of grant.

On the day of the annual meeting of stockholders, each non-employee director will receive an award of restricted stock
units with a value equal to $60,000. The number of restricted stock units granted will be determined by dividing $60,000
by the closing price of Company common stock on the day of the annual meeting of stockholders. The restricted stock
units will vest one year following the date of grant, subject to the director’s continued membership on the board as of such
date, and will be settled in shares of Company common stock on the earliest to occur of (i) the non-employee director’s
death, (ii) the non-employee director’s disability, or (iii) the 6-month anniversary of the date on which the non-employee
director’s board membership ceases for reasons other than death or disability.

$60,000, payable in equal quarterly installments

Meeting Fee Per Board Meeting Attended In-Person: $2,000
Meeting Fee Per Committee Meeting Attended In-Person: $1,000
Meeting Fee Per Board or Committee Meeting Attended Telephonically: $750

Additional Annual Retainers — Committee Chairpersons:

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee $6,500

Audit Committee

Compensation Committee

$10,000

$6,500

Additional Annual Retainer — Lead Director: $45,000
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AGREEMENT OF LEASE (the “Lease” or “this lease”), made as of this 26th day of June, 2012 (the “Effective Date”), between RA 660 WHITE
PLAINS ROAD LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, having an address c/o RXR Realty LLC, 660 White Plains Road, Tarrytown, New York 10591
(hereinafter referred to as “Landlord”), and PRESTIGE BRANDS, INC., a Delaware corporation, having its principal place of business at 90 North
Broadway, Irvington, New York 10533 (hereinafter referred to as “Tenant”).

WITNESSETH: Landlord and Tenant hereby covenant and agree as follows:
SPACE

1. Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hereby hires from Landlord the space substantially as shown on the Rental Plan annexed hereto as
Exhibit “1” (“Demised Premises” or “Premises”) on the second (2"d) floor of the building located at 660 White Plains Road, Tarrytown, New York
(hereinafter referred to as the “Building), and the parties hereby stipulate and agree that such space is deemed to contain 42,616 rentable square feet in a
Building that is deemed to contain 254,239 rentable square feet, which constitutes 16.76 percent of the area of the Building (“Tenant’s Proportionate Share”).

TERM

2. (A) The term (“Term” or “term”) of this lease shall commence on the date (the “Term Commencement Date”) on which occurs the later of (i)
the delivery by Landlord to Tenant of a fully-executed original of this lease, and (ii) the tender by Landlord to Tenant of vacant and broom clean possession of
the Demised Premises, with the Demo Work (as such term is defined in Article 5 of this lease) having been substantially completed substantially in
accordance with the Approved Demo Plan (as such term is defined in Article 5 of this lease). As of the Term Commencement Date, Tenant, its agents and
contractors shall be afforded access to the Demised Premises for the purpose of performing the Tenant’s Initial Work (as such term is defined in Article 5 of
this lease), subject to and in accordance with the applicable terms and conditions of this lease. From and after the first date on which Tenant has completed the
Tenant’s Initial Work and all municipal inspections have been successfully completed with respect thereto, Tenant shall be permitted to use and occupy the
Demised Premises for the conduct of its business. During the period from the Term Commencement Date through and including the day immediately
preceding the Rent Commencement Date (hereinafter defined), Tenant shall not be responsible for the payment of Rent (as such term is defined under Article
3 of this lease) or any of the items of additional rent contemplated under Articles 6, 11 or 12 of this lease. Tenant waives any right to rescind this lease under
Section 223-a of the New York Real Property Law or any successor statute of similar import then in force and further waives the right to recover any damages
which may result from Landlord’s failure to deliver possession of the Demised Premises on any scheduled Term Commencement Date.

(B) Subject to postponement on account of Landlord Delay (as such term is defined in Article 2(D) below), if any, Tenant’s obligation to
pay Rent pursuant (and subject) to Article 3 and all items of additional rent contemplated under Articles 6, 11 and 12 of this lease shall commence on the date
(the “Rent Commencement Date”) which is the sooner to occur of (i) October 8, 2012, or (ii) the first date on which Tenant takes occupancy of the Demised
Premises for the purpose of conducting its business therein; in either event, without regard to the timing of performance or completion of the Tenant’s Initial
Work. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of the accrual of any Landlord Delay, the Rent Commencement Date shall be postponed until the date on
which occurs the sooner of (a) the date that follows October 8, 2012 by a number of days equal to the aggregate number of days of Landlord Delay so
accrued, or (b) the first date on which Tenant takes occupancy of the Demised Premises for the purpose of conducting its business therein. Additionally, in the
event the aggregate number of days of Landlord Delay exceeds one hundred and twenty (120) days and, as a result thereof, Tenant is unable to occupy the
Premises for the conduct of its business therefrom by February 5, 2013, Landlord shall increase the rental credit period to which Tenant is entitled pursuant to
the last paragraph of Article 3 by one (1) day for each day after February 5, 2013 that Tenant is unable to occupy the Premises for the conduct of its business
as a result of such Landlord Delay.



(C) The Term of this lease shall expire on the date (the “Expiration Date”) that is five (5) years and six (6) months following either (i) the
day preceding the Rent Commencement Date (but only if the Rent Commencement Date occurred on the first day of a calendar month), or (ii) the last day of
the calendar month in which occurred the Rent Commencement Date (if the Rent Commencement Date did not occur on the first day of a calendar month).
By way of example only, if the Rent Commencement Date is deemed to have occurred on October 8, 2012, then the Expiration Date would be April 30, 2018.

(D) As used herein, the term “Landlord Delay” shall mean where both the substantial completion of the Tenant’s Initial Work and Tenant’s
initial occupancy for the purpose of conducting its business in the Demised Premises have been delayed beyond October 8, 2012 on account of any one or
more of the following: (i) failure by Landlord to achieve substantial completion of the Demo Work within twelve (12) business days following the issuance of
a permit therefor; (ii) failure by Landlord to respond to a request by Tenant for Landlord’s approval of a set of Proposed Construction Drawings or any
proposed Contractor within the time period allotted therefor pursuant to Article 5 of this lease; (iii) any unreasonably interference by Landlord, its agents or
contractors with the performance of the Tenant’s Initial Work by Tenant’s Contractors; (iv) Landlord’s failure to provide services to Tenant and Tenant’s
contractors, as required by and subject to Article 6(C) below or (v) the failure or refusal by Landlord to reasonably cooperate with Tenant, at no out-of-pocket
cost to Landlord, with respect to the application for, and pursuit of the issuance of, a building permit for the Tenant’s Initial Work. Tenant hereby covenants
and agrees to provide Landlord with written notice of any purported Landlord Delay (which written notice may be delivered via e-mail from Tenant’s
designated project manager to Landlord’s designated project manager) promptly following Tenant having learned of the subject Landlord Delay, and if Tenant
fails to so notify Landlord within two (2) business days after the purported Landlord Delay, any further delay which Landlord proves could have been avoided
if it had received such notice shall not be considered a Landlord Delay. Moreover, in the event of an action or omission that would otherwise have constituted
a Landlord Delay hereunder, same shall not be considered a Landlord Delay hereunder if and to the extent the progress of the Tenant’s Initial Work is then
simultaneously being delayed by other forces outside of the reasonable control of Landlord..

(E) A “Lease Year” shall be comprised of a period of twelve (12) consecutive months (except for the sixth Lease Year, which shall be
comprised of a period of only six (6) months). The first Lease Year shall commence on the Rent Commencement Date but, notwithstanding the first sentence
of this paragraph, if the Rent Commencement Date is not the first day of a month, then the first Lease Year shall also include the additional period from the
Rent Commencement Date to the end of the then current month. Each succeeding Lease Year shall end on the anniversary date of the last day of the preceding
Lease Year (except for the sixth Lease Year, which shall end six (6) months following the end of the fifth Lease Year). For example, if the Rent
Commencement Date is October 8, 2012, then the first Lease Year would begin on October 8, 2012 and end on October 31, 2013, the second Lease Year
would begin on November 1, 2013 and end on October 31, 2014, and each succeeding Lease Year would begin on November 15t and end on October 315
(except for the sixth Lease Year, which would begin on November 1, 2017 and end on April 30, 2018). If, however, the Rent Commencement Date is
November 1, 2012, then the first Lease Year would begin on November 1, 2012 and end on October 31, 2013, and each succeeding Lease Year would begin
on November 1st and end on October 315 (except for the sixth Lease Year, which would begin on November 1, 2017 and end on April 30, 2018). If, however,
the Rent Commencement Date is November 2, 2012 then the first Lease Year would begin on November 2, 2012 and end on November 30, 2013, the second
Lease Year would begin on December 1, 2013 and end on November 30, 2014, and each succeeding Lease Year would begin on December 1% and end on
November 30t (except for the sixth Lease Year, which would begin on December 1, 2017 and end on May 31, 2018).

RENT
3. The annual minimum rental (“Rent” or “rent”) is as follows:

During the first Lease Year, the Rent shall be $937,551.96, payable in equal monthly installments of $78,129.33.



During the second Lease Year, the Rent shall be $937,551.96, payable in equal monthly installments of $78,129.33.
During the third Lease Year, the Rent shall be $980,168.04, payable in equal monthly installments of $81,680.67.
During the fourth Lease Year, the Rent shall be $1,001,475.96, payable in equal monthly installments of $83,456.33.
During the fifth Lease Year, the Rent shall be $1,044,092.04, payable in equal monthly installments of $87,007.67.

During the sixth Lease Year (which shall be comprised of a period of only six (6) months), the Rent shall be payable in equal monthly installments of
$87,007.67.

Tenant agrees to pay the Rent to Landlord, without notice or demand, in lawful money of the United States which shall be legal tender in payment of the debts
and dues, public and private, at the time of payment, in advance on the first day of each calendar month during the Term which occurs from and after the Rent
Commencement Date, subject to the final paragraph of this Article 3, at the address for payment designated by Landlord from time to time, except that Tenant
shall pay the first monthly installment on the execution hereof; it being acknowledged and agreed that the inclusion of an address for payment on an invoice
(if any) submitted by Landlord shall qualify as such designation. If no such address for payment is designated by Landlord, then payment shall be made to the
address set forth in the introductory paragraph of this lease.

Tenant shall pay the Rent as above and as hereinafter provided, without any set off or deduction whatsoever. Should the Rent Commencement Date be a date
other than the first day of a calendar month, Tenant shall pay a pro rata portion of the Rent on a per diem basis (using the amount of the installment for the
first full calendar month of the first Lease Year and the actual number of days in the calendar month in which the Rent Commencement Date occurs) from
such date to and including the last day of that current calendar month, and the first Lease Year shall include said partial month. The Rent payable for such
partial month shall be in addition to the Rent payable for the first Lease Year pursuant to the Rent schedule set forth above and shall be payable by Tenant on
the Rent Commencement Date.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, provided Tenant is not then in default under this lease (beyond any applicable notice and grace
period provided in this lease for the cure thereof), Tenant shall receive a Rent credit in the aggregate amount of $468,775.98, to be applied in six (6) equal and
consecutive monthly installments of $78,129.33 against the monthly installments of Rent otherwise due and payable with respect to each of the second
through seventh full calendar months of the first Lease Year.

USE

4. (A) Tenant shall use and occupy the Demised Premises only for executive and administrative offices and other reasonable uses that are merely
incidental to such primary office use, and for no other purpose. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in no event shall Tenant be permitted to use
the Demised Premises for any of the prohibited uses listed in Article 21(H) of this lease.

(B) Tenant shall not use or occupy, suffer or permit the Premises, or any part thereof, to be used in any manner which would in any way
(i) violate any laws or regulations of public authorities; (ii) make void or voidable any insurance policy then in force with respect to the Building; (iii) in the
reasonable judgment of Landlord, impair the appearance, character or reputation of the Building; (iv) in the reasonable judgment of Landlord, discharge
objectionable fumes, vapors or odors into the Building, air-conditioning systems or Building flues or vents in such a manner as to offend other occupants. The
provisions of this Section shall not be deemed to be limited in any way to or by the provisions of any other Section or any Rule or Regulation.



(C) The emplacement of any equipment which will impose an evenly distributed floor load in excess of 50 pounds per square foot shall be
done only after written permission is received from the Landlord. Such permission will be granted only after adequate proof is furnished by a professional
engineer that such floor loading will not endanger the structure. Business machines and mechanical equipment in the Premises shall be placed and maintained
by Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, in such manner as shall be sufficient in Landlord’s judgment to absorb vibration and noise and prevent annoyance or
inconvenience to Landlord or any other tenants or occupants of the Building.

(D) Tenant will not at any time use or occupy the Demised Premises in violation of the certificate of occupancy (temporary or permanent)
issued for the Building or portion thereof of which the Demised Premises form a part.

(E) Landlord hereby grants Tenant, its employees, invitees and other business visitors, a nonexclusive license for the Term of this lease
and all extensions and renewals thereof to use, for the purpose of ingress and egress to the Building and the Demised Premises and to and from the Building
Parking Area (defined below), the sidewalks and other exterior common areas located on the Real Property or otherwise associated with the Building, the
lobbies, public corridors, elevator foyers, freight elevators and loading areas of the Building, and for their intended purposes, the common area restrooms and
those Building amenities that may, from time to time, be provided by Landlord for use generally by all tenant and occupants of the Building; in all events
subject to the provisions of Article 22(B) of this lease and in compliance with all applicable Rules and Regulations and subject to Landlord’s reasonable
charges for freight elevator usage (other than such freight elevator usage in connection with to Tenant’s initial move into the Demised Premises, for which
there shall be no charge to Tenant). Such license shall be automatically revoked, without the requirement of notice or any action from Landlord, upon the
expiration or any sooner termination of this lease or upon any dispossession of Tenant from the Demised Premises by appropriate legal proceedings in
accordance with the terms of this Lease.

LANDLORD ALTERATION

5. (A) Tenant hereby acknowledges and agrees that Tenant has inspected the Demised Premises and that, except as otherwise set forth below in
this Article 5 and subject to the express representations, warranties and covenants of Landlord set forth in this Lease (e.g. Landlord’s maintenance and repair
obligations under Article 7 hereof), Tenant is accepting the Demised Premises in its “as is” condition and Landlord shall have no obligation to perform any
work or make any alterations in or to the Demised Premises in order to prepare same for occupancy by Tenant.

(B) () Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Landlord, at no cost or expense to Tenant, will perform or cause
Landlord’s designated contractor to perform the demolition of fixtures and installations existing within the Demised Premises as of the Effective Date in
accordance with, and to the extent required by, that certain demolition drawing, entitled “Prestige Demolition”, dated June 1, 2012, prepared by RXR
Construction and Development LLC (“RXR C&D”), sealed by Prentice Architecture and reviewed and approved by both Landlord and Tenant prior to the
Effective Date of this lease (the “Approved Demo Plan”), which demolition work is sometimes herein referred to as the “Demo Work”. Landlord shall
perform or cause Landlord’s designated contractor to perform the Demo Work in a good and workmanlike manner and in substantial conformance with the
Approved Demo Plan.

(i) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if Landlord has not achieved substantial completion of the Demo
Work by the date that is twelve (12) business days following the date of issuance of a permit therefor, and provided that such delay is not attributable to forces
outside of the reasonable control of Landlord, then Tenant may, but shall not be obligated to, deliver to Landlord written notice (the “Demo Self Help
Notice”) of its intent to exercise its Demo Self Help Remedy (as defined below). If Landlord has still not achieved substantial completion of the Demo Work
by the tenth (10th) day following effective delivery of the Demo Self Help



Notice, then Tenant may deliver to Landlord written demand to cease performance of the Demo Work, together with Tenant’s written election to undertake the
Demo Self Help Remedy. The “Demo Self Help Remedy” shall be the empowerment of Tenant to engage its own licensed, insured and reputable contractor(s)
for the purpose of completing the Demo Work, under the direction of Tenant. If Tenant exercises the Demo Self Help Remedy, then upon Tenant having
achieved substantial completion of the Demo Work, Landlord shall reimburse Tenant in full for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses actually incurred by
Tenant directly in connection with the performance of the Demo Work. If Landlord shall fail to pay to Tenant any amount to be reimbursed to Tenant pursuant
to this Article 5(B)(ii) within thirty (30) days after written demand therefor by Tenant (accompanied by reasonable documentary evidence of the expenses so
incurred), then, subject to the following provisions of this Article 5(B)(ii) regarding a dispute thereof by Landlord, Tenant shall have the right to deduct the
amount owed as an offset from the installment(s) of Rent (but not additional rent) next becoming due and payable by Tenant under this Lease.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, if Landlord shall dispute the amount of Tenant’s claim or the fact that same has become due and payable to Tenant
pursuant to the provisions of this Article 5(B)(ii), then Landlord shall give Tenant written notice specifying in reasonable detail the basis for its dispute, and in
such event, Tenant may not invoke any such offset rights unless and until Tenant has obtained a final, non-appealable judgment from a Court of competent
jurisdiction for the subject unpaid reimbursement and Landlord shall have failed to pay the amount of the judgment within fifteen (15) days of same having
become final and non-appealable (it being acknowledged and agreed that, in such event, the amount to be offset shall be limited to the amount of the final,
non-appealable judgment). Also if Tenant exercises the Demo Self Help Remedy, any Landlord Delay associated with Landlord’s failure to timely complete
the Demo Work shall cease to accrue as of the twenty-fifth (25%) day following issuance of the Demo Self Help Notice.

(C) (i) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Article 5(A) above, Tenant shall have the right, at Tenant’s sole cost and
expense (except as otherwise expressly set forth below in this Article 5), to cause certain tenant improvement work to be performed in and to the Demised
Premises in order to prepare same for occupancy by Tenant, as such work will be more fully and particularly set forth in the Approved Construction Drawings
(collectively, the “Tenant’s Initial Work™); subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Article 5(C).

(i)  Promptly following the execution and delivery of this Agreement, Tenant shall cause its licensed architect and other
consultants to prepare a complete and fully-detailed set of construction drawings, setting forth all architectural and MEP specifications for the Tenant’s Initial
Work (the “Proposed Construction Drawings™). Tenant shall ensure that the specifications set forth on the Proposed Construction Drawings are (a) compatible
with the base Building plans and systems, (b) comply with all applicable laws and the rules, regulations, requirements and orders of any and all governmental
agencies, departments or bureaus having jurisdiction thereover, (c) sufficiently detailed so as to enable contractor bids to be developed thereupon, and (d) of a
form and content sufficient to enable a building permit to be issued on the basis thereof.

(iii)  The Proposed Construction Drawings shall be subject to the review and approval of Landlord. Accordingly, after Tenant
having approved the Proposed Construction Drawings, Tenant shall submit the Proposed Construction Drawings to Landlord for review and approval by
Landlord. If Landlord has any comments with respect to the Proposed Construction Drawings, Landlord shall make such comments known to Tenant within
ten (10) business days following submission of such documents to Landlord. If Landlord fails to respond within ten (10) business days, Tenant may provide
Landlord a Deemed Consent Warning Notice (as such term is defined under Article 56 of this lease) and, if Landlord has still not responded to the subject
request within five (5) business days following proper delivery of the Deemed Consent Warning Notice, then such approval shall be deemed to have been
given, except that Landlord shall be deemed to have withheld its consent to any aspects of the proposed Tenant’s Initial Work that would be structural in
nature, be directly visible from outside the Premises or have a material impact upon the proper functioning of any Building system. If Landlord desires that
the Proposed Construction Drawings be modified in any reasonable manner, Landlord shall disclose the reasons that the Proposed Construction Drawings
were disapproved, including reasonably detailed recommendations as to specific changes which would make the Proposed Construction Drawings acceptable
to Landlord. Upon receipt of such notice of disapproval with such recommendations, if any, Landlord and Tenant shall meet in good faith to expeditiously
resolve any disagreements, and Tenant shall expeditiously



re-prepare and re-submit the Proposed Construction Drawings to Landlord. This process shall repeat until Landlord and Tenant agree upon the final version of
the Proposed Construction Drawings (the “Approved Construction Drawings”), as evidenced by Landlord and Tenant dating and signing four (4) copies
thereof, whereupon such final version of the Proposed Construction Drawings shall be deemed to be the Approved Construction Drawings hereunder.

(iv) While Tenant shall not be obligated to hire or engage RXR C&D, Landlord’s designated contractor, as general contractor or
construction manager with respect to the Tenant’s Initial Work, Tenant will provide RXR C&D with a full set of the bid package for the Tenant’s Initial Work,
which bid package shall be identical to (and provided at the same time as) the bid package provided to Tenant’s prospective general contractors or
construction managers, as applicable. If Tenant does not engage RXR C&D as general contractor or construction manager, as applicable, with respect to the
Tenant’s Initial Work (whether by choice of Tenant, RXR C&D or both), then Tenant shall be responsible for payment to Landlord or RXR C&D, as
designated by Landlord, of a construction inspection fee equal to $102,500.00 (the “TIW Inspection Fee”), which shall not become due and payable until the
Rent Commencement Date occurs. In imposing and accepting the TIW Inspection Fee, none of Landlord, RXR C&D or any of their respective principals,
agents, employees or contractors assumes any responsibility for the quality or manner in which the Tenant’s Initial Work is performed. The parties
acknowledge and agree that a $2,500.00 component of the TIW Inspection Fee is intended to compensate Landlord for any and all anticipated third party
costs for review and approval of the Proposed Construction Drawings, including without limitation MEP review. As such, Landlord shall not be entitled to
any distinct reimbursement for any out-of-pocket costs that may be incurred by Landlord in connection with plan review and approval with respect to the
Tenant’s Initial Work. Except for the TIW Inspection Fee, which is payable only in accordance with the terms hereof, neither Landlord nor any affiliate
thereof shall be entitled to any supervisory, construction, inspection or other fee in connection with the Tenant’s Initial Work.

(v) In connection with the performance of the Tenant’s Initial Work:

(a) Tenant will not directly or indirectly hire or engage for performance of any aspect of the Tenant’s Initial Work any
general contractor, construction manager, contractor or subcontractor (each a “Contractor”) unless such Contractor has been approved by Landlord. Prior to
such hiring or engagement, Tenant shall submit to Landlord, for review and approval, the name of each prospective Contractor for Landlord’s review and
approval and, if and to the extent so requested by Landlord after review of the name, a copy of Landlord’s contractor vetting form (which is a tailored-version
of ATA Form A-305), completed by the subject Contractor. If Landlord fails to respond within five (5) business days, Tenant may provide Landlord a Deemed
Consent Warning Notice (as such term is defined under Article 56 of this lease) and, if Landlord has still not responded to the subject request within five (5)
business days following proper delivery of the Deemed Consent Warning Notice, then such approval shall be deemed to have been given For convenience
purposes, Landlord has annexed hereto, as an Exhibit “2” to this lease, a list of contractors and subcontractors, which, as of the Effective Date, will be
deemed to have been pre-approved by Landlord for the performance of Tenant’s Initial Work or, as the case may be, work in the respective trade under which
the subject subcontractor’s name has been listed on Exhibit “2” (collectively, the “Pre-Approved Contractors”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, except for Pre-Approved Contractors, in no event shall Tenant be permitted to hire or engage for performance of any aspect of the Tenant’s
Initial Work any Contractor that is, or is an affiliate of, an owner of commercial office properties within a fifty (50) mile radius of New York City.

(b) Tenant agrees that it will not, either directly or indirectly, use any Contractors and/or labor and/or materials if the use
of such Contractors and/or labor and/or materials would or will create any material difficulty with other Contractors and/or labor engaged by Tenant or
Landlord or others in the construction, maintenance or operation of the Building or any part thereof;

(c) Prior to the commencement of the Tenant’s Initial Work, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s expense, (1) cause the Approved
Construction Drawings to be filed with the appropriate building department, and (2) make application for, and obtain, all governmental and quasi-
governmental permits, licenses and authorizations required for the performance of the Tenant’s Initial Work (collectively, “Permits”). Landlord will
reasonably cooperate



with Tenant, at no cost or expense to Landlord, in securing the Permits;

(d) Prior to the commencement of the Tenant’s Initial Work, Tenant shall furnish Landlord with (1) appropriate evidence
that each of Tenant’s Contractors maintain all liability insurance coverage reasonably required by Landlord (listing Landlord and Landlord’s designees as
additional insureds, as their interests may appear), it being acknowledged that Tenant’s Contractors delivery of evidence of liability insurance complying with
Article 27(A)(1)(i) hereof shall be deemed satisfactory to Landlord for the purposes hereof, (2) appropriate evidence that each of Tenant’s Contractors has
procured a workmen’s compensation insurance policy (in compliance with the laws of the State of New York) covering the activities of all persons
performing work at the Demised Premises, and (3) copies of all Permits;

(e)  Tenant shall ensure that the Tenant’s Initial Work is performed in compliance with Landlord’s reasonable rules,
regulations, guidelines and instructions for contractors performing work at the Building;

(f) Following satisfaction by Tenant and/or its Contractors, as applicable, of all requirements set forth in clauses (a)
through (e) of this Article 5(C)(v), Tenant’s Contractors shall be permitted access to the Demised Premises for the purpose of performing the Tenant’s Initial
Work. Tenant shall ensure that the Tenant’s Initial Work shall (1) be performed in a good and workmanlike manner, (2) be performed substantially in
accordance with the Approved Construction Drawings, and (3) at all times comply with all applicable laws, codes, rules, regulations, orders, requirements and
conditions of all governmental and quasi-governmental agencies, departments and bureaus having jurisdiction over the Building or the Tenant’s Initial Work
and all applicable rules and regulations of the Landlord;

(g) As soon as practicable upon completion of the Tenant’s Initial Work, Tenant shall obtain and deliver to Landlord (1)
all required certificates of occupancy, both temporary and permanent, for the entire Demised Premises, (2) paid receipts from all parties supplying labor or
materials with respect to any portion of the Tenant’s Initial Work, collectively evidencing payment in full for the performance of the Tenant’s Initial Work; (3)
waivers of mechanics’ liens from all contractors, subcontractors, and other professionals used in the performance of the Tenant’s Initial Work; and (4) a
signed certificate by Tenant’s architect, certifying that the Tenant’s Initial Work has been substantially completed in accordance with the Approved
Construction Drawings; and

(h) Tenant shall defend, indemnify and save harmless Landlord against any and all mechanics’ and other liens filed in
connection with the Tenant’s Initial Work, including the liens of any conditional sales of, or chattel mortgages upon, any materials, fixtures or articles so
installed in and constituting part of the Demised Premises and against any loss, cost, liability, claim, damage and expense, including reasonable counsel fees,
penalties and fines incurred in connection with any such lien, conditional sale or chattel mortgage or any action or proceeding brought thereon. If filed,
Tenant, at its expense, shall procure the satisfaction or discharge of all such liens, whether through bonding or otherwise, within thirty (30) days after receipt
of notice of such lien against the Demised Premises or the Building. If Tenant shall fail to cause such lien to be discharged within the aforesaid period, then,
in addition to any other right or remedy, Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, discharge the same either by paying the amount claimed to be due or by
procuring the discharge of such lien by deposit or by bonding proceedings, and in any such event Landlord shall be entitled, if Landlord so elects, to compel
the prosecution of an action for the foreclosure of such lien by the lienor and to pay the amount of the judgment in favor of the lienor with interest, costs and
allowances. Any amount so paid by Landlord, and all costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in connection therewith, together with interest thereon at the
maximum rate permitted by law from the respective dates of Landlord's making of the payments or incurring of the cost and expense, shall constitute
additional rent and shall be paid on demand. Nothing in this lease contained shall be construed in any way as constituting the consent or request of Landlord,
expressed or implied, to any contractor, subcontractor, laborer or materialman for the performance of any labor or the furnishing of any material for any
improvement, alteration or repair of the Demised Premises, nor as giving any right or authority to contract for the rendering of any services or the furnishing
of any materials that would give rise to the filing of any mechanics’ liens against the Demised Premises.



(i) Subject to the following provisions of this Article 5(C)(v)(i), the Tenant’s Initial Work shall be performed at Tenant’s
sole cost and expense. Provided that Tenant is not then in default under this lease (beyond any applicable notice and grace period provided in this lease for the
cure thereof), Landlord shall contribute up to a maximum of $1,065,400.00 toward the total costs of the Tenant’s Initial Work (“Landlord’s Contribution”).
Tenant acknowledges and agrees that Landlord shall be authorized to deduct from the Landlord’s Contribution the full amount of the TIW Inspection Fee and,
thereupon retain or pay same to RXR C&D. With respect to the balance of the Landlord’s Contribution, Tenant may, as the Tenant’s Initial Work progresses,
submit statements to Landlord from time to time, but not more often than once per month, setting forth the cost of those aspects of the Tenant’s Initial Work
which have been completed through the date of such statement (such statement to be prepared in accordance with standard progress payment application
forms issued by the American Institute of Architects [i.e., forms G-702 and G-703]). Each such statement shall be accompanied by a certificate from an
authorized officer of Tenant requesting reimbursement for sums paid or to be paid (such requested amount, the “Requested Landlord’s Contribution
Payment”) and certifying that: (1) the Requested Landlord’s Contribution Payment is on account of the Tenant’s Initial Work costs (“Open TIW Costs™) then
due and payable by Tenant or theretofore paid by Tenant (but on account of which no portion of the Landlord’s Contribution has previously been paid or
applied); and (2) the intended use thereof is for satisfaction of Open TIW Costs. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that the amount of each subject Requested
Landlord’s Contribution Payment must not exceed either (aa) the Allowance Share (hereinafter defined) of the subject Open TIW Costs, or (bb) when
aggregated with all prior payments and permitted deductions from the Landlord’s Contribution, the maximum Landlord’s Contribution amount. For purposes
of this Article 5(F), the “Allowance Share” shall be a percentage to be determined in accordance with the following formula: the maximum Landlord’s
Contribution amount divided by the total charge for the Tenant’s Initial Work, multiplied by 100. Within thirty (30) days following receipt of any such
statement and accompanying certificate, Landlord shall pay to Tenant (or to Tenant’s Contractor(s), if and as so directed by Tenant) an amount equal to ninety
(90%) percent of the subject Requested Landlord’s Contribution Payment. The ten (10%) percent portion of each Requested Landlord’s Contribution Payment
not so paid to Tenant (or Tenant’s Contractor(s), as applicable) shall be retained by Landlord subject to the following provisions of this Article 5(C)(v)(i) and
the total amount so retained shall hereinafter be collectively referred to as the “Retained Landlord’s Contribution”. Provided that Tenant is not then in default
under this lease (beyond any applicable notice and grace period provided in this lease for the cure thereof), Landlord shall pay to Tenant the entire Retained
Landlord’s Contribution within thirty (30) days following Landlord’s receipt of the last of the deliverables required of Tenant under Article 5(C)(v)(g) of this
lease. The right to receive reimbursement for the cost (or a portion thereof) of the Tenant’s Initial Work as set forth herein shall be the exclusive benefit of
Tenant; it being the express intent of the parties hereto that in no event shall such right be conferred upon or for the benefit of any third party, including
without limitation, any Contractor materialman, laborer, architect, engineer, attorney or any other person, firm or entity.

(G) If Landlord shall fail to pay to Tenant any installment of the Landlord’s Contribution within thirty (30) days after same becomes due
and payable pursuant to the applicable provisions of this Article 5, then, subject to the following provisions of this Article 5(C)(v)(j) regarding a dispute
thereof by Landlord, Tenant shall have the right to deduct the amount owed as an offset from the installment(s) of Rent (but not additional rent) next
becoming due and payable by Tenant under this lease (after giving effect to any free rent or rent credit period afforded Tenant hereunder). Notwithstanding
the foregoing, however, if Landlord shall dispute the amount of Tenant’s claim or the fact that same has become due and payable to Tenant pursuant to the
provisions of this Article 5, then Landlord shall give Tenant written notice specifying in reasonable detail the basis for its dispute, and in such event, Tenant
may not invoke any such offset rights unless and until Tenant has obtained a final, non-appealable judgment from a Court of competent jurisdiction for such
unpaid Landlord’s Contribution and Landlord shall have failed to pay the amount of the judgment within fifteen (15) days of same having become final and
non-appealable (it being acknowledged and agreed that, in such event, the amount to be offset shall be limited to the amount of the final, non-appealable
judgment).

(D) Landlord, at no cost or expense to Tenant, will perform or cause Landlord’s designated contractor to perform power washing of the
exterior Building facade within four (4) months following the Effective Date of this lease.



SERVICES

6. (A) Aslong as Tenant is not in default under any covenants of this lease beyond the expiration of any applicable notice and grace period,
Landlord shall furnish the Demised Premises with heat and air-conditioning (in the respective seasons) and provide the Demised Premises with electricity for
lighting and usual office equipment; all subject to and in accordance with the terms of Schedule “B” annexed hereto.

(B) Also as long as Tenant is not in default under any covenants of this lease beyond the expiration of any applicable notice and grace
period, Landlord shall (i) provide cleaning and maintenance service in accordance with the terms of Schedule “A” annexed hereto (including, without
limitation, exterior window-cleaning service at least twice per year); (ii) passenger elevator service through not less than four (4) elevators during normal
business hours (and with at least one (1) passenger elevator in operation at all times, except in the event of an emergency); and (iii) men’s and women’s
restrooms on each floor of the Building with hot and cold water. In addition, Landlord shall initially continue to provide 24/7 guard service at the Building in
a manner substantially consistent with Landlord’s current procedures; provided, however, that Landlord reserves the right to modify or eliminate such service,
from time to time throughout the Term of this lease, if such modification or elimination is in keeping with the then current practices of other owners and
operators of Class “A” office properties in Westchester County, New York.

(C) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, Landlord shall not charge Tenant or Tenant’s Contractors for any utility
costs, base Building HVAC costs or charges for any Building service (including use of the freight elevator, and the like) to the Premises during the
construction of Tenant’s Initial Work and/or Tenant’s move-in to the Premises and hereby grants to Tenant and its Contractors the right to utilize the services
underlying such costs as necessary and required in connection with the Tenant's Initial Work in the Premises, it being acknowledged by Tenant that (i) the
provision of such services are subject to the rules and regulations promulgated by Landlord and to intermittent interruptions for reasons outside of Landlord’s
control (provided that Landlord agrees to use reasonable efforts to minimize the extent of any such interruptions and to respond promptly to any requests by
Tenant or Tenant’s Contractors to restore the interrupted service in question), and (ii) the means of distribution of such utility and base Building HVAC
services throughout the Premises shall have been materially limited by performance of the Demo Work in accordance with the Approved Demo Plan.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, whether or not the Tenant’s Initial Work and/or move-in to the Premises has been completed by the Rent Commencement
Date, Tenant’s obligation to pay for energy services to the Premises, subject to and in accordance with Schedule “B” to this Lease, shall commence as of the
Rent Commencement Date.

LANDLORD’S REPAIRS

7. Landlord, at its expense (except as otherwise set forth below in this Article 7 and except as otherwise provided in Article 12 of this lease), will
make or cause its designated contractor to make all necessary repairs and replacements to, and provide the maintenance (as set forth in Schedule “A”) for, the
Demised Premises (excluding painting and decorating) and all exterior and structural portions of the Building (including the structural portions of the
Demised Premises), all common areas and public areas and facilities of the Building and the Real Property, including an obligation to maintain the base
Building plumbing, electrical, heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems in working order and in compliance with all applicable laws. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained herein, but expressly subject to Article 27(C) of this lease, Tenant shall directly reimburse Landlord for the cost of any
such item of repair or maintenance if and to the extent the subject item of repair or maintenance was necessitated (i) by the negligence, improper care or
improper use (but not ordinary wear and tear) of the Demised Premises or the common areas and facilities by Tenant or any of Tenant’s Related Parties; (ii)
by the design of, the quality of materials used in connection with, or the performance or installation of any aspect of the Tenant’s Initial Work or any
subsequent



Alterations (hereinafter defined) installed or constructed by or on behalf of Tenant (provided, in any such case, Tenant or parties acting by, through or under
Tenant were responsible for such design and/or choosing such materials and/or such performance or installation); (iii) with respect to any Specialty Alteration
(hereinafter defined) made by or on behalf of Tenant; or (iv) any item of Tenant’s Property (hereinafter defined).

(B) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, if there exists the need for a repair in the Demised Premises for
which Landlord is responsible hereunder, and Landlord has failed to either (i) commence and diligently pursue the completion of such repair or (ii) deliver
written notice to Tenant disputing the necessity of, or Landlord’s responsibility for, the subject repair (either such action being herein referred to as a
“Landlord Repair Response”), within twenty (20) days following written notice thereof by Tenant, then Tenant may deliver a five (5) business day notice of
Tenant’s intention to arrange for the performance of the subject repair for the account of Landlord. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the nature of the subject
repair is such that it cannot be reasonable completed within such period, Landlord shall have such additional time as is necessary provided Landlord is
diligently pursuing the completion of such repair. If there has still not occurred a Landlord Repair Response by the expiration of the aforementioned five (5)
business day period, then Tenant may arrange for the performance of the subject repair and Landlord shall promptly reimburse Tenant for the reasonable, out-
of-pocket expenses incurred by Tenant in connection therewith. However, Tenant acknowledges and agrees that (a) the exercise by Tenant of the foregoing
self-help right shall be limited to the boundaries of the Demised Premises only, and (b) if any aspect(s) of the repair or restoration work would affect, touch or
concern the Building systems, then Tenant shall only engage a subcontractor(s) approved by Landlord for the performance of the subject work. If Landlord
shall fail to pay to Tenant any amount to be reimbursed to Tenant pursuant to this Article 7(B) within thirty (30) days after written demand therefor by Tenant
(accompanied by reasonable documentary evidence of the expenses so incurred), then, subject to the following provisions of this Article 7(B) regarding a
dispute thereof by Landlord, Tenant shall have the right to deduct the amount owed as an offset from the installment(s) of Rent (but not additional rent) next
becoming due and payable by Tenant under this Lease. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, if Landlord shall dispute the amount of Tenant’s claim or the
fact that same has become due and payable to Tenant pursuant to the provisions of this Article 7(B), then Landlord shall give Tenant written notice specifying
in reasonable detail the basis for its dispute, and in such event, Tenant may not invoke any such offset rights unless and until Tenant has obtained a final, non-
appealable judgment from a Court of competent jurisdiction for the subject unpaid reimbursement and Landlord shall have failed to pay the amount of the
judgment within fifteen (15) days of same having become final and non-appealable (it being acknowledged and agreed that, in such event, the amount to be
offset shall be limited to the amount of the final, non-appealable judgment).

WATER SUPPLY

8. Landlord, at its expense, shall furnish hot and cold or tempered water for lavatory and pantry purposes only.

PARKING FIELD

9. Tenant shall have the irrevocable (during the Term) right to use, at no cost or charge to Tenant, a number of parking spaces in the Building
Parking Area for the parking of automobiles of Tenant, its employees and invitees; such number to equal the greater of (i) Tenant’s Proportionate Share of all
parking spaces in the Building Parking Area, or (ii) four (4) parking spaces per 1,000 square feet of rentable area of the Demised Premises. As used herein,
the term “Building Parking Area” shall be deemed to mean and refer to the parking area on the Real Property designated for tenants of the Building. Use of
the Building Parking Area shall be subject to the Rules and Regulations now or hereafter adopted by Landlord. Tenant shall not use nor permit any of its
officers, agents or employees to use any parking spaces in excess of Tenant’s allotted number of spaces therein, provided that, subject to availability, Landlord
will reasonably cooperate with Tenant should Tenant require the use of spaces in the Building Parking Area in excess



of those allotted.

DIRECTORY

10. Landlord will furnish on the building directories listings requested by Tenant, however, the total number of lines on the building directories
devoted to Tenant’s listings shall not exceed Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the total number of lines on the building directories devoted to all tenants of the
Building; provided, however, that if the main directory of the Building is a computer database directory, then Tenant shall have the right to any reasonable
number of listings requested by Tenant. The initial listings will be made at Landlord’s expense and any subsequent changes by Tenant shall be made at
Tenant’s expense. Landlord’s acceptance of any name for listing on the directory will not be deemed, nor will it substitute for, Landlord’s consent, as required
by this lease, to any sublease, assignment or other occupancy of the Premises.

TAXES AND OTHER CHARGES

11. (A) Asused in and for the purposes of this Article 11, the following definitions shall apply:

@) “Taxes” shall be the real estate taxes, assessments, special or otherwise, sewer rents, rates and charges, and any other
governmental charges, general, specific, ordinary or extraordinary, presently existing or created hereafter, foreseen or unforeseen, and any personal property
taxes imposed upon the fixtures, machinery, equipment, apparatus, systems and appurtenances owned by Landlord and located in, upon or used exclusively in
connection with the Real Property for the operation thereof, which on the basis of any calendar year or fiscal year may be assessed, levied, confirmed,
imposed upon, or become due and payable out of, or become a lien against the Real Property. If at any time during the Term the method of taxation prevailing
at the date hereof shall be altered so that there shall be levied, assessed or imposed in lieu of, or as in addition to, or as a substitute for, the whole or any part
of the taxes, levies, impositions or charges now levied, assessed or imposed on all or any part of the Real Property (a) a tax, assessment, levy, imposition or
charge based upon the rents received by Landlord, whether or not wholly or partially as a capital levy or otherwise, or (b) a tax, assessment, levy, imposition
or charge measured by or based in whole or in part upon all or any part of the Real Property and imposed on Landlord, or (c) a license fee measured by the
rent payable by Tenant to Landlord, or (d) any other tax, levy, imposition, charge or license fee however described or imposed; then all such taxes, levies,
impositions, charges or license fees or any part thereof, so measured or based, shall be deemed to be Taxes. Except as provided in the preceding sentence,
Taxes shall not include any inheritance, estate, gift, franchise, corporation, net income or net profits tax assessed against Landlord from the operation of the
Building. In addition, notwithstanding the foregoing, any special assessments which are permitted by the applicable governing authority to be paid in
installments, shall be deemed paid by Landlord in the maximum number of permissible installments and only the minimum required annual installment may
be included in Taxes during any calendar year.

(ii) “Base Year Taxes” shall mean (x) with respect to Taxes imposed on a fiscal year basis, the Taxes actually due and payable
with respect to the 2012/2013 fiscal tax year, as finally determined, and (y) with respect to Taxes imposed on a calendar year basis, the Taxes actually due and
payable with respect to the 2012 calendar year, as finally determined.

(iii) “Tax Escalation Year” shall mean (x) with respect to Taxes imposed on a fiscal year basis, any fiscal tax year following the
2012/2013 fiscal tax year which shall include any part of the Term, and (y) with respect to Taxes imposed on a calendar year basis, any calendar year after the

2012 calendar year which shall include any part of the Term.

(iv) “Real Property” shall be the land upon which the Building stands and any part or



parts thereof utilized for parking, landscaped areas or otherwise used in connection with the Building, and the Building and other improvements appurtenant
thereto.

(B) Tenant shall pay Landlord increases in Taxes levied against the Real Property as follows: If the Taxes actually due and payable with
respect to the Real Property in any Tax Escalation Year shall be increased above the Base Year Taxes, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as additional rent for
such Tax Escalation Year, a sum equal to Tenant’s Proportionate Share of said increase (“Tenant’s Tax Payment” or “Tax Payment”), which Tax Payment shall
be equitably prorated for any partial Tax Escalation Years occurring during the Term.

(C) Landlord shall render to Tenant a statement containing a computation of Tenant’s Tax Payment, which statement shall take into
account the aggregate amount of Tenant’s estimated payments made on account of Tenant’s Tax Payment during such year, if applicable (“Landlord’s
Statement”). Within fifteen (15) days after the rendition of the Landlord’s Statement, subject to Tenant’s audit and dispute rights set forth below, Tenant shall
pay to Landlord the amount of Tenant’s Tax Payment (net of any amounts theretofore paid by Tenant on account of the subject Tenant’s Tax Payment). On the
first day of each month following the rendition of each Landlord’s Statement, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, on account of Tenant’s next Tax Payment, a sum
equal to one-twelfth (1/12th) of Tenant’s last Tax Payment due hereunder (after all true-ups and reconciliations have been finally determined), which sum
shall be subject to adjustment for subsequent increases in Taxes. Upon Landlord receiving notice of a subsequent increase in Taxes, Landlord shall have the
right to increase the monthly installments of Tenant’s Tax Payment then due from Tenant by an amount sufficient to compensate Landlord for any previous
deficiencies in installments and thereafter the monthly installments shall be increased on a pro rata basis so that installments due from Tenant shall be such as
to be sufficient to fully pay Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the respective Taxes at least one month prior to the due date of such Taxes.

(D) Landlord shall endeavor to provide a Landlord’s Statement within ninety (90) days after the end of each applicable Tax Escalation
Year and, in any event, shall be obligated to deliver such statement within one hundred eighty (180) days after the end of the Tax Escalation Year to which
such statement corresponds. However, Landlord’s failure to render a Landlord’s Statement with respect to any Tax Escalation Year shall not prejudice
Landlord’s right to render a Landlord’s Statement with respect to any future Tax Escalation Year. The obligations of Tenant under the provisions of this
Article with respect to any additional rent for any Tax Escalation Year shall survive the expiration or any sooner termination of the Term so long as Landlord
delivers the Landlord’s Statement within the time period required herein, it being acknowledged and agreed by Landlord that, subject to the immediately
following sentence, if Landlord fails to deliver a Landlord’s Statement within one hundred eighty (180) days after the end of the Tax Escalation Year to which
such statement corresponds, Landlord shall forfeit the right to require Tenant to make any additional payments above and beyond the Tenant’s Tax Payment
previously made for that particular Tax Escalation Year. Nothing contained herein shall be construed as to prohibit or restrict (i) Tenant from bringing a claim
to recover any alleged overpayment of its share of Taxes with respect to any Tax Escalation Year for which Landlord failed to timely (i.e., within the one
hundred eighty (180) day period referenced above) deliver a Landlord’s Statement or (ii) Landlord from issuing a reconciliation Landlord’s Statement within
one hundred eighty (180) days following the settlement or other resolution of any tax contest or tax certiorari proceeding affecting Taxes for any tax period
included within the Term.

(E) Tenant shall not, without Landlord’s prior written consent, institute or maintain any action, proceeding or application in any court or
body or with any governmental authority for the purpose of changing the Taxes. If the Taxes for any tax period upon which Base Year Taxes were calculated
(any such tax period being herein referred to as a “Base Year”), and/or for any Tax Escalation Year on account of which Tenant has previously paid the
corresponding Tenant’s Tax Payment, are modified by final determination of legal proceedings, settlement or otherwise, then the Tenant’s Tax Payment either
for all prior Tax Escalation Years (if any Base Year is affected) or only the affected Tax Escalation Year (s) (if no Base Year is affected) shall be recalculated
so as to account for the subject modification; it being acknowledged and agreed that, in so recalculating Tenant’s Tax Payment for any Tax Escalation Year,
Landlord shall be entitled to include in the recalculation of Taxes for that Tax Escalation Year an allocable portion of the reasonable legal fees and expenses
incurred by Landlord in connection with the subject proceedings, but only to the extent of the tax savings achieved through such proceedings. If, as a result of
such recalculation, the revised Tenant’s Tax Payment applicable to a subject Tax Escalation Year is less than the Tenant’s Tax Payment actually theretofore
paid by Tenant



with respect to that Tax Escalation Year, then Landlord shall pay or credit to Tenant the entire amount of such difference. However, if, as a result of such
recalculation, the revised Tenant’s Tax Payment applicable to a subject Tax Escalation Year is greater than the Tenant’s Tax Payment actually theretofore paid
by Tenant with respect to that Tax Escalation Year, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as additional rent, the entire amount of such difference within thirty
(30) days following written demand therefor.

(F)  Upon request therefor by Tenant, Landlord shall provide Tenant with a copy of any applicable tax bill with respect to the Real
Property. If Tenant disputes Landlord’s calculation of then current Tenant’s Tax Payment, then Landlord and Tenant shall reasonably cooperate and coordinate
with each other in a good faith effort to resolve the subject dispute; failing such resolution within the ninety (90) day period specified in Article 12(F) below,
the dispute shall be resolved by a Third Party CPA in a manner consistent with the procedures set forth in the last three sentences of said Article 12(F).

OPERATING COST INCREASES

12. (A) For purposes of this lease, the terms “Operating Costs” and “Base Operating Costs” shall be defined as follows:

(i) The term “Operating Costs” shall mean and include the aggregate of all those expenses, adjusted for ninety-five (95%)
percent occupancy, to the extent incurred in respect to the operation and maintenance (whether structural or non-structural, and whether capital or non-capital
in nature [but only to the limited extent permitted below in this Article 12(A)(i)]) of the Real Property in accordance with accepted principles of sound
management and accounting practices as applied to the operation and maintenance of non-institutional first class office properties, including any and all of the
following: salaries, wages, hospitalization, medical, surgical and general welfare benefits (including group life insurance), pension payments, payroll taxes
and workmen’s compensation of and respecting employees of Landlord engaged in the operation and maintenance of the Real Property (including, among
others, that of the Real Property or Building manager and such manager’s administrative staff); all insurance carried by Landlord applicable to the Real
Property (including, without limitation, primary and excess liability, vehicle insurance, fire and extended coverage, vandalism and all broad form coverage,
riot, strike and war risk insurance, flood insurance, boiler insurance, plate glass insurance, rent insurance and sign insurance); management fees not exceeding
3% of gross revenues; maintenance and repairs of grounds (including, without limitation, all landscaping, statuary, exhibits, displays, walks, parking and other
vehicle ways and areas and common areas), underground conduits, pipes, line equipment and systems; repaving, resurfacing and painting (including line
painting); removal of snow, ice, trash, garbage and other refuse; public light and power, steam, fuel (including oil and/or gas used to heat the Building), utility
taxes and water and sewer rental; cleaning, cleaning supplies, uniforms and dry cleaning, and window cleaning; legal expenses (other than those for
preparation of this and other leases) and accounting fees; taxes (including, without limitation, sales and use taxes); service contracts, energy providers and/or
consultants, security systems and security personnel, and traffic systems and traffic personnel; telephone, telegraph and stationery; and all other customary
expenses paid in connection with the operation of the Real Property. The reasonableness of the amount of any expense actually incurred by Landlord shall not
be subject to dispute by Tenant so long as (i) the subject expense is properly includable within Operating Costs; and (ii) the expense was paid to an
unaffiliated third party in an arms length transaction.

Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything in this Lease to the contrary, Operating Costs shall not include: (1) expenses
for repairs or other work occasioned by fire or other insured casualty; (2) expenses incurred in connection with leasing and procuring new tenants; (3) interest
or amortization payments on any mortgage or mortgages, and rental under any ground or underlying leases; (4) wages, salaries or other compensation paid to
any



executive employee of Landlord above the grade of Real Property or Building manager; and/or (5) expenditures that would be considered capital expenditures
under generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied (excluding only Savings Capital Costs [as such term is hereinafter defined]), (6) the costs
of special services and utilities separately charged to particular tenants of the Building; (7) the cost of installing, operating and maintaining any specialty
service, such as an observatory, broadcasting facility, luncheon club, restaurant, cafeteria, retail store, sundry shop, newsstand, or concession, but only to the
extent such costs exceed those which would normally be expected to be incurred had such space been general office space; (8) the cost of any items for which
Landlord is reimbursed by insurance, condemnation or warranties (but only to the extent of the reimbursement); (9) the cost of any tenant improvement work,
additions, improvements, changes, replacements and other items made for any new or existing tenant (excluding maintenance and repair); (10) the cost of
repairs incurred by reason of fire or other casualty, except to the extent of a commercially reasonable deductible, and the cost of any repair or restoration
following a condemnation; (11) any advertising and promotional expenses incurred in connection with the marketing of any rentable space; (12) any expenses
for repairs or maintenance which are covered by warranties and service contracts, to the extent such maintenance and repairs are made at no cost to Landlord
(Landlord agreeing to use commercially reasonable efforts to enforce and collect under any such warranties and services contracts); (13) legal and accounting
expenses arising out of the construction of the improvements on the Land or the enforcement or negotiation of the provisions of any lease affecting the Real
Property or Building, including without limitation this Lease, or relating to the sale, financing or refinancing of the Building or Real Property; (14) costs of
environmental remediation, including the remediation of any soils or ground water or the removal of any underground storage tanks from the Real Property
with respect to Hazardous Materials; (15) fines, penalties and interest assessed by a court or governmental agency to the extent such fines and penalties are
based on Landlord’s violation of law or negligence in failing to perform an act or pay an amount due; (16) political contributions and dues or other
contributions paid to trade associations, professional associations or the like; (17) any costs incurred in connection with the design, construction and
development of the Building or incurred in connection with any alterations, additions or renovations to the Building; (18) any costs of providing services to
any tenant of the Building to the extent such services are materially in excess of the services to which Tenant is entitled under this Lease; (19) rentals and
other expenses incurred in leasing air conditioning systems, elevators or other equipment for the Building which would ordinarily be considered to be capital
in nature; (20) any costs paid for services, materials or otherwise to a person, firm or entity related in any way to Landlord or any of its partners, affiliates, or
members, to the extent such amount exceeds the amount that would be paid for such services, materials or other items at then existing market rates; (21) costs
of acquiring or maintaining any art work for the Building; (22) any costs incurred by Landlord to cure current non-compliance with laws, ordinances or other
governmental requirement in effect and applicable to the Building and Real Property as of the date hereof; and (23) costs of premiums or deductibles under
any insurance coverage of a type not customarily maintained by owners or operators of Class “A” office buildings in Westchester County, New York.

If Landlord shall purchase any item of capital equipment or make any capital expenditure intended to result in savings or
reductions in Operating Costs and which Landlord reasonably believes shall provide Tenant with the benefit of a savings or reduction in such Operating Costs
based upon the advice of Landlord’s consultants (such capital costs and expenditures hereinafter called “Savings Capital Costs”), then the cost for same shall
be included in Operating Costs, to the extent hereinafter set forth. Landlord shall deliver to Tenant, promptly following Tenant’s request, a copy of any
concluded studies conducted by Landlord which show anticipated savings or reductions in Operating Costs as a result of any planned Savings Capital Cost.
Savings Capital Costs shall be included in Operating Costs in the year in which the costs are incurred and in any subsequent years, on a straight-line basis,
amortized over the useful life of such items. If any such Savings Capital Cost shall result from the lease by Landlord of capital equipment designed to result
in savings or reductions in any Operating Costs, then the rentals and other costs paid pursuant to such leasing shall be included in Operating Costs for the year
in which they were incurred. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in no event shall the total Savings Capital Costs included in
Operating Costs during the useful life of the subject capital item exceed the aggregate amount of actual savings in Operating Costs realized as a result of such
capital item during the same period.

(i) The term “Base Operating Costs” shall mean the Operating Costs for the calendar year ending December 31, 2013 (whether
or not retroactively determined).



(iii) The term “Escalation Year” shall mean any calendar year following calendar year 2013 that shall include any part of the
Term.

(B) Tenant shall pay to Landlord increases in Operating Costs as follows: If the Operating Costs actually incurred by Landlord in any
Escalation Year shall exceed the Base Operating Costs, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as additional rent for said Escalation Year, a sum equal to Tenant’s
Proportionate Share of the difference between said Operating Costs and the Base Operating Costs (“Tenant’s Cost Payment” or “Cost Payment”), which Cost
Payment shall be equitably prorated for any partial Escalation Year occurring during the Term.

(C) Landlord shall render to Tenant a statement containing a computation of Tenant’s Cost Payment (“Landlord’s Cost Statement”) with
respect to each Escalation Year occurring in whole or part during the Term of this lease. Within fifteen (15) days after rendition of Landlord’s Cost Statement
relating to the first Escalation Year, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as additional rent, the full amount of Tenant’s Cost Payment shown thereon. In addition, on
the first day of each month following the rendition of each Landlord’s Cost Statement, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, on account of Tenant’s next Cost
Payment, a sum equal to one-twelfth (1/12th) of Tenant’s last Cost Payment due hereunder, which sum shall be subject to adjustment for subsequent increases
in Operating Costs.

(D) All Landlord’s Cost Statements shall include the following amounts with respect to the Escalation Year to which they apply: (i) the
total Operating Costs incurred by Landlord during the Escalation Year in question; (ii) Tenant’s Cost Payment for such Escalation Year; (iii) all amounts paid
by Tenant during such Escalation Year on account of the subject Cost Payment; and (iv) the amount of the difference, if any, between Cost Payment for such
Escalation Year and the amounts paid by Tenant during such Escalation Year on account of the subject Cost Payment. Within fifteen (15) days after the
rendition of such Landlord’s Cost Statement, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as additional rent, the amount of the difference referred to in (iv) above, if any. In
addition, together with such payment, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, for each month that has transpired since the commencement of the current Escalation
Year and the rendition of the subject Landlord’s Cost Statement, the difference between one-twelfth (1/12th) of the Cost Payment shown on such statements
and the monthly payments toward Tenant’s Cost Payment made by Tenant for the prior months of such current Escalation Year. In addition, on the first day of
each month following the rendition of the subject Landlord’s Cost Statement, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, on account of the next Tenant’s Cost Payment,
one-twelfth (1/12th) of the Cost Payment shown on the subject Landlord’s Cost Statement. In the event the amounts paid by Tenant during any Escalation
Year on account of the subject Cost Payment exceed the amount of the Cost Payment, Landlord shall refund or credit (except to the extent any such credit is
insufficient to fully reimburse Tenant for the amount of such excess [i.e., such credit is not fully exhausted by the end of the Term], in which case Landlord
shall pay) to Tenant such overcharge within fifteen (15) days after rendition of the Landlord’s Cost Statement.

(E) Landlord shall endeavor to provide a Landlord’s Statement within ninety (90) days after the end of each applicable Escalation Year
and, in any event, shall be obligated to deliver such statement within one (1) year after the end of the Escalation Year to which such statements corresponds.
However, Landlord’s failure to render a Landlord’s Cost Statement with respect to any Escalation Year shall not prejudice Landlord’s right to render a
Landlord’s Cost Statement with respect to any future Escalation Year. The obligations of Tenant under the provisions of this Article with respect to any
additional rent for any Escalation Year shall survive the expiration or any sooner termination of the Term so long as Landlord delivers the Landlord’s
Statement within the time period required herein, it being acknowledged and agreed by Landlord that, if Landlord fails to deliver a Landlord’s Cost Statement
within one (1) year after the end of the Escalation Year to which such statement corresponds, Landlord shall forfeit the right to require Tenant to make any
additional payments above and beyond the Tenant’s Cost Payment previously made for that particular Escalation Year. Nothing contained herein shall be
construed as to prohibit or restrict Tenant from bringing a claim to recover any alleged overpayment of its share of Operating Cost payments with respect to
any Escalation Year for which Landlord fails to timely (i.e., within the one year period referenced above) deliver a Landlord’s Cost Statement.

(F) Landlord shall keep reasonably detailed records of Operating Costs for all periods covered



by any Landlord’s Cost Statement. Tenant shall have the right to audit the amount of Tenant’s Cost Payment charged by Landlord for any Escalation Year,
provided such audit is performed in accordance with each of the following requirements: (i) Tenant shall have made timely payment of such Tenant’s Cost
Payment; (ii) Tenant has delivered written objection to Landlord as to the amount of the subject Tenant’s Cost Payment (and of Tenant’s intent to exercise its
audit right hereunder) within ninety (90) days of Tenant having received the subject Landlord’s Cost Statement; (iii) such audit shall be performed by a
reputable firm of certified public accountants engaged by Tenant on a fee-paid basis (as opposed to a contingency fee basis); (iv) the accounting firm engaged
by Tenant must execute and deliver to Landlord an undertaking, whereby such accounting firm (a) covenants not to disclose to any person or entity (other
than Tenant) any information received by or made available to such accounting firm in connection with the audit except in connection with any dispute
between Tenant and Landlord arising out of Operating Costs and (b) agrees not to solicit or accept engagement by other tenants of the Building for the
purpose of performing an audit on their behalf; (v) such audit is performed during regular business hours, upon prior appointment with Landlord and at
Landlord’s record-keeping office; (vi) while Tenant’s auditor shall be permitted to review the applicable books and records at Landlord’s record-keeping
office, no copies may be made, nor may any such books or records be removed from such record-keeping office; and (vii) such audit is completed within one
hundred eighty (180) days following Tenant having received the subject Landlord’s Cost Statement. Upon presentment by Tenant of written documentation
(in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Landlord) of an overcharge by Landlord, Landlord shall promptly make all proper adjustments in the form of
a credit or reimbursement to Tenant. Tenant agrees to pay the cost of such certification and the investigation with respect thereto unless it is determined that
the Operating Costs stated in Landlord’s Cost Statement were overstated in Landlord's favor by five percent (5%) or more, in which case Landlord shall pay
the reasonable cost of same (to a maximum of $2,500). Tenant waives the right to dispute or contest, and shall have no right to dispute or contest, any matter
relating to the calculation of Operating Charges (and waives the right to inspect Landlord’s records with respect thereto) with respect to each calendar year for
which Landlord’s Cost Statement is given to Tenant if no claim or dispute with respect thereto is asserted by Tenant in writing to Landlord within ninety (90)
days of delivery to Tenant of the original or most recent Landlord’s Cost Statement with respect thereto; provided, however, if any such audit reveals that a
particular item included in Operating Costs was overstated by 5% or more, Tenant shall be entitled to re-examine Landlord’s books and records for the three
(3) preceding calendar years with respect to that item only and to dispute any overstatement with respect to that item within such three (3) previous calendar
years. In the event of a dispute between the parties as to the results of Tenant’s audit, Landlord and Tenant shall use good faith efforts to achieve a mutually-
acceptable resolution of that dispute. If the parties do not have a mutual agreement as to the results of Tenant’s audit within ninety (90) days following
Landlord’s receipt of the final audit report, then the parties shall mutually agree upon a reputable, qualified, experienced certified public accounting firm who
has not represented either Landlord or Tenant (“Third Party CPA”) to resolve the dispute. If the parties are unable to agree on a Third Party CPA, the parties
will ask the Westchester County, New York Chapter of the American Arbitration Association to designate an appropriate Third Party CPA. Upon mutual
agreement on a Third Party CPA or designation of the Third Party CPA, Landlord and Tenant shall, within ten (10) business days thereafter, submit all
materials they believe are appropriate to such Third Party CPA and the Third Party CPA shall, within thirty (30) days following its receipt of such materials,
resolve the dispute. The determination of such Third Party CPA (so long as such determination is no greater than the subject amount set forth in the
Landlord’s Cost Statement and no less than the subject amount resulting from Tenant’s audit) shall be final and binding upon both Landlord and Tenant and
may not be challenged in any court or otherwise.

TENANT’S REPAIRS

13. Tenant shall take good care of the Demised Premises and, subject to the provisions of Article 7 hereof, Landlord or its designated contractor, at
the expense of Tenant, shall make as and when needed as a result of misuse or neglect by Tenant or Tenant’s servants, employees, agents or licensees, all
repairs in and about the Demised Premises necessary to preserve them in good order and condition. Notwithstanding anything contained to the contrary in this
Lease, in the event that, at any time, a supplemental air conditioning unit or units service the Demised Premises, Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense,
maintain, repair and replace, as necessary, such supplemental air conditioning unit or units (and all of the components thereof). Accordingly, Tenant shall at
all times obtain and keep in full force and



effect for the benefit of Landlord and Tenant with Landlord’s Building heating, ventilating and air conditioning contractor, a service repair and maintenance
contract with respect to any such supplemental systems and components. A copy of such contract and each renewal thereof shall upon issuance and thereafter
not later than ten (10) days prior to expiration be furnished to Landlord together with evidence of payment therefor. Except as provided in Article 26 and
Article 38 hereof, there shall be no allowance to Tenant for a diminution of rental value and no liability on the part of Landlord by reason of inconvenience,
annoyance or injury to business arising from Landlord, Tenant or others making any repairs, alterations, additions or improvements in or to any portion of the
Building or of Demised Premises, or in or to the fixtures, appurtenances or equipment thereof, and no liability upon Landlord for failure of Landlord or others
to make any repairs, alterations, additions or improvements in or to any portion of the Building or of the Demised Premises, or in or to the fixtures,
appurtenances or equipment thereof.

FIXTURES & INSTALLATIONS

14. All appurtenances, fixtures, improvements, additions and other property attached to or built into the Demised Premises, whether by Landlord or
Tenant or others, and whether at Landlord’s expense, or Tenant’s expense, or the joint expense of Landlord and Tenant, shall be and remain the property of
Landlord. All trade fixtures, furniture, furnishings and other articles of movable personal property owned by Tenant and located within the Premises
(collectively, “Tenant’s Property”) may be removed from the Premises by Tenant at any time during the Term. The respective obligations and entitlements of
the parties with respect to the removal or restoration of Specialty Alterations are addressed in Article 17(A) of this lease. However, nothing contained in this
lease shall be construed as to obligate Tenant to remove from the Demised Premises at the end of the Term of this lease any customary data or
telecommunications wiring and cabling installed within or about the Demised Premises by or on behalf of Tenant. Tenant, before so removing Tenant’s
Property (or other property that Tenant may be required to remove hereunder), shall establish to Landlord’s satisfaction that no structural damage or change
will result from such removal and that Tenant can and promptly will repair and restore any damage caused by such removal without cost or charge to
Landlord. Any repair made necessary as a result of such removal shall itself be deemed an Alteration (as defined in Article 15 below) within the purview of
this lease. Any Tenant’s Property for which Landlord shall have granted any allowance, contribution or credit to Tenant shall, at Landlord’s option, not be so
removed. All the outside walls of the Demised Premises including corridor walls and the outside entrance doors to the Demised Premises, any balconies,
terraces or roofs adjacent to the Demised Premises, and any space in the Demised Premises used for shafts, stacks, pipes, conduits, ducts, utility closets, or
other building facilities, and the use thereof, as well as access thereto in and through the Demised Premises for the purpose of operation, maintenance,
decoration and repair, are expressly reserved to Landlord, and Landlord does not convey any rights to Tenant therein, except as expressly set forth herein,
including Schedule “B” hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall enjoy full right of access to the Demised Premises through the public entrances,
public corridors and public areas within the Building.

ALTERATIONS

15. (A) (i) Following completion of the Tenant’s Initial Work, Tenant shall make no alterations, decorations, installations, additions or
improvements (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Alterations™) in or to the Demised Premises, except in compliance with the requirements of this Article
15. Tenant may make written request to Landlord that certain Alterations be made to the Demised Premises, but all such Alterations shall be performed, if at
all, (a) in the sole and absolute discretion of Landlord (provided that Landlord shall exercise such discretion reasonably with respect to any proposed
Alteration that is non-structural in nature, would not have any material adverse impact on any Building system and is wholly-contained within (and not visible
from outside) the Demised Premises), and (b) at the sole cost and expense of Tenant. The conditions, restrictions and requirements set forth in Article 5(C) of
this lease with respect to performance of the Tenant’s Initial Work shall apply mutatis mutandis with respect to the approval and performance of any
Alteration permitted to be performed by or on behalf of Tenant in or to the Demised Premises,



except that (1) the construction inspection fee shall be calculated at five (5%) percent of the cost of the subject Alteration (specifically excluding the cost of
any aspect of the subject Alteration that is purely cosmetic in nature [i.e., floor coverings, wall coverings and decorations], with respect to which there shall
be no construction inspection fee), and (2) Landlord shall not be obligated to pay any Landlord’s Contribution or incur any other expense with respect to the
subject Alteration.

(ii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Article 15(A)(i), Landlord’s consent shall not be required with respect to any
Non-Material Alteration (hereinafter defined) having an estimated cost of completion of less than $50,000.00; provided, however, that Tenant shall provide
Landlord with prior written notice of the performance of same and provided further that the applicable terms and conditions of Article 5(C) shall apply
mutatis mutandis with respect to the performance of the subject Non-Material Alteration (specifically excluding, however, any Landlord approval rights over
such alteration, any construction inspection or supervisory fee and any Landlord’s Contribution). As used in this Lease, the term “Non-Material Alteration”
shall mean any Alteration which (a) is not structural in nature; (b) does not affect the exterior or any structural portions or components of the Building; (c)
would not be visible from outside of the Premises; (d) would not require alteration of, and would not impact the usage or proper functioning of, any of the
Building systems (including, without limitation, the heating, ventilation, air conditioning, plumbing, electrical, sprinkler or security systems serving the
Building); (e) would not jeopardize health safety or life safety; (f) would not require a change to the certificate of occupancy for the Building; (g) would not
require the issuance of a building permit or other authorization by any governmental or quasi-governmental entity exercising jurisdiction over the Building;
and (h) would not cause any previously non-mandatory legal requirement to become a mandatory legal requirement with regard to the Building (including,
without limitation, any such legal requirement set forth in the Americans with Disabilities Act). In addition, with respect to any proposed Non-Material
Alteration having an estimated cost of completion in excess of $50,000.00, Landlord shall either grant or reasonably withhold its consent to same within three
(3) business days of Tenant’s request therefor, failing which such consent shall be deemed to have been granted.

(iii) Except as otherwise set forth in Article 15(A)(ii) above, Landlord shall endeavor to respond to any request by Tenant for Landlord’s
consent to any proposed Alteration (for purposes of this Article 15(A), a “Proposed Alteration”) within fifteen (15) days following Landlord’s receipt of a
fully-detailed description of same, including, without limitation, all related information and documentation required hereunder or requested by Landlord with
respect to the Proposed Alteration. If Landlord shall fail to provide Tenant with a response to the Proposed Alteration within such fifteen (15) day period, then
Tenant shall have the right to deliver to Landlord a Deemed Consent Warning Notice. If Landlord shall fail to provide Tenant with a response to the Proposed
Alteration within five (5) business days following proper delivery of the Deemed Consent Warning Notice, then Landlord shall be deemed to have granted its
consent to the Proposed Alteration, except that Landlord shall be deemed to have withheld its consent to any aspects of the Proposed Alteration that would be
structural in nature, be directly visible from outside the Premises or have a material impact upon the proper functioning of any Building system.

(B) [Intentionally Omitted]
(C) Tenant shall not be permitted to make, or to engage a contractor or artist to make, any Alterations, decorations, installations, additions
or other improvements (“Visual Alteration”) which may be considered a work of visual art of any kind, and/or which might fall within the protections of the

Visual Artists Rights Act of 1990 (“VARA”) unless:

(i) Tenant obtains, from each artist and/or contractor who will be involved in said Visual Alteration, valid written waivers of such
artist’s and/or contractor’s rights under VARA in form and content reasonably acceptable to Landlord; and

(ii) Landlord consents to such Visual Alteration in writing.

In the event that a claim is brought under VARA with respect to any Visual Alteration performed in



or about the Building by or at the request of Tenant or Tenant’s agents or employees, Tenant shall indemnify and hold harmless Landlord against and from
any and all such claims. If any action or proceeding shall be brought against Landlord by reason of such claim under VARA, Tenant agrees that Tenant, at its
expense, will resist and defend such action or proceeding and will employ counsel satisfactory to Landlord therefor. Tenant shall also pay any and all damages
sustained by Landlord as a result of such claim, including, without limitation, reasonable attorney’s fees and the cost to Landlord of complying with VARA
protections (which shall include damages sustained as a result of Landlord’s inability to remove Visual Alterations from the Premises). Failure of Tenant to
strictly comply with the provisions of this Article 15(C) shall be deemed a default under this lease, and Landlord shall be entitled to pursue all appropriate
remedies provided herein, as well as at law or in equity. The provisions of this Article 15(C) shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of this lease.

REQUIREMENTS OF LAW

16. (A) From and after the Rent Commencement Date, Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall comply with all mandatory requirements
of statutes, laws, ordinances, orders, regulations and notices of Federal, State, County and Municipal authorities, and with all directions, pursuant to law, of all
public officers, which shall impose any duty upon Landlord or Tenant with respect to the Demised Premises or the use or occupation thereof by Tenant or any
of Tenant’s Related Parties, except that Tenant shall not be required to make any structural or non-structural alterations in order so to comply unless such
alterations shall be necessitated or occasioned, in whole or in part, (i) subject to the provisions of Article 27(C) of this lease, by the negligence or willful
misconduct of Tenant or any person claiming through or under Tenant or any of their servants, employees, contractors, agents, visitors or licensees, (ii) by the
specific manner of use or occupancy of the Demised Premises by Tenant, or any such person (as opposed to a generic office usage), or (iii) in connection with
the Tenant’s Initial Work or any subsequent Alterations made by or on behalf of Tenant (including, without limitation, the design, implementation or
performance thereof and/or the materials used in connection therewith), except to the extent such compliance alterations are required as a result of work
actually performed by Landlord or its agents, employees or contractors; where, in any of such events, such alterations shall be made by Landlord at Tenant’s
sole, but reasonable, cost and expense. To the extent non-compliance therewith would adversely affect the ability of Tenant to use and enjoy the Demised
Premises, the Building Parking Area or reasonable means of access thereto, and provided such compliance is not made the responsibility of Tenant pursuant
to the preceding provisions of this Article 16(A), Landlord shall, at Landlord’s expense, comply with and shall cause the Building, the Demised Premises and
the common areas of the Real Property to be in compliance with all mandatory requirements of present and future statutes, laws, ordinances, notices, rules,
regulations, orders and directives of all Federal, state, city and municipal authorities applicable to the Building and common areas of the Real Property,
including without limitation the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).

(B) Tenant shall keep or cause the Premises to be kept free of Hazardous Materials (hereinafter defined), provided that Tenant may use
and store in accordance with all Environmental Laws (hereinafter defined) reasonable quantities of standard cleaning and office materials as may be
reasonably necessary for Tenant to conduct normal general office use operations in the Premises. Without limiting the foregoing, Tenant shall not cause or
permit the Premises to be used to generate, manufacture, refine, transport, treat, store, handle, dispose, transfer, produce or process Hazardous Materials,
except in compliance with all applicable Federal, State and Local laws or regulations, nor shall Tenant cause or permit, as a result of any intentional or
unintentional act or omission on the part of Tenant or any person or entity claiming through or under Tenant or any of their employees, contractors, agents,
visitors or licensees (collectively, “Related Parties”), a release of Hazardous Materials onto the Premises or onto any other property in violation of
Environmental Laws. Tenant shall comply with and ensure compliance by all Related Parties with all applicable Federal, State and Local laws, ordinances,
rules and regulations, whenever and by whomever triggered, and shall obtain and comply with, and ensure that all Related Parties obtain and comply with,
any and all approvals, registrations or permits required thereunder. In the event Tenant or any Tenant’s Related Parties generate, use, release, store or dispose
of Hazardous Materials in violation of the provisions hereof, Tenant shall (i) conduct and complete all investigations, studies, samplings, and testing, and all
remedial removal and other actions necessary to clean up and



remove such Hazardous Materials, on, from, or affecting the Premises (a) in accordance with all applicable Environmental Laws, and (b) to the reasonable
satisfaction of Landlord, and (ii) defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Landlord, its employees, agents, officers, and directors, from and against any claims,
demands, penalties, fines, liabilities, settlements, damages, costs, or expenses of whatever kind or nature, known or unknown, contingent or otherwise, arising
out of, or in any way related to, (a) the presence, disposal, release, or threatened release of such Hazardous Materials which are on, from, or affecting the soil,
water, vegetation, buildings, personal property, persons, animals, or otherwise; (b) any personal injury (including wrongful death) or property damage (real or
personal) arising out of or related to such Hazardous Materials; (c) any lawsuit brought or threatened, settlement reached, or government order relating to
such Hazardous Materials; and/or (d) any violation of laws, orders, regulations, requirements, or demands of government authorities, or any policies or
requirements of Landlord which are based upon or in any way related to such Hazardous Materials, including, without limitation, attorney and consultant
fees, investigation and laboratory fees, court costs, and litigation expenses. In the event this lease is terminated, or Tenant is dispossessed, Tenant shall deliver
the Premises to Landlord free of any and all Hazardous Materials that were introduced by Tenant or any of Tenant’s Related Parties. For purposes of this
paragraph, “Hazardous Materials” includes, without limitation, any flammable explosives, radioactive materials, hazardous materials, hazardous wastes,
hazardous or toxic substances, or related materials defined in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as
amended (42 U.S.C. Sections 9601, et seq.), the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, as amended (49 U.S.C. Sections 5101 et seq.), the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. Sections 6901, et seq.), and in the regulations adopted and publications promulgated pursuant
thereto, or any other Federal, State or Local environmental law, ordinance, rule, or regulation (collectively, “Environmental Laws”). Tenant’s obligations
under this Article 16(B) shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the term of this lease.

(C) Landlord does hereby represent and warrant to Tenant that, to the actual knowledge of Landlord (without inquiry or investigation) as
of the Effective Date, there are no outstanding violations of Environmental Laws at the Building or the Real Property. In the event that a legal violation
involving Hazardous Materials now exists or arises in the future for which Tenant is not responsible under this lease and which adversely affects Tenant’s use
of the Demised Premises, Landlord hereby covenants to address such legal violation in the manner required by applicable law. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
if the subject legal violation has been caused by the act or omission of a third party, then Landlord may seek to cause such third party to address such legal
violation. Landlord shall not cause or authorize any Hazardous Materials to be generated, used, released, stored or disposed of in or about the Building or the
Real Property, provided that Landlord may use and store in accordance with all Environmental Laws reasonable quantities of any and all materials
customarily used in connection with the operation, maintenance, use and enjoyment of a multi-tenanted office building and property. Landlord shall
indemnify and hold Tenant, its officers, directors, employees and agents harmless from and against any damage, injury, loss, liability, charge, demand, penalty
or claim of whatever kind or nature, known or unknown, contingent or otherwise, based on or arising out of the presence or removal of, or failure to remove,
Hazardous Materials which are present in the Building or on the Real Property as of the date of this Lease and of which Landlord had actual knowledge or
with respect to any Hazardous Materials generated, used, released, stored or disposed of by Landlord or any of its agents, representatives, contractors or
employees in or about the Building or Real Property, whether before or after the Effective Date. Landlord’s indemnification obligations under this Article
16(C) shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the term of this lease.

(D) Each of Landlord and Tenant represents to the other that as of the date of this lease, and Tenant covenants that throughout the Term of
this lease: (i) the representing party is not, and shall not be, an Embargoed Person, (ii) none of the funds or other assets of the representing party are or shall
constitute property of, or are or shall be beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by any Embargoed Person; (iii) no Embargoed Person shall have any
interest of any nature whatsoever in the representing party, with the result that the investment in the representing party is or would be blocked or prohibited by
law or that this lease and performance of the obligations hereunder are or would be blocked or in violation of law and (iv) none of the funds of the
representing party are, or shall be derived from, any activity with the result that the investment in the representing party is or would be blocked or in violation
of law or that this lease and performance of the obligations hereunder are or would be in violation of law. “Embargoed Person” means a person, entity or
government (a) identified on the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List maintained by the United States Treasury Department Office of
Foreign Assets Control and/or any similar list maintained



pursuant to any authorizing statute, executive order or regulation and/or (b) subject to trade restrictions under United States law, including, without limitation,
the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, 50 U.S.C. § 1701 et seq., The Trading with the Enemy Act, 50 U.S.C. App. 1 et seq., and any Executive
Orders or regulations promulgated under any such laws, with the result that the investment in Tenant (whether directly or indirectly), is or would be
prohibited by law or this lease is or would be in violation of law and/or (c) subject to blocking, sanction or reporting under the USA Patriot Act, as amended;
Executive Order 13224, as amended; Title 31, Parts 595, 596 and 597 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, as they exist from time to time; and any other
law or Executive Order or regulation through which the U.S. Department of the Treasury has or may come to have sanction authority. If any representation
made by a representing party pursuant to this Article 16(D) shall become untrue, then that party shall within 10 days after becoming aware of same give
written notice thereof to the other party, which notice shall set forth in reasonable detail the reason(s) why such representation has become untrue and shall be
accompanied by any relevant notices from, or correspondence with, the applicable governmental agency or agencies. Notwithstanding the foregoing to the
contrary, Landlord acknowledges that tenant’s parent, Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant’s Parent”), is a publicly-traded
company and that Tenant makes no representations or warranties under this Article 16(D) with respect to Tenant’s Parent’s shareholders, including without
limitation whether any such shareholders do or do not constitute “Embargoed Persons™.

END OF TERM

17. (A) Upon the expiration or other termination of the Term of this lease, Tenant shall, at its own expense, quit and surrender to Landlord the
Demised Premises, broom clean, in good order and condition, ordinary wear, tear and damage by fire or other insured casualty excepted, and Tenant shall
remove all of Tenant’s Property and shall pay the cost to repair all damage to the Demised Premises or the Building occasioned by such removal. All fixtures,
and all paneling, partitions, railings, staircases and like installations, installed in the Demised Premises, at any time, by or on behalf of Tenant, shall become
the property of Landlord and shall remain upon and be surrendered with the Demised Premises, except with respect to Specialty Alterations (hereinafter
defined). Unless Landlord elects, by written notice to Tenant delivered within fifteen (15) days following Tenant’s request for such election by Landlord (or
not less than six (6) months prior to the Expiration Date, if no such election request is made by Tenant), to permit any subject Specialty Alteration to remain
upon the Demised Premises upon expiration or termination of this lease, then such Specialty Alteration must be removed, and the affected area restored, at
Tenant’s expense, it being acknowledged and agreed by Landlord that nothing contained in this lease shall be construed as to obligate Tenant to remove from
the Demised Premises at the end of the Term of this lease any customary data or telecommunications writing and cabling installed within or about the
Demised Premises by or on behalf of Tenant. If Landlord does elect to permit a subject Specialty Alteration to remain upon the Demised Premises upon
expiration or termination of this lease, then Tenant shall not be obligated to remove the subject Specialty Alteration from the Demised Premises. As used
herein, the term “Specialty Alteration” shall be deemed to mean any non-building-standard, specialty or unusual alterations, construction or installations
installed by or on behalf of Tenant in the Demised Premises or the Building (such as, without limitation, interior staircases, raised flooring, vaults and safes,
wall systems, rolling files, cooking facilities, generators, uninterrupted power supply systems and other installations and equipment and the like on or in any
portion of the building); provided, however, that in addition to the categories of Specialty Alterations specifically identified above in this sentence, Landlord
shall have the right and option to designate as a Specialty Alteration other non-standard installations or alterations proposed by Tenant, provided Landlord
makes such designation in written notice to Tenant by Landlord simultaneously with Landlord’s response to a request by Tenant for Landlord’s consent to the
subject Alteration. Any property not removed from the Premises shall be deemed abandoned by Tenant and may be retained by Landlord, as its property, or
disposed of in any manner deemed appropriate by the Landlord. Any expense incurred by Landlord in removing or disposing of such property shall be
reimbursed to Landlord by Tenant on demand. Tenant expressly waives, for itself and for any person claiming through or under Tenant, any rights which
Tenant or any such person may have under the provisions of Section 2201 of the New York Civil Practice Law and Rules and of any successor law of like
import then in force, in connection with any holdover or summary proceeding which Landlord may institute to enforce the foregoing provisions of this
Article. If the last day of the Term of this lease or any renewal



hereof falls on Saturday, Sunday or a legal holiday, this lease shall expire on the immediately preceding business day. Tenant’s obligations under this Article
17 shall survive the Expiration Date or sooner termination of this lease.

(B) In the event of any holding over by Tenant after the expiration or termination of this lease without the consent of Landlord, Tenant
shall:

(i) in consideration of Tenant’s use and occupancy of the Demised Premises for each month of the holdover period, pay to
Landlord an amount equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) percent of the Rent payable by Tenant for the last full calendar month prior to the Expiration
Date. In addition, Tenant shall otherwise observe, fulfill and perform all of its obligations under this lease, including but not limited to, those pertaining to
additional rent, in accordance with its terms;

(i) be liable to Landlord for any payment or rent concession which Landlord may be required to make to any tenant in order to
induce such tenant not to terminate an executed lease covering all or any portion of the Premises by reason of the holdover by Tenant; and

(iii) be liable to Landlord for any damages suffered by Landlord as the result of Tenant’s failure to surrender the Premises.
No holding over by Tenant after the Term shall operate to extend the Term.

The holdover, with respect to all or any part of the Premises, of a person deriving an interest in the Premises from or through Tenant,
including, but not limited to, an assignee or subtenant, shall be deemed a holdover by Tenant.

Notwithstanding anything in this Article contained to the contrary, the acceptance of any payments made by Tenant pursuant to this
Paragraph 17(B), shall not preclude Landlord from commencing and prosecuting a holdover or eviction action or proceeding or any action or proceeding in
the nature thereof. The preceding sentence shall be deemed to be an “agreement expressly providing otherwise” within the meaning of Section 232-c of the
Real Property Law of the State of New York and any successor law of like import.

QUIET ENJOYMENT

18. Landlord covenants and agrees with Tenant that upon Tenant paying the Rent and additional rent and observing and performing all the terms,
covenants and conditions on Tenant’s part to be observed and performed, Tenant may peaceably and quietly enjoy the Demised Premises during the Term of
this lease without hindrance or molestation by anyone claiming by or through Landlord, subject, nevertheless, to the terms, covenants and conditions of this
lease including, but not limited to, Article 23. Subject to all applicable terms, covenants and conditions of this lease, Tenant shall have access to the Premises
twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week.

SIGNS

19. Tenant shall not place any signs or lettering of any nature on or in any window or on the exterior of the Building or elsewhere within the
Demised Premises such as will be visible from the street, nor may Tenant place any sign or lettering in the public corridors or on the doors, except where
Tenant has obtained the prior written consent of Landlord to the placing, style and content of such sign or lettering and all sources constructing or furnishing
such sign or lettering. Notwithstanding the foregoing, prior to the Rent Commencement Date (so long as Tenant timely provides Landlord with the
information necessary to design the subject name plaque), Landlord shall install, at



Landlord’s sole cost and expense, on or to the side of the entrance door to the Demised Premises, a Building-standard name plaque, identifying Tenant and, if
consistent with the Building-standard tenant identification pattern used on the floor or wing of the Building on or in which the Demised Premises is located,
Tenant’s suite number. In addition, if a floor directory is in place on such wing or floor, then Landlord shall also display Tenant’s name and, if applicable,
suite number on that floor directory. Subsequent changes (if any) to such name plaque or floor directory display shall be made by Landlord at Tenant’s sole
cost and expense.

RULES AND REGULATIONS

20. Tenant and Tenant’s agents, employees, visitors, and licensees shall faithfully observe and comply with, and shall not permit violation of, the
Rules and Regulations set forth on Schedule “C” annexed hereto and made part hereof, and with such further reasonable Rules and Regulations as Landlord at
any time may make and communicate in writing to Tenant which, in Landlord’s judgment, shall be necessary for the reputation, safety, care and appearance of
the Building and the land allocated to it or the preservation of good order therein, or the operation or maintenance of the Building, and such land, its
equipment, or the more useful occupancy or the comfort of the tenants or others in the Building. Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for the violation of any
of said Rules and Regulations, or the breach of any covenant or condition, in any lease by any other tenant in the Building. However, Landlord hereby
covenants and agrees that it shall not enforce the Rules and Regulations in a manner designed to unfairly discriminate against Tenant.

RIGHT TO SUBLET OR ASSIGN

21. (A) Except as expressly provided herein, Tenant shall not assign this lease nor sublet the Demised Premises or any part thereof, by operation
of law or otherwise, including, without limitation, an assignment or subletting as defined in Article 21(D) below, without the prior written consent of
Landlord in each instance, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Tenant may assign this lease or sublet all or a portion of the Demised Premises
with Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned (it being stipulated and agreed by the parties
that all conditions contained in this Article 21 are reasonable), provided:

(i) That such assignment or sublease is for a use which is in compliance with this lease, the then existing zoning regulations and
the Certificate of Occupancy for the Building;

(ii) That, at the time of such assignment or subletting, there is no Event of Default under the terms of this lease on Tenant’s part;

(iii) That, in the event of an assignment, the assignee shall assume in writing the performance of all of the terms and obligations
of this lease;

(iv) That a duplicate original of said assignment or sublease shall be delivered to Landlord at the address herein set forth within
ten (10) days from the execution of said assignment or sublease and within ninety (90) days of the date that Tenant first advises Landlord of the name and
address of the proposed subtenant or assignee, as required pursuant to Article 21(B) hereof;

(v)  Such assignment or subletting shall not, however, release assigning or subletting person or entity or any guarantor of this
lease (unless a replacement guarantor with financial wherewithal acceptable to Landlord, in its sole and absolute discretion, is provided in connection with
any such assignment or subletting, in which event the guarantor [but not the assignor or sublessor] would be released with respect to obligations or liabilities
accruing after the effective date of the subject assignment or sublease), or any of their respective successors, from their



liability for the full and faithful performance of all of the terms and conditions of this lease;

(vi)  If this lease is assigned, whether or not in violation of the provisions of this lease, Landlord may collect rent from the
assignee. If the Demised Premises or any part thereof is sublet or is used or occupied by anybody other than Tenant, whether or not in violation of this lease,
Landlord may, after default by Tenant, and expiration of Tenant’s time to cure such default, collect rent from the subtenant or occupant. In either event,
Landlord may apply the net amount collected to the rents herein reserved, but no such assignment, subletting, occupancy or collection shall be deemed a
waiver of any of the provisions of this Article, or the acceptance of the assignee, subtenant or occupant as tenant, or a release of Tenant from the further
performance by Tenant of Tenant’s obligations under this lease. The consent by Landlord to assignment, mortgaging, subletting or use or occupancy by others
shall not in any way be considered to relieve Tenant from obtaining the express written consent of Landlord to any other or further assignment, mortgaging or
subletting or use or occupancy by others not expressly permitted by this Article. References in this lease to use or occupancy by others, that is anyone other
than Tenant, shall not be construed as limited to subtenants and those claiming under or through sub-tenants but as including also licensees and others
claiming under or through Tenant, immediately or remotely;

(vii) That, in the event Tenant shall request Landlord’s consent to a proposed assignment of this lease or proposed sublease of all
or a portion of the Demised Premises, Tenant shall pay or reimburse to Landlord the reasonable attorney fees incurred by Landlord in processing such request
(not to exceed $1,000 for the initial draft and up to one redraft of the consent instrument); and

(viii)  That each sublease shall be subject and subordinate to this lease and to the matters to which this lease is or shall be
subordinate, it being the intention of Landlord and Tenant that Tenant shall assume and be liable to Landlord for any and all acts and omissions of all
subtenants and anyone claiming under or through any subtenants which, if performed or omitted by Tenant, would be a default under this lease; and Tenant
and each subtenant shall be deemed to have agreed that upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default hereunder, Tenant has hereby
assigned to Landlord, and Landlord may, at its option, accept such assignment of, all right, title and interest of Tenant as sublandlord under such sublease,
together with all modifications, extensions and renewals thereof then in effect, and such subtenant shall, at Landlord’s option, attorn to Landlord pursuant to
the then executory provisions of such sublease, except that Landlord shall not be (a) liable for any previous act or omission of Tenant under such sublease
(with it being agreed, however, that Landlord shall cure, at no expense to the subject subtenant, any default that remains uncured as of the date of attornment
if such default directly relates to the physical condition of the Demised Premises [excluding personal property] or the base Building services thereto), (b)
subject to any counterclaim, offset or defense not expressly provided in such sublease, which theretofore accrued to such subtenant against Tenant, (c) bound
by any previous modification of such sublease not consented to by Landlord, or by any prepayment of more than one month’s rent and additional rent under
such sublease, (d) bound to return such subtenant’s security deposit, if any, except to the extent that Landlord shall receive actual possession of such deposit
and such subtenant shall be entitled to the return of all or any portion of such deposit under the terms of its sublease, or (e) obligated to make any payment to
or on behalf of such subtenant, or to perform any work in the subleased space or the Building, or in any way to prepare the subleased space for occupancy,
beyond Landlord’s obligations under this lease. The provisions of this Article 21(A)(viii) shall be self-operative, and no further instrument shall be required to
give effect hereto, provided that the subtenant shall execute and deliver to Landlord any instruments Landlord may reasonably request to evidence and
confirm such subordination and attornment. Unless the subject default was made by Landlord with respect to an obligation owed to Tenant under this Lease,
Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the costs actually and reasonably incurred by Landlord in curing any default of the type referenced above in clause (a) of
this Article 21(A)(viii); such obligation of Tenant to survive any expiration or termination of this Lease.

(B) (i) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Article 21 to the contrary, no assignment of this lease (other than an assignment of
the nature addressed in Article 21(C) of this lease) or subletting of the entire Demised Premises (other than a subletting of the nature addressed in Article
21(C) of this lease) shall be made by Tenant in any event until Tenant has offered (a “Total Recapture Offer”) to terminate this lease and surrender and vacate
the entire Demised Premises as of an Effective Recapture Date. An “Effective Recapture Date” shall be a



date selected by Tenant, provided that such date must be the last day of a calendar month during the Term and must be a date no later than the date that was
scheduled as the effective date of such proposed assignment or the commencement date of such proposed sublease.

(ii) Also notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 21, no subletting of any portion of the Demised
Premises (such portion being hereinafter referred to as the “Recapture Space”) shall be made by Tenant in any event until Tenant has offered (a “Partial
Recapture Offer”) to terminate this lease (as it relates to the Recapture Space only) and surrender and vacate the entire Recapture Space as of an Effective
Recapture Date. If Landlord accepts a Partial Recapture Offer, Landlord and Tenant shall enter into an amendment of this lease, whereby (a) the Demised
Premises is redefined so as to exclude therefrom the subject Recapture Space, (b) Landlord, at Tenant’s expense, will perform all construction work necessary
and appropriate to separately demise the Recapture Space from the balance of the Demised Premises in accordance with all legal requirements, and (c) all
other provisions of this lease that are contingent upon the size of the Demised Premises (e.g., Tenant’s Proportionate Share; Rent; number of parking spaces
allotted to Tenant) are proportionately reduced (on the basis of the reduced rentable square footage of the Demised Premises).

(iii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Article 21(B)(ii) above, if the rentable area of the subject Recapture
Space (when aggregated with all other portions of the Demised Premises, if any, then sublet by Tenant) constitutes more than eighty-five (85%) percent of the
total rentable area of the Demised Premises, then Landlord shall have the option of treating the subject Partial Recapture Offer as a Total Recapture Offer and,
in the event Landlord makes such election, the provisions of Article 21(B)(i) shall apply with respect thereto.

(iv) Also notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Article 21(B)(ii) above, if (a) regardless of the rentable area of
the subject Recapture Space, the term of the proposed sublease (including all renewal options to be granted to the subject subtenant) would expire with more
than one (1) year then remaining on the then current Term of this lease (excluding any unexercised Renewal Term) as of the date of commencement of the
term of the sublease, or (b) regardless of the length of the term of the proposed sublease, the rentable area of the subject Recapture Space (when aggregated
with all other portions of the Demised Premises, if any, then sublet by Tenant) constitutes less than thirty-five (35%) percent of the total rentable area of the
Demised Premises, then, in either such event, Tenant shall not be required to make any such offer to terminate this lease, whether in whole or in part, in
connection with the proposed subletting of the subject Recapture Space.

(v)  Simultaneously with any such Total Recapture Offer or Partial Recapture Offer, as applicable, Tenant shall advise the
Landlord, in writing, of the name and address of the proposed assignee or subtenant, a reasonably detailed statement of the proposed subtenant/assignee’s
business, reasonably detailed financial references, and all the terms, covenants, and conditions of the proposed sublease or assignment. If Landlord shall fail
or decline to deliver to Tenant written notice of acceptance of a subject Total Recapture Offer or Partial Recapture Offer, as applicable, within thirty (30) days
following receipt by Landlord of the information and documentation required pursuant to the preceding sentence, then Landlord shall be deemed to have
rejected the subject Total Recapture Offer or Partial Recapture Offer, as applicable, and Tenant shall then be entitled to proceed with the proposed assignment
or subletting subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Article 21 (including, without limitation, the requirement for obtaining
Landlord’s consent thereto [unless not required pursuant to the provisions of Article 21(C) hereof]). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the
first sentence of this Article 21(B)(v), Tenant shall have the right and option of submitting a Total Recapture Offer or Partial Recapture Offer, as applicable,
without identifying the name and address of the proposed assignee or subtenant; provided, however, that if the subject Total Recapture Offer or Partial
Recapture Offer, as applicable, is rejected or deemed to have been rejected by Landlord, then prior to the effective date of the proposed assignment or
sublease, Tenant will be obligated to make a secondary Total Recapture Offer or Partial Recapture Offer, as applicable, in which Tenant does identify the
name and address of the proposed assignee or subtenant, as applicable. With respect to such a secondary Total Recapture Offer or Partial Recapture Offer, as
applicable, Landlord shall be deemed to have rejected same if Landlord fails or declines to deliver to Tenant written notice of acceptance of the subject
secondary Total Recapture Offer or Partial Recapture Offer, as applicable, within five (5) business days following receipt by Landlord of the name and
address of the proposed assignee



or subtenant, as applicable.

(C) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Tenant, without Landlord’s consent (but upon prior written notice to
Landlord), may assign or transfer its entire interest in this lease and the leasehold estate hereby created, or sublet all or any portion of the Demised Premises,
in either case to an “affiliate” of Tenant or to a “successor corporation” of Tenant, as such terms are hereinafter defined, provided that (i) Tenant shall not be
in default in any of the terms, covenants, conditions and agreements of this lease beyond the expiration of any applicable notice and grace period provided in
this lease for the cure thereof, including but not limited to the payment of the fixed rent or additional rent payable by Tenant hereunder; (ii) in the event of an
assignment, the assignee agrees, in a signed writing, to assume all obligations and liabilities of Tenant under this lease or, in the event of a sublease, the
subtenant executes and delivers to Landlord a written confirmation and undertaking of subordination and contingent attornment; and (iii) the assignor or
sublessor, as applicable, shall not be released or relieved from or of any liabilities or obligations of Tenant under this lease, whether relating to actions,
omissions or events occurring prior to or after the effective date of the assignment. An “affiliate” of Tenant shall mean any corporation which directly or
indirectly controls or is controlled by or is under common control with Tenant. For purposes of this definition, “control” (including “controlling,” “controlled
by” and “under common control with”) as used with respect to any corporation, shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or
cause the direction of the management and policies of such corporation, whether through the ownership of voting securities, or by contract or otherwise. A
“successor corporation” shall mean (a) a corporation into which or with which Tenant, its corporate successors or assigns, is merged or consolidated, in
accordance with applicable statutory provisions for the merger or consolidation of corporations, provided that by operation of law or by effective provisions
contained in the instruments of merger or consolidation the liabilities of the corporations participating in such merger or consolidation are assumed by the
corporation surviving such merger or consolidation, or (b) a corporation acquiring this lease and the term hereby demised, the goodwill and all or
substantially all of the other property and assets of Tenant, its corporate successors or assigns, and assuming all or substantially all of the liabilities of Tenant,
its corporate successors and assigns, or (c) any corporate successor to a successor corporation becoming such by either of the methods described in Clauses
(a) and (b); provided that, immediately after giving effect to any such merger or consolidation, or such acquisition and assumption as the case may be, the
corporation surviving such merger or created by such consolidation or acquiring such assets and assuming such liabilities, as the case may be, shall have
assets, capitalization, and a net worth as determined in accordance with generally accepted principles of accounting at least equal to the assets, capitalization
and net worth, similarly determined, of Tenant immediately prior to such merger or consolidation or such acquisition and assumption, as the case may be. The
acquisition by Tenant, its corporate successors or assigns, of all or substantially all of the assets, together with the assumption of all or substantially all of the
obligations and liabilities of any corporation, shall be deemed to be a merger of such corporation into Tenant for the purpose of this provision. As used in this
provision, the words “corporation”, “corporate” and similar words shall include other business forms such as limited liability companies, and the words
“voting stock” and “voting securities” shall include other forms of ownership such as limited liability company membership interests. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained herein, the purported subletting of all or any portion of the Demised Premises to the purchaser of all or substantially all of
the assets of Tenant shall require the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent (in such event) may be conditioned or withheld in Landlord’s sole and
absolute discretion.

(D)  For purposes of this Article 21, (i) the transfer of a majority of the issued and outstanding stock of any corporate tenant, or of a
corporate subtenant, or the transfer of a majority of the total equitable ownership interest in any tenant of another business form, or of a subtenant of such
business form, however accomplished, whether in a single transaction or in a series of related or unrelated transactions, shall be deemed an assignment of this
lease, or of such sublease, as the case may be; provided, however, that if Tenant’s (or Tenant’s Parent’s) stock is publicly traded, the purchasing and selling of
such stock on a public exchange (e.g. the NYSE) shall not be deemed an assignment for the purposes hereof; (ii) any person or legal representative of Tenant,
to whom Tenant’s interest under this lease passes by operation of law or otherwise, shall be bound by the provisions of this Article 21; and (iii) a material
modification or amendment of a sublease shall be deemed a sublease.

(E) Whenever Tenant shall claim under this lease that Landlord has unreasonably withheld or delayed its consent to some request of
Tenant, Tenant shall have no claim for damages by reason of such alleged



withholding or delay, and Tenant’s sole remedy thereof shall be a right to obtain specific performance or injunction but in no event with recovery of damages.

(F) Tenant shall not mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise encumber its interest under this lease without Landlord’s prior written
consent.

(G) Without affecting any of its other obligations under this lease, except with respect to any permitted assignment or subletting under
Article 21(C) hereof, Tenant will pay to Landlord, as additional rent, one-half (50%) of any sums or other economic consideration, which (i) are due and
payable to Tenant as a result of any permitted assignment or subletting whether or not referred to as rentals under the assignment or sublease (after deducting
therefrom the reasonable costs and expenses incurred by Tenant in connection with the assignment or subletting in question provided such costs were
approved by Landlord when it approved the assignment or sublease); and (ii) with respect to a sublease only, exceed in total the sums which Tenant is
obligated to pay Landlord under this lease (prorated to reflect obligations allocable to that portion of the Demised Premises subject to such assignment or
sublease), it being the express intention of the parties that Landlord and Tenant shall share equally in any profit by reason of such sublease or assignment. The
failure or inability of the assignee or subtenant to pay rent pursuant to the assignment or sublease will not relieve Tenant from its obligations to Landlord
under this Article 21(G). Tenant will not amend the assignment or sublease in such a way as to reduce or delay payment of amounts which are provided in the
assignment or sublease approved by Landlord.

(H) Landlord agrees that it shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to a subletting or assignment requiring Landlord’s consent in
accordance with the terms of this Article 21. In determining reasonableness, there shall be taken into account the character and reputation of the proposed
subtenant or assignee, the specific nature of the proposed subtenant’s or assignee’s business and whether same is in keeping with other tenancies in the
Building; the financial standing of the proposed subtenant or assignee; and the impact of all of the foregoing upon the Building and the other tenants of
Landlord therein. Landlord shall not be deemed to have unreasonably withheld its consent if it refuses to consent to a subletting or assignment to an existing
tenant in any building which is owned or operated by Landlord or its affiliate or to a proposed subtenant or assignee with whom Landlord or any such affiliate
is negotiating (or had been negotiating within the preceding year), or, if at the time of Tenant’s request, Tenant is in default, beyond applicable grace and
notice periods provided herein for the cure thereof, of any of the terms, covenants and conditions of this lease to be performed by Tenant. At least thirty (30)
days prior to any proposed subletting or assignment requiring Landlord’s consent hereunder, Tenant shall submit to Landlord a written notice of the proposed
subletting or assignment, which notice shall contain or be accompanied by the following information (collectively, a “Transfer Package”):

(a) the name and address of the proposed subtenant or assignee;

(b)  the nature and character of the business of the proposed subtenant or assignee and its proposed use of the premises to be
demised;

(c) the most recent three (3) years of balance sheets and profit and loss statements of the proposed subtenant or assignee or other
financial information reasonably satisfactory to Landlord; and

(d) a fully-executed original of the proposed sublease or assignment of lease, the effectiveness of which may be conditioned
upon Landlord’s consent.

Without limiting the right of Landlord to withhold its consent to any proposed assignment of this lease or subletting of all or any portion of the Demised
Premises, Tenant specifically acknowledges and agrees that it and anyone holding through Tenant shall not sublet or assign all or any portion of the Demised
Premises to any subtenant or assignee who will use the Demised Premises or a portion thereof for any of the following designated uses nor for any other use
which is substantially similar to any one of the following designated uses:

(i) federal, state or local governmental division, department or agency which generates



heavy public traffic, including, without limitation, court, social security offices, labor department office, drug enforcement agency, motor vehicle agency,
postal service, military recruitment office;

(ii) union or labor organization;
(iii) office for the practice of medicine, dentistry or the rendering of other health related services where patients are treated;

(iv) chemical or pharmaceutical company; provided, however, that the subletting or assignment to such a company which will
use the premises only for executive, general and sales offices and waive the right to conduct any research and development shall not be prohibited;

(v) insurance claims office, including, but not limited to, unemployment insurance or worker’s compensation insurance; or

(vi) securities brokerage firm engaged in a Boiler Room Operation (hereinafter defined). The parties acknowledge and agree that,
for purposes of this lease, Tenant shall be deemed to be engaged in a “Boiler Room Operation” where any of the following is true: (i) the majority of the
securities sold or purchased, or solicited for offers of sale or purchase, in connection with Tenant’s business at the Demised Premises are so-called “penny
stocks”; (ii) the population density of the Demised Premises is greater than one (1) person per 150 square feet of rentable area of the Demised Premises; or
(iii) Tenant is subject to the requirements of the National Association of Securities Dealers (NASD) “Taping Rule” (i.e., NASD Rule 3010).

() Landlord shall endeavor to respond to any request by Tenant for Landlord’s consent to any proposed assignment of this Lease or
subletting of all or any portion of the Demised Premises (for purposes of this Article 21(I), a “Proposed A&S Transaction”) within twenty (20) days following
Landlord’s receipt of a complete Transfer Package with respect to the Proposed A&S Transaction. If Landlord shall fail to provide Tenant with a response to
the Proposed A&S Transaction within such twenty (20) day period, then Tenant shall have the right to deliver to Landlord a Deemed Consent Warning Notice
(as such term is defined in Article 56 of this Lease) with respect to the Proposed A&S Transaction. If Landlord shall fail to provide Tenant with a response to
the Proposed A&S Transaction within seven (7) business days following proper delivery of the Deemed A&S Consent Warning Notice, then Landlord shall
be deemed to have granted its consent to the Proposed A&S Transaction.

(J) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Article 21 to the contrary, and without the requirement of Landlord’s consent thereto and
without implicating Landlord’s option under Article 21(B), Tenant may permit the use and occupancy during the Term of this lease of all or any portion or
portions of the Demised Premises by employees of any entity that controls, is controlled by or is under common control with Tenant (each, a “Permitted
Entity”) for the uses permitted under this lease, and for no other purpose, provided, and upon the condition that:

(i) Tenant hereby acknowledges and agrees that the privileges afforded to a Permitted Entity hereunder shall be automatically
revoked immediately upon the sooner to occur of (a) Tenant electing to effectuate such revocation; or (b) the expiration or sooner termination of this lease;

(i)  Such use and occupancy shall be subject to all the terms, covenants, conditions and restrictions of this lease relating to
Tenant’s use and enjoyment of the Demised Premises (except that no Permitted Entity shall have the right to make any Alterations, display any signage or
permit any other person to use any portion of the Demised Premises), but no Permitted Entity shall be deemed to have any privity of estate or contract with
Landlord);

(iii)  Such use and occupancy shall in no way increase, amend, modify or extend Landlord’s obligations or liabilities under this
lease in any way whatsoever, or diminish, restrict, limit, forfeit or waive any of Landlord’s rights or remedies under this lease in any way whatsoever. Without
limiting the generality of the



foregoing, Landlord shall not be required to deliver any notices to any Permitted Entity;

(iv)  Such use and occupancy shall in no way give to any Permitted Entity any rights or remedies against Landlord, and Tenant
shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from and against any and all, actions, proceedings, liabilities, obligations, claims, damages, deficiencies, losses,
judgments, suits, expenses and costs (including, without limitation, court costs and reasonable legal fees and disbursements for which Landlord is liable)
arising under or out of or in connection with or resulting from such use and occupancy;

(v) At no time shall any Permitted Entity pay to or on behalf of Tenant any base rent, additional rent, charges or other
consideration for using portions of the Demised Premises in excess of the corresponding amounts payable hereunder by Tenant (on a per rentable square foot
basis), but Tenant may charge such Permitted Entity for using any of the support services being provided to it (such as receptionists, secretaries,
telecommunications, photocopying, delivery services, etc.) at Tenant’s cost;

(vi) Tenant shall remain fully liable for the payment of all Rent and additional rent due and to become due under this lease and
for the performance and observance of all of the terms, covenants and conditions contained in this lease on Tenant’s part to perform or observe, and all acts or
omissions by the Permitted Entities or anyone claiming under or through Tenant or any of the Permitted Entities which shall be a default under this lease,
shall be deemed to be a default by Tenant; and

(vii)  Such use and occupancy shall not be deemed a waiver of Landlord’s rights under this lease to consent to the use or
occupancy of the Demised Premises (or any portion thereof) by any other person or entity or to the assignment of this lease or the subletting of the Demised
Premises (or any portion thereof).

LANDLORD’S ACCESS TO PREMISES

22.  (A) Landlord or Landlord’s agents shall have the right to enter and/or pass through the Demised Premises at all reasonable times on
reasonable notice (i.e., at least twenty-four (24) hours advanced notice, unless lesser notice is then accepted by Tenant), except in an emergency, to examine
the same, and to show them to ground lessors, mortgagees or prospective purchasers, ground lessors or mortgagees, and to make such repairs, improvements
or additions as Landlord may deem necessary or desirable, and Landlord shall be allowed to take all material into and upon and/or through said Demised
Premises that may be required therefor, so long as such rights exercised by Landlord do not unreasonably interfere with the conduct of Tenant’s business from
the Premises or unreasonably compromise Tenant’s access thereto. During the twelve (12) months prior to the expiration of the Term of this lease, unless
Tenant has sent a renewal exercise notice in accordance with Article 51 hereof, and the renewal term is pending or any renewal term, Landlord may exhibit
the Demised Premises to prospective tenants or purchasers at all reasonable hours upon reasonable notice to Tenant and without unreasonably interfering with
Tenant’s business. If Tenant shall not be personally present to open and permit an entry into said premises at any time, when for any reason an entry therein
shall be necessary or permissible, Landlord or Landlord’s agents may enter the same by a master key, or, in the event of an emergency, forcibly, without
rendering Landlord or such agent liable therefor (if during such entry Landlord or Landlord’s agents shall afford reasonable care to Tenant’s property).

(B) Landlord shall also have the right, at any time, to change the arrangement and/or location of entrances or passageways, doors and
doorways, and corridors, elevators, stairs, toilets, or other public parts of the Building; provided, however, that Landlord shall make no change in the
arrangement and/or location of entrances or passageways or other public parts of the Building which will adversely affect in any material manner Tenant’s use
and enjoyment of the Demised Premises or will eliminate all reasonable means of Tenant’s access to the Building and Premises or Tenant’s reasonable access
to and use of the number of parking spaces in the Building Parking Area granted hereunder. Landlord shall also have the right, at any time, to name the
Building, including, but not limited to, the use of appropriate signs and/or lettering on any or all entrances to the Building, and to change the name, number or



designation by which the Building is commonly known, subject to the restrictions set forth in Article 55 hereof.

(C)  Neither this lease nor any use by Tenant shall give Tenant any right or easement to the use of any door or passage or concourse
connecting with any other building or to any public conveniences (unless use thereof is absolutely necessary to gain access to and from the Demised Premises
and/or to and from the Building Parking Area, in which case such right shall expire upon the expiration or sooner termination of this lease or sooner
termination of such absolute necessity), and the use of such doors and passages and concourse and of such conveniences may be regulated and/or
discontinued at any time and from time to time by Landlord without notice to Tenant.

(D)  Unless the exercise of such rights violates the express terms of this Article 22, and subject to Article 38 hereof, the exercise by
Landlord or its agents of any right reserved to Landlord in this Article shall not constitute an actual or constructive eviction, in whole or in part, or entitle
Tenant to any abatement or diminution of rent, or relieve Tenant from any of its obligations under this lease, or impose any liability upon Landlord, or its
agents, or upon any lessor under any ground or underlying lease, by reason of inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant, or injury to or interruption of Tenant’s
business, or otherwise.

SUBORDINATION

23. (A) Except as otherwise set forth herein, this lease and all rights of Tenant hereunder are, and shall be, subject and subordinate in all respects
to all ground leases and/or underlying leases and to all mortgages and building loan agreements which may now or hereafter be placed on or affect such leases
and/or the Real Property of which the Demised Premises form a part, or any part or parts of such Real Property, and/or Landlord’s interest or estate therein,
and to each advance made and/or hereafter to be made under any such mortgages, and to all renewals, modifications, consolidations, replacements and
extensions thereof and all substitutions therefor. The provisions of this Article 23(A) shall be self-operative and no further instrument of subordination shall
be required. In confirmation of such subordination, Tenant shall execute and deliver promptly any certificate that Landlord and/or any mortgagee and/or the
lessor under any ground or underlying lease and/or their respective successors in interest may request.

(B) Without limitation of any of the provisions of this lease, in the event that any mortgagee or its assigns shall succeed to the interest of
Landlord or of any successor-Landlord and/or shall have become lessee under a new ground or underlying lease, then, at the option of such mortgagee, this
lease shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect and Tenant shall and does hereby agree to attorn to such mortgagee or its assigns and to recognize
such mortgagee or its respective assigns as its Landlord.

(C) Tenant shall, at any time and from time to time, but no more than two times in any one Lease Year, within fifteen (15) days after
Landlord’s request therefor, execute and deliver to Landlord a statement in writing (i) certifying that this lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or if
there have been modifications, that the same is in full force and effect as modified and stating the modification); (ii) certifying the dates to which the Rent,
additional rent and other charges have been paid; (iii) certifying whether any installments of Rent, additional rent or other charges under this lease have been
paid more than thirty (30) days in advance (other than additional rent paid based on estimates for a particular escalation year); (iv) stating, to Tenant’s actual
knowledge, whether or not Landlord is in default in performance of any covenant, agreement, term, provision or condition contained in this lease, and if so,
specifying each such default; (v) confirming the Rent Commencement Date and the scheduled Expiration Date under this lease; (vi) setting forth the amount
of the Security Deposit then being held by Landlord, if any; (vii) certifying the amount of the then-current monthly Rent payments under this lease; (viii)
certifying the terms of any remaining options of Tenant under this lease, including, to the extent applicable, any renewal, expansion (which, for purposes of
this clause, shall be deemed to include any right of first refusal, right of offer and similar right to lease additional space), relocation, partial surrender,
cancellation, purchase and similar options, if any; (ix) certifying that this lease has not been assigned by Tenant (or if any assignment has occurred, setting
forth the date and material terms of such assignment and the



identity of the parties thereto); (x) certifying that Tenant then occupies the entire Demised Premises and that no portion thereof has been sublet to any person
or entity (or if any subletting has occurred, setting forth the date and material terms of such sublease and the identity of the parties thereto); and (xi)
containing such other factual information as to the status of this lease as Landlord shall reasonably request. Tenant hereby acknowledges that the statement
delivered pursuant hereto may be relied upon by any prospective purchaser or lessee of the real property or any interest or estate therein, any mortgagee or
prospective mortgagee thereof, or any prospective assignee of any mortgage thereof. If, in connection with such financing, such institutional lender shall
require financial audited information on the Tenant, Tenant shall promptly comply with such request, unless Tenant is a publicly-traded company and Tenant’s
financials are generally available to the public at large.

(D)  Except as provided herein, Tenant covenants and agrees that if by reason of a default under any underlying lease (including an
underlying lease through which Landlord derives its leasehold estate in the premises), such underlying lease and the leasehold estate of the Landlord in the
premises demised hereby is terminated, provided notice has been given to Tenant and any permitted leasehold mortgagee, Tenant will attorn to the then holder
of the reversionary interest in the premises demised by this lease or to anyone who shall succeed to the interest of Landlord or to the lessee of a new
underlying lease entered into pursuant to the provisions of such underlying lease, and will recognize such holder and/or such lessee as Tenant’s landlord under
this lease. Tenant agrees to execute and deliver, at any time and from time to time, upon the request of Landlord or of the lessor under any such underlying
lease, any instrument which may be necessary or appropriate to evidence such attornment. Tenant further waives the provision of any statute or rule of law
now or hereafter in effect which may give or purport to give Tenant any right of election to terminate this lease or to surrender possession of the premises
hereby in the event any proceeding is brought by the lessor under any underlying lease to terminate the same, and agrees that unless and until any such lessor,
in connection with any such proceeding, shall elect to terminate this lease and the rights of Tenant hereunder, this lease shall not be affected in any way
whatsoever by any such proceeding.

(E) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 23 or elsewhere in this Lease, as a condition to Tenant’s execution
of this Lease, Landlord shall cause the current mortgagee of Landlord’s interest in the Building to offer to enter into with Tenant (and to counter-execute and
deliver to Tenant if theretofore executed and delivered by Tenant) a subordination, non-disturbance and attornment agreement that substantially conforms to
the form agreement annexed as Exhibit “3” to this lease (the “Form SNDA™). Furthermore, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article
23, with respect to any future mortgage of Landlord’s interest in the Building or any ground lessor of the Building, where Tenant then leases and occupies not
less than 20,000 rentable square feet of space in the Building, Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the holder of such future
mortgagee or future ground lessor to enter into with Tenant an Acceptable SNDA (hereinafter defined) and, in the event such efforts fail, this lease shall
continue in full force, pursuant to all of its terms, and this lease and Tenant’s leasehold interest hereunder shall not be subordinate to the lien of such future
mortgage or, as the case may be, to such future ground lessor’s interest. As used herein, the term “Acceptable SNDA” shall be deemed to mean and refer to a
subordination, non-disturbance and attornment agreement that either (i) substantially conforms, in all materially respects, to the Form SNDA, or (ii) contains
only material variations from the Form SNDA that are either reasonably acceptable to Tenant and/or otherwise then customarily included in similar
agreements between mortgagees or ground lessors and office tenants of like-size premises in the Westchester commercial real estate market. Any fees or
charges assessed or imposed by the holder of the current mortgage of Landlord’s interest in the Building (or by its servicer , agent and/or counsel) or any
future ground lessor in connection with the negotiation of the Form SNDA, but Tenant shall not be responsible for payment of any fees or charges imposed by
the holder of any future mortgage of Landlord’s interest in the Building (or by its servicer , agent and/or counsel) in connection with the negotiation of an
Acceptable SNDA. Landlord does hereby represent and warrant to Tenant that, to the actual knowledge of Landlord (without inquiry or investigation) as of
the Effective Date, there are no ground leases or mortgages encumbering the Landlord’s interest in the Real Property other than the mortgage and related
security instruments held by EuroHypo AG, New York Branch, as administrative agent for lenders, in connection with that certain Mortgage Modification
Agreement dated April 5, 2012.



PROPERTY LOSS, DAMAGE REIMBURSEMENT

24. Landlord or its agents shall not be liable for the loss of or damage to any property of Tenant by theft or criminal acts committed by others.
Landlord or its agents shall not be liable for any injury or damage to persons or property resulting from (i) fire or other casualty insured or required under this
lease to be insured against by Tenant, or (ii) except to the extent caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, explosion, falling plaster, steam,
gas, electricity, electrical disturbance, water, rain or snow or leaks from any part of the Building or from the pipes, appliances or plumbing works or from the
roof, street or subsurface or from any other place or by dampness or by any other cause of whatsoever nature; provided, however, that nothing herein shall be
deemed to negate, override or otherwise limit Landlord’s maintenance and repair obligations set forth in Article 7 hereof. Also except to the extent caused by
the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, neither Landlord nor its agents shall be liable for (a) any such damage caused by other tenants or persons in
the Building or caused by operations in construction of any private, public or quasi-public work; or (b) any latent defect in the Demised Premises or in the
Building (provided, however, that if such latent defect materially and adversely affects Tenant’s ability to use and enjoy the Demised Premises and does not
relate to the design or performance of the Tenant’s Initial Work, then Landlord shall use commercially reasonably efforts to correct such latent defect);
provided, however, that nothing herein shall be deemed to negate, override or otherwise limit Landlord’s maintenance and repair obligations set forth in
Articles 7 or Article 26 hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, as of the Term Commencement Date, Landlord represents, warrants and covenants that the
Building, the Premises, the Building Parking Area and all mechanical, HVAC, electrical and other systems of the Building and the Real Property shall be in
good working order and repair (specifically excluding, however, any such systems and components thereof that have been removed or disabled in connection
with performance of the Demo Work); to the extent Landlord is found to have breached the foregoing representation and warranty, and the condition
underlying such breach adversely affects Tenant’s ability to use and enjoy the Premises, Landlord shall promptly cure such breach at its sole cost and expense.
If at any time any windows of the Demised Premises are temporarily closed or darkened incident to or for the purpose of repairs, replacements, maintenance
and/or cleaning in, on, to or about the Building or any part or parts thereof, Landlord shall not be liable for any damage Tenant may sustain thereby and
Tenant shall not be entitled to any compensation therefor nor abatement of rent nor shall the same release Tenant from its obligations hereunder nor constitute
an eviction. Tenant shall reimburse and compensate Landlord as additional rent for all expenditures (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees)
made by, or damages or fines sustained or incurred by, Landlord due to non-performance or non-compliance with or breach or failure to observe any term,
covenant or condition of this lease upon Tenant’s part to be kept, observed, performed or complied with, subject to the waivers contained in Section 27(C)
hereof. Tenant shall give immediate notice to Landlord in case of fire or accidents in the Demised Premises or in the Building or of defects therein or in any
fixtures or equipment.

INDEMNITY

25. (A) Tenant shall indemnify and save harmless Landlord and Landlord’s Others In Interest (hereinafter defined) against and from any and all
claims by or on behalf of any person or persons, firm or firms, corporation or corporations arising from the conduct or management of or from any work or
other thing whatsoever done (other than by Landlord or its contractors or the agents or employees of either) in and on the Demised Premises during any
period of occupancy by Tenant including the Term of this lease and during the period of time, if any, prior to the specified commencement date that Tenant
may have been given access to the Demised Premises for the purpose of making installations, and will further indemnify and save Landlord and Landlord’s
Others In Interest harmless from and against any and all claims, causes of action, damages, losses, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees)
arising out of or in connection with any condition of the Demised Premises relating to Tenant’s occupancy thereof or due to or arising from any act or
omission or negligence of Tenant or any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees, licensees or invitees; and in case any action or proceeding be brought
against Landlord or Landlord’s Others In Interest by reason of any such claim or cause of action, Tenant, upon notice from Landlord, agrees that Tenant, at
Tenant’s expense, will resist or defend such action or proceeding and will employ counsel therefor reasonably satisfactory to



Landlord. As used throughout this lease, the term “Landlord’s Others In Interest” shall mean the owner of the Real Property (if other than Landlord),
Landlord’s managing agent and Landlord’s asset manager. Tenant’s obligations under this Article 25 shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of the
Term of this lease.

(B) Landlord shall indemnify, defend and save harmless Tenant from and against any and all claims, causes of action, damages, losses,
liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees) arising from any injury or death to persons or any damage to property to the extent such injury,
death or damage results from the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or any of its employees, contractors, servants or agents. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, except to the extent caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or any of its employees, contractors, servants or
agents, Landlord shall not be liable for any injury, death or damage to any person, business, equipment, merchandise or other property where such damage
results from (i) fire, steam, electricity, water, gas or rain, (ii) leakage, obstruction or other defects of pipes, sprinklers, wires, plumbing, air conditioning,
boilers or lighting fixtures; or (iii) any act or omission, negligent or otherwise, of any other tenant in the Building. Landlord’s obligations under this Article 25
shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of the Term of this lease.

(C) The agreements to indemnify, defend and hold harmless contained in this Article 25 hereof are not intended to and shall not relieve
any insurance carrier of its obligations under policies required to be carried by Landlord or Tenant, respectively, pursuant to this lease to the extent that such
policies cover the results of such acts or omissions.

DESTRUCTION - FIRE OR OTHER CASUALTY

26. (A) Except as otherwise provided herein, if the Premises or any part thereof shall be damaged by fire or other casualty and Tenant gives
prompt notice thereof to Landlord, Landlord shall proceed with reasonable diligence to repair or cause to be repaired such damage, which repair and
restoration obligation shall include the obligation to restore or replace any of the improvements and betterments existing within the Demised Premises at the
time of the subject fire or other casualty (other than Specialty Alterations and Tenant’s Property, which shall be the responsibility of Tenant). The Rent shall
be abated to the extent that the Premises shall have been rendered untenantable, such abatement to be from the date of such damage or destruction to the date
the Premises shall be substantially repaired or rebuilt, in proportion which the area of the part of the Premises so rendered untenantable bears to the total area
of the Premises.

(B) If the Premises shall be totally damaged or rendered wholly untenantable by fire or other casualty, and neither Landlord nor Tenant
have terminated this lease pursuant to other provisions of this Article 26, then the Rent and all items of additional rent required hereunder shall be paid by
Tenant for all periods or partial periods up to the date of such fire or casualty and thenceforth shall cease until such time as the Demised Premises and
Tenant’s access thereto have been repaired and restored by Landlord (or sooner reoccupied in part by Tenant, in which case the Rent and additional rent
hereunder shall merely be abated to the extent the Demised Premises remain untenantable).

(C)  If the Premises shall be totally damaged or rendered wholly untenantable by fire or other casualty or if the Building shall be so
damaged by fire or other casualty that substantial alteration or reconstruction of the Building shall, in the reasonable opinion of a reputable, qualified architect
retained by Landlord, be required (whether or not the Premises shall have been damaged by such fire or other casualty), then in any of such events Landlord
may, at its option, terminate this lease and the Term and estate hereby granted, by giving Tenant thirty (30) days notice of such termination within ninety (90)
days after the date of such damage. In the event that such notice of termination shall be given, this lease and the Term and estate hereby granted, shall
terminate as of the date provided in such notice of termination (whether or not the Term shall have commenced) with the same effect as if that were the
Expiration Date, and the Rent and additional rent shall be apportioned as of such date or sooner termination and any prepaid portion of Rent and additional
rent for any period after such date shall be refunded by Landlord to Tenant. In the event such termination notice is not given, Landlord shall proceed with
reasonable diligence to repair or cause to be repair such



damage as set forth in the first sentence of Article 26(A) above.

(D) Landlord shall not be liable for any inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant or injury to the business of Tenant resulting in any way
from such damage by fire or other casualty or the repair thereof. Landlord will not carry insurance of any kind on Tenant’s property, and Landlord shall not be
obligated to repair any damage thereto or replace the same.

(E) If the Demised Premises shall be totally damaged or rendered wholly untenantable by fire or other casualty occurring during the last
twelve (12) months of the Term, then Tenant shall have the right to terminate this lease by written notice delivered to Landlord within fifteen (15) days
following the date of the subject fire or other casualty. In addition, if the Demised Premises shall be totally damaged or rendered wholly untenantable by fire
or other casualty occurring before the last twelve (12) months of the term, but Landlord thereafter has not substantially competed its restoration of the
Demised Premises by the date (the “Trigger Date”) that is twelve (12) months following the date of occurrence of the subject fire or other casualty, subject to
force majeure and delays attributable to Tenant, then Tenant shall have the right to terminate this lease by written notice delivered to Landlord within fifteen
(15) days following the Trigger Date. In the case of proper exercise of any termination right afforded to Tenant under this Article 26(E), this lease shall
terminate as of the date of delivery of such written notice by Tenant, and neither party shall have any further obligation or liability to the other hereunder
(except for obligations or liabilities previously accrued which remain unsatisfied).

(F) This lease shall be considered an express agreement governing any case of damage to or destruction of the Building or any part thereof
by fire or other casualty, and Section 227 of the Real Property Law of the State of New York providing for such a contingency in the absence of such express
agreement, and any other law of like import now or hereafter enacted, shall have no application in such case.

INSURANCE

27. (A)I) Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, obtain and maintain in full force and effect throughout the Term of this lease:

(i) Commercial General Liability insurance on an occurrence basis against claims for Bodily Injury, including death arising
therefrom, Personal Injury, Property Damage occurring in or about the Premises or the Real Property under which Tenant is named as the insured and
Landlord and Landlord’s Others In Interest whose names shall have been furnished by Landlord to Tenant from time to time are included as additional
insureds, by policy endorsement if necessary. Tenant’s Commercial General Liability shall be primary, in all respects, without contribution from any other
insurance carried by or for the benefit of Landlord, Landlord’s managing agent or any ground lessors, mortgagees or others named as additional insureds.
Such Commercial General Liability insurance shall include Contractual Liability to insure Tenant’s indemnification obligations set forth in this lease. The
minimum limits of liability shall be a combined single limit with respect to each occurrence in an amount of not less than $5,000,000.00; said limit may be
obtained by use of follow-form excess or Umbrella liability policies; provided, however, that Landlord may require Tenant to increase such insurance, from
time to time, so as to equal the amount of insurance which, in Landlord’s reasonable judgment, is then being customarily required by landlords for similar
office space in the vicinity of the Premises. If Tenant’s Commercial General Liability insurance covers more than one location, the policy providing this
coverage shall be written with a “per location” aggregate limit.

(ii) Property Insurance insuring Tenant’s Property and all additions, alterations, improvements or betterments to the Premises
which Tenant installs or constructs for the full replacement cost thereof. Property Insurance shall be written to provide Special Form “all risk” perils insuring

Tenant’s Property.

(iii) Worker’s Compensation insurance covering all of Tenant’s employees and any



other insurance required by law.

(iv) If Tenant undertakes any Alteration, then any and all contractors and subcontractors engaged by Tenant with respect to the
subject Alteration shall be required to provide certificates of insurance giving evidence of (a) Commercial General Liability, in an insurer reasonably
acceptable to Landlord with limits of no less than those required of the Tenant, and naming as an additional insured thereunder Landlord and Landlord’s
Others In Interest then required to be named as an additional insured under the Commercial General Liability policy maintained by Tenant under this lease, by
policy endorsement if necessary, and (b) Worker’s Compensation covering all employees of such contractor or subcontractor. No contractor or subcontractor
is permitted to begin work on or at the Premises until an insurance certificate, indicating inclusion of required additional insureds, shall have been delivered to
and accepted by Landlord.

(A)(II)  Unless otherwise required pursuant to the terms of a mortgage to which Landlord and an institutional lender are a party, where
such mortgage encumbers Landlord’s interest in the Real Property, Landlord shall maintain insurance of the following types throughout the Term

@) Commercial general liability policy for the Building and Building Parking Area with a combined single limit of at least
One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per occurrence and umbrella coverage of at least Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000.00) including coverage for bodily

injury, property damage and personal injury liability;
(i) Worker’s compensation or similar insurance in form and amounts required by law; and

(iii) ISO Causes of Loss, Special Form Property insurance covering the Building and the Building Parking Area in an amount not
less than full replacement cost under a blanket policy of insurance.

(B) All insurance to be carried by Tenant and Landlord hereunder (i) shall be obtained from companies licensed as Admitted insurers in
the state where the Premises is located and rated “A-, IX”, or better, in the current edition of Best’s Key Rating Guide, and (ii) may be maintained under
blanket policies of insurance provided the coverage afforded will not be reduced from that required hereunder by the use of a blanket policy. Tenant shall
provide evidence of required insurance to Landlord in the form of Certificate(s) of Insurance, or, if required by Landlord, certified copies of insurance
policies. Tenant is responsible to provide to Landlord evidence of renewals of required insurance prior to expiration of each such policy. All required
insurance policies shall provide for thirty (30) days advance notice of cancellation or non-renewal (ten (10) days notice for non-payment of premium) to
Landlord.

(C) Landlord and Tenant hereby mutually waive any rights of recovery or subrogation against each other (including their employees,
officers, directors, agents or representatives) for loss or damage to the Building, tenant improvements and betterments, fixtures, equipment and any other
personal property to the extent insured against by the property insurance of the type required to be carried by the damaged party, regardless of whether or not
the damaged party has obtained the required insurance. If the property insurance purchased by Tenant or Landlord as required above does not expressly allow
the insured to waive rights of subrogation prior to a loss, Tenant or, as the case may be, Landlord, shall cause the property policy to be endorsed with a waiver
of subrogation as required above.



EMINENT DOMAIN

28. (A) In the event that the whole of the Demised Premises shall be lawfully condemned or taken in any manner for any public or quasi-public
use, this lease and the Term and estate hereby granted shall forthwith cease and terminate as of the date of vesting of title. In the event that only a part of the
Demised Premises shall be so condemned or taken, then effective as of the date of vesting of title, the Rent hereunder shall be abated in an amount thereof
apportioned according to the area of the Demised Premises so condemned or taken. In the event that only a part of the Building shall be so condemned or
taken, then (i) Landlord (whether or not the Demised Premises be affected) may, at its option, terminate this lease and the Term and estate hereby granted as
of the date of such vesting of title by notifying Tenant in writing of such termination within sixty (60) days following the date on which Landlord shall have
received notice of vesting of title, and (ii) if such condemnation or taking shall be of a material part of the Demised Premises (i.e., more than twenty (20%)
percent), all reasonable means of access thereto or so much of the Building Parking Area that Landlord cannot provide Tenant with the number of parking
spaces allocated to Tenant under Article 9 of this lease, Tenant shall have the right, by delivery of notice in writing to Landlord within sixty (60) days
following the date on which Tenant shall have received notice of vesting of title, to terminate this lease and the Term and estate hereby granted as of the date
of vesting of title, or (iii) if neither Landlord nor Tenant elects to terminate this lease, as aforesaid, this lease shall be and remain unaffected by such
condemnation or taking, except that the Rent shall be abated to the extent, if any, hereinabove provided in this Article 28. In the event that only a part of the
Demised Premises shall be so condemned or taken and this lease and the Term and estate hereby granted are not terminated as hereinbefore provided,
Landlord will, at its expense, restore the remaining portion of the Demised Premises as nearly as practicable to the same condition as it was in prior to such
condemnation or taking.

(B) In the event of a termination in any of the cases hereinabove provided, this lease and the Term and estate granted shall expire as of the
date of such termination with the same effect as if that were the date hereinbefore set for the expiration of the Term of this lease, and the Rent hereunder shall
be apportioned as of such date.

(C) In the event of any condemnation or taking hereinabove mentioned of all or part of the Building, Landlord shall be entitled to receive
the entire award in the condemnation proceeding, including any award made for the value of the estate vested by this lease in Tenant, and Tenant hereby
expressly assigns to Landlord any and all right, title and interest of Tenant now or hereafter arising in or to any such award or any part thereof, and Tenant
shall be entitled to receive no part of such award, except that the Tenant may file a claim for any taking of nonmovable fixtures owned by Tenant and for
moving expenses incurred by Tenant. It is expressly understood and agreed that the provisions of this Article 28 shall not be applicable to any condemnation
or taking for governmental occupancy for a limited period (i.e., less than six (6) months); provided, however, that, in such event, Rent and additional rent
shall abate during the course of the subject taking if the subject taking is of a type that (but for the limited period) would have entitled Tenant to an abatement
(and to the same extent of the abatement that would have been afforded under) Article 28(A) and Tenant ceases to use the Demised Premises (or the affected
portion thereof) during the course of the subject taking.



NONLIABILITY OF LANDLORD

29. (A) If Landlord or a successor in interest is an individual (which term as used herein includes aggregates of individuals, such as joint
ventures, general or limited partnerships or associations), such individual shall be under no personal liability with respect to any of the provisions of this
lease, and if such individual hereto is in breach or default with respect to its obligations under this lease, Tenant shall look solely to the equity of such
individual in the Demised Premises and/or the Building (which equity interest shall be deemed to include any casualty insurance proceeds, condemnation
awards, net proceeds of sale and net income derived from the Building) for the satisfaction of Tenant’s remedies and in no event shall Tenant attempt to
secure any personal judgment against any such individual or any partner, employee or agent of Landlord by reason of such default by Landlord.

(B) The word “Landlord” as used herein means only the owner of the landlord’s interest for the time being in the land and Building (or the
owners of a lease of the Building or of the land and Building) of which the Premises form a part, and in the event of any sale of the Building and land of
which the Demised Premises form a part, Landlord shall be and hereby is entirely freed and relieved of all covenants and obligations of Landlord hereunder
accruing from and after such sale or transfer so long as the purchaser of the Premises assumes in a written instrument the obligations of Landlord hereunder.



DEFAULT

30. (A) Upon the occurrence, at any time during the Term, of any one or more of the following events (referred to as “Events of Default”):

(i) If Tenant shall default in the payment when due of any installment of Rent or in the payment when due of any additional rent,
and such default shall continue for a period of five (5) business days after Tenant’s receipt of notice from Landlord that such payment is past due (if the
subject delinquency is the first or second payment delinquency on the part of Tenant under this lease during the preceding twelve (12) months) or five (5)
business days after the due date therefor (if the subject delinquency is not the first or second payment delinquency on the part of Tenant under this lease
during the preceding twelve (12) months); or

(ii) If Tenant shall default in the observance or performance of any term, covenant or condition of this lease on Tenant’s part to
be observed or performed (other than the covenants for the payment of Rent and additional rent) and Tenant shall fail to remedy such default within thirty
(30) days after notice by Landlord to Tenant of such default, or if such default is of such a nature that it cannot be completely remedied within said period of
thirty (30) days and Tenant shall not commence within said period of thirty (30) days, or shall not thereafter diligently prosecute to completion, all steps
necessary to remedy such default; or

(iii) If Tenant shall file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or insolvency, or shall be adjudicated a bankrupt or become insolvent,
or shall file any petition or answer seeking any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under the
present or any future federal bankruptcy code or any other present or future applicable federal, state or other statute or law, or shall make an assignment for
the benefit of creditors or shall seek or consent to or acquiesce in the appointment of any trustee, receiver or liquidator of Tenant or of all or any part of
Tenant’s property; or

(iv) If, within sixty (60) days after the commencement of any proceeding against Tenant, whether by the filing of a petition or
otherwise, seeking any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under the present or any future
federal bankruptcy code or any other present or future applicable federal, state or other statute or law, such proceedings shall not have been dismissed, or if,
within sixty (60) days after the appointment of any trustee, receiver or liquidator of Tenant, or of all or any part of Tenant’s property, such appointment shall
not have been vacated or otherwise discharged, or if any execution or attachment shall be issued against Tenant or any of Tenant’s property pursuant to which
the Demised Premises shall be taken or occupied; or

(v) Intentionally Omitted.
(vi) Intentionally Omitted; or

(vii) If Tenant’s interest in this lease shall devolve upon or pass to any person, whether by operation of law or otherwise, except
as expressly permitted under Article 21;

then, upon the occurrence, at anytime prior to or during the Term, of any one or more of such Events of Default,
Landlord, at any time thereafter, at Landlord’s option, may give to Tenant a five (5) days’ notice of termination of this lease and, in the event such notice is
given, this lease and the Term shall come to an end and expire (whether or not said term shall have commenced) upon the expiration of said five (5) days with
the same effect as if the date of expiration of said five (5) days were the Expiration Date, but Tenant shall remain liable for damages as provided in Article 32.

(B) If, at any time (i) Tenant shall be comprised of two (2) or more persons, or (ii) Tenant’s obligations under this lease shall have been
guaranteed by any person other than Tenant, or (iii) Tenant’s interest in this



lease shall have been assigned, the word “Tenant”, as used in subsection (iii) and (iv) of Section 30(A), shall be deemed to mean any one or more of the
persons primarily or secondarily liable for Tenant’s obligations under this lease. Any monies received by Landlord from or on behalf of Tenant during the
pendency of any proceeding of the types referred to in said subsections (iii) and (iv) shall be deemed paid as compensation for the use and occupation of the
Demised Premises and the acceptance of such compensation by Landlord shall not be deemed an acceptance of Rent or a waiver on the part of Landlord of
any rights under Section 30(A).

TERMINATION ON DEFAULT

31. (A) If an Event of Default shall occur, then:

(i) Landlord and its agents and servants may immediately, or at any time after such default or after the date upon which this lease
and the Term shall expire and come to an end, re-enter the Demised Premises or any part thereof, without notice, either by summary proceedings or by any
other applicable action or proceeding, or by force or other means provided such force or other means are lawful (without being liable to indictment,
prosecution or damages therefor), and may repossess the Demised Premises and dispossess Tenant and any other persons from the Demised Premises and
remove any and all of their property and effects from the Demised Premises; and

(ii) Landlord, at Landlord’s option, may relet the whole or any part or parts of the Demised Premises from time to time, either in
the name of Landlord or otherwise, to such tenant or tenants, for such term or terms ending before, on or after the Expiration Date, at such rental or rentals
and upon such other conditions, which may include concessions and free rent periods, as Landlord, in its sole discretion, may determine. Landlord shall have
no obligation to relet the Demised Premises or any part thereof and shall in no event be liable for refusal or failure to relet the Demised Premises or any part
thereof, or, in the event of any such reletting, for refusal or failure to collect any rent due upon any such reletting, and no such refusal or failure shall operate
to relieve Tenant of any liability under this lease or otherwise to affect any such liability; Landlord, at Landlord’s option, may make such repairs,
replacements, alterations, additions, improvements, decorations and other physical changes in and to the Demised Premises as Landlord, in its sole discretion,
considers advisable or necessary in connection with any such reletting or proposed reletting, without relieving Tenant of any liability under this lease or
otherwise affecting any such liability.

(B) Tenant, on its own behalf and on behalf of all persons claiming through or under Tenant, including all creditors, does hereby waive
any and all rights which Tenant and all such persons might otherwise have under any present or future law to redeem the Demised Premises, or to re-enter or
repossess the Demised Premises, or to restore the operation of this lease, after (i) Tenant shall have been dispossessed by a judgment or by warrant of any
court or judge, or (ii) any lawful re-entry by Landlord, or (iii) any expiration or termination of this lease and the Term, whether such dispossess, re-entry,
expiration or termination shall be by operation of law or pursuant to the provisions of this lease. In the event of a breach by Tenant or any persons claiming
through or under Tenant, of any term, covenant or condition of this lease on Tenant’s part to be observed or performed in a manner that would (with notice
and the passage of time) constitute an Event of Default, Landlord shall have the right to enjoin such breach and the right to invoke any other remedy allowed
by law or in equity as if re-entry, summary proceeding and other special remedies were not provided in this lease for such breach. The rights to invoke the
remedies hereinbefore set forth are cumulative and shall not preclude Landlord from invoking any other remedy allowed at law or in equity.

DAMAGES

32. (A) If this lease and the Term shall expire and come to an end as provided in Article 30 or by or under any summary proceeding or any other
action or proceeding, or if Landlord shall re-enter the Demised Premises as provided in Article 31 or by or under any summary proceedings or any other
action or proceeding, then, in any of said events:



(i) Tenant shall pay to Landlord all Rent, additional rent and other charges payable under this lease by Tenant to Landlord to the
date upon which this lease and the Term shall have expired and come to an end or to the date of re-entry upon the Demised Premises by Landlord, as the case
may be; and

(ii) Tenant shall also be liable for and shall pay to Landlord, as damages, any deficiency (referred to as “Deficiency”) between
the Rent and additional rent reserved in this lease for the period which otherwise would have constituted the unexpired portion of the Term and the net
amount, if any, of rents collected under any reletting effected pursuant to the provisions of Section 31(A) for any part of such period (first deducting from the
rents collected under any such reletting all of Landlord’s expenses in connection with the termination of this lease or Landlord’s re-entry upon the Demised
Premises and with such reletting including, but not limited to, all repossession costs, brokerage commissions, reasonable legal expenses and attorneys’ fees,
alteration costs and other expenses of preparing the Demised Premises for such reletting). Any such Deficiency shall be paid in monthly installments by
Tenant on the days specified in this lease for payment of installments of Rent. Landlord shall be entitled to recover from Tenant each monthly Deficiency as
the same shall arise, and no suit to collect the amount of the Deficiency for any month shall prejudice Landlord’s rights to collect the Deficiency for any
subsequent month by a similar proceeding; and

(iii) At any time after the Term shall have expired and come to an end or Landlord shall have re-entered upon the Demised
Premises, as the case may be, whether or not Landlord shall have collected any monthly Deficiencies as aforesaid, Landlord shall be entitled to recover from
Tenant, and Tenant shall pay to Landlord, on demand, as and for liquidated and agreed final damages (and in lieu of any Deficiencies for periods thereafter), a
sum equal to the amount by which the Rent and additional rent reserved in this lease for the period which otherwise would have constituted the unexpired
portion of the Term exceeds the then fair and reasonable rental value of the Demised Premises for the same period, both discounted to present worth at the
rate of four (4%) per cent per annum. If, before presentation of proof of such liquidated damages to any court, commission, or tribunal, the Demised Premises,
or any part thereof, shall have been relet by Landlord to a non-affiliate in an arms length transaction for the period which otherwise would have constituted
the unexpired portion of the Term, or any part thereof, the amount of Rent reserved upon such reletting shall be deemed, prima facie, to be the fair and
reasonable rental value for the part or the whole of the Demised Premises so relet during the term of the reletting.

(B) If the Demised Premises, or any part thereof, shall be relet together with other space in the Building, the rents collected or reserved
under any such reletting and the expenses of any such reletting shall be equitably apportioned for the purposes of this Article 32. Tenant shall in no event be
entitled to any rents collected or payable under any reletting, whether or not such rents shall exceed the rent reserved in this lease. Solely for the purposes of
this Article, the term “Rent” as used in Section 32(A) shall mean the rent in effect immediately prior to the date upon which this lease and the Term shall have
expired and come to an end, or the date of re-entry upon the Demised Premises by Landlord, as the case may be, plus any additional rent payable pursuant to
the provisions of Article 11 and Article 12 for the Escalation Year (as defined in Article 11) immediately preceding such event. Nothing contained in Articles
30 and 31 of this lease shall be deemed to limit or preclude the recovery by Landlord from Tenant of the maximum amount allowed to be obtained as
damages by any statute or rule of law, or of any sums or damages to which Landlord may be entitled in addition to the damages set forth in Section 32(A).

SUMS DUE LANDLORD

33. If Tenant shall default in the performance of any covenants on Tenant’s part to be performed under this lease, Landlord may immediately, or at
anytime thereafter, without notice, and without thereby waiving such default, perform the same for the account of Tenant and at the expense of Tenant. If
Landlord at any time is compelled to pay or elects to pay any sum of money, or do any act which will require the payment of any sum of money by reason of
the failure of Tenant to comply with any provision hereof, or, if Landlord is compelled to or elects to incur any expense, including reasonable attorneys’ fees,
instituting, prosecuting and/or defending any action or proceeding instituted by



reason of any default of Tenant hereunder, the sum or sums so paid by Landlord, with all interest, costs and damages, shall be deemed to be additional rent
hereunder and shall be due from Tenant to Landlord on the first day of the month following the incurring of such respective expenses or, at Landlord’s option,
on the first day of any subsequent month. Any sum of money (other than the annual minimum rent due under this lease) accruing from Tenant to Landlord
pursuant to any provisions of this lease, including, but not limited to, the provisions of Schedule “B” and extra work orders requested by Tenant, whether
prior to or after the Rent Commencement Date, may, at Landlord’s option, be deemed additional rent, and Landlord shall have the same remedies for Tenant’s
failure to pay any item of additional rent when due as for Tenant’s failure to pay any installment of Rent when due. Tenant’s obligations under this Article
shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of the Term. In any case in which the Rent, additional rent or other charge is not paid within five (5) days of
the day when same is due, Tenant shall pay interest on such amount from the due date of such amount until the payment date of such amount at a rate equal to
the greater of twelve (12%) percent per annum or three hundred basis points over the then current prime rate of interest, as reported by The Wall Street
Journal, provided, however, the rate charged shall in no event be higher than the highest rate permitted by law (the “Default Rate”). In addition to the accrual
and requirement for payment of interest on the subject delinquent amount, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as additional rent, a one-time (with respect to the
subject delinquency) late payment charge in an amount equal to five percent (5%) of the amount of the unpaid installment of Rent, additional rent or other
charge as of the due date therefor. The foregoing late payment charge is intended to compensate Landlord for its additional administrative costs resulting from
Tenant’s failure to pay in a timely manner and has been agreed upon by Landlord and Tenant as a reasonable estimate of the additional administrative costs
that will be incurred by Landlord as a result of Tenant’s failure as the actual cost in each instance is extremely difficult, if not impossible, to determine. This
late payment charge will constitute liquidated damages and will be paid to Landlord together with such unpaid amounts and the interest having accrued
thereon. Neither the payment of interest nor the aforesaid late payment charge will constitute a waiver by Landlord of any default by Tenant under this lease.
Tenant hereby agrees that all Rent and additional rent from time to time computed by Landlord in connection with this lease shall be final and binding for all
purposes of this lease unless, within thirty (30) days after Landlord provides Tenant with written notice (if any) of the amount thereof, Tenant provides
Landlord with written notice disputing the mathematical accuracy of such amount. Notwithstanding the foregoing, on the first two (2) occasions in any
calendar year that Tenant fails to make a payment of Rent or additional rent on or before the due date, Tenant shall not be obligated to pay the late charge set
forth in this section nor shall interest accrue at the Default Rate unless Tenant fails to cure such late payment within five (5) business days following
Landlord’s notice to Tenant of such late payment.

NO WAIVER

34. No act or thing done by Landlord or Landlord’s agents during the term hereby demised shall be deemed an acceptance of a surrender of said
Demised Premises, and no agreement to accept such surrender shall be valid unless in writing signed by Landlord. No employee of Landlord or of Landlord’s
agents shall have any power to accept the keys of the Demised Premises prior to the termination of this lease. The delivery of keys to any employee of
Landlord or of Landlord’s agents shall not operate as a termination of this lease or a surrender of the Demised Premises. In the event Tenant shall at any time
desire to have Landlord underlet the Demised Premises for Tenant’s account, Landlord or Landlord’s agents are authorized to receive said keys for such
purposes without releasing Tenant from any of the obligations under this lease, and Tenant hereby relieves Landlord and its agents of any liability for loss of
or damage to any of Tenant’s effects in connection with such underletting. Notwithstanding anything contained to the contrary in this lease, Tenant hereby
waives any right to recover against Landlord and its agents any indirect, consequential, special, punitive or incidental damages against Landlord or its agents
in any cause of action, proceeding or claim arising out of, or in connection with, this lease. The failure of Landlord to seek redress for violation of, or to insist
upon the strict performance of, any covenants or conditions of this lease, or any of the Rules and Regulations annexed hereto and made a part hereof or
hereafter adopted by Landlord, shall not prevent a subsequent act, which would have originally constituted a violation, from having all the force and effect of
an original violation. The receipt by Landlord of rent with knowledge of the breach of any covenant of this lease shall not be deemed a waiver of such breach.
The failure of Landlord to enforce any of the Rules and Regulations annexed hereto and made a part hereof,



or hereafter adopted, against Tenant and/or any other tenant in the Building shall not be deemed a waiver of any such Rules and Regulations. No provision of
this lease shall be deemed to have been waived by Landlord, unless such waiver be in writing signed by Landlord. No payment by Tenant or receipt by
Landlord of a lesser amount than the monthly Rent herein stipulated shall be deemed to be other than on account of the earliest stipulated Rent nor shall any
endorsement or statement on any check or any letter accompanying any check or payment of Rent be deemed an accord and satisfaction, and Landlord may
accept such check or payment without prejudice to Landlord’s right to recover the balance of such Rent or pursue any other remedy in this lease provided.

WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY

35. To the extent such waiver is permitted by law, Landlord and Tenant hereby waive trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim
brought by Landlord or Tenant against the other on any matter whatsoever arising out of or in any way connected with this lease, the relationship of landlord
and tenant, the use or occupancy of the Demised Premises by Tenant or any person claiming through or under Tenant, any claim of injury or damage, and any
emergency or other statutory remedy. The provisions of the foregoing sentence shall survive the expiration or any sooner termination of the Term. If Landlord
commences any summary proceeding for nonpayment, Tenant agrees not to interpose any counterclaim of whatever nature or description in any such
proceeding or to consolidate such proceeding with any other proceeding, unless such counterclaim is compulsory in nature or Tenant otherwise will legally
forfeit the right to bring such claim by not so interposing or consolidating such claims.

Tenant hereby expressly waives any and all rights of redemption granted by or under any present or future laws in the event of Tenant being
evicted or dispossessed for any cause, or in the event of Landlord’s obtaining possession of the Demised Premises, by reason of the violation by Tenant of any
of the covenants and conditions of this lease or otherwise.

NOTICES

36. (A) Except as otherwise expressly provided in this lease, any bills, statements, notices, demands, requests or other communications (other
than bills, statements or notices given in the regular course of business) given or required to be given under this lease shall be effective only if rendered or
given in writing, personally delivered or sent by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested) or by reputable overnight courier, addressed (A) to
Tenant, to the attention of Tenant’s Chief Financial Officer, (i) at Tenant’s address set forth in the introductory paragraph of this lease if mailed prior to
Tenant’s taking possession of the Demised Premises, Attn: Chief Financial Officer, with a copy to the General Counsel or (ii) at the Building if mailed
subsequent to Tenant’s taking possession of the Demised Premises, Attn: Chief Financial Officer, with a copy to the General Counsel or (iii) at any place
where Tenant or any agent or employee of Tenant may be found if mailed subsequent to Tenant’s vacating, deserting, abandoning or surrendering the
Demised Premises, or (B) to Landlord, c/o RXR Realty LLC, to the attention of its Managing Director, at the address set forth in the introductory paragraph
of this lease, together with a copy thereof simultaneously delivered to RXR Realty LLC, to the attention of its Legal Department, at 625 RXR Plaza,
Uniondale, New York 11556, or (C) addressed to such other address as either Landlord or Tenant may designate as its new address for such purpose by notice
given to the other in accordance with the provisions of this Article. Any such bills, statements, notices, demands, requests or other communications shall be
deemed to have been rendered or given on the date when it shall have been delivered or rejected.

(B) Tenant hereby designates the following address as its billing address for the delivery of all bills and invoices issued by Landlord in
connection with this lease:

Attention: Inventory Control Manager



For regular mail:

P.O. Box 1108
Jackson, WY 83001

For UPS, FedEx or other deliveries:

Jackson Hole Services Group
3510 North Lake Creek Drive
Wilson, WY 83014

(800) 803-4471

Upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to Landlord, Tenant may, from time to time, re-designate its billing address hereunder.

INABILITY TO PERFORM

37. (A) If, by reason of strikes or other labor disputes, fire or other casualty (or reasonable delays in adjustment of insurance), accidents, orders
or regulations of any Federal, State, County or Municipal authority, or any other cause beyond Landlord’s reasonable control, whether or not such other cause
shall be similar in nature to those hereinbefore enumerated, Landlord is unable to furnish or is delayed in furnishing any utility or service required to be
furnished by Landlord under the provisions of this lease or any collateral instrument or is unable to perform or make or is delayed in performing or making
any installations, decorations, repairs, alterations, additions or improvements, whether or not required to be performed or made under this lease, or under any
collateral instrument, or is unable to fulfill or is delayed in fulfilling any of Landlord’s other obligations under this lease, or any collateral instrument
(specifically excluding, however, any payment obligation of Landlord), then, subject to Articles 2 and 5 hereof and Article 38 below, no such inability or
delay shall constitute an actual or constructive eviction, in whole or in part, or entitle Tenant to any abatement or diminution of rent, or relieve Tenant from
any of its obligations under this lease, or impose any liability upon Landlord or its agents, by reason of inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant, or injury to or
interruption of Tenant’s business, or otherwise.

(B) If, by reason of strikes or other labor disputes, fire or other casualty (or reasonable delays in adjustment of insurance), accidents,
orders or regulations of any Federal, State, County or Municipal authority, or any other cause beyond Tenant’s reasonable control, whether or not such other
cause shall be similar in nature to those hereinbefore enumerated, Tenant is unable to perform or make or is delayed in performing or making any obligation
required to be performed by Tenant under this lease (specifically excluding, however, any payment obligation of Tenant), no such inability or delay shall
constitute an Event of Default, or relieve Landlord from any of its obligations under this lease, or impose any liability upon Tenant or its agents.

INTERRUPTION OF SERVICE

38. (A) Landlord reserves the right to stop the services of the air conditioning, elevator, escalator, plumbing, electrical or other mechanical
systems or facilities in the Building when necessary by reason of accident or emergency, or for repairs, alterations or replacements, which, in the judgment of
Landlord are desirable or necessary, until such repairs, alterations or replacements shall have been completed. If the Tenant is in default in the payment of the
rent or additional rent, or in the performance of any other provisions of this lease, and such default continues for ten (10) days after notice by Landlord to
Tenant (unless such default is incapable of cure within such 10-day period,



in which case Tenant shall have such longer period as is necessary to cure such default so long as Tenant promptly commences such cure and diligently
prosecutes same to completion), then Landlord reserves the right to discontinue any or all of the services to the Demised Premises during the continuance of
such default. The exercise of such rights by Landlord shall not constitute an actual or constructive eviction, in whole or in part, or entitle Tenant to any
abatement or diminution of rent, or relieve Tenant from any of its obligations under this lease, or impose any liability upon Landlord or its agents by reason of
inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant, or injury to or interruption of Tenant’s business or otherwise.

(B) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this lease, in the event of an Abatement Event (hereinafter defined), Tenant, as
its sole and exclusive remedy, will be entitled to an abatement of Rent and additional rent, subject to the following provisions and conditions of this Article
38(B). An “Abatement Event” shall be deemed to have occurred where the parties have agreed or an independent arbitrator has determined (in accordance
with the procedures set forth below) that, due to Landlord’s failure to provide any essential services that it is required to provide under this lease, the Demised
Premises has been rendered Untenantable (hereinafter defined), and such Untenantability has continued for a period of ten (10) consecutive business days
after receipt of notice of such Untenantability. If the parties agree or the arbitrator determines that there has occurred an Abatement Event, then Rent
(including all fixed and additional rent) shall be abated on a day for day basis, commencing on the eleventh (11%) business day after Landlord’s receipt of
notice of such Untenantability and continuing until the date on which the Demised Premises has ceased to be Untenantable. If only a substantial portion of the
Demised Premises (i.e., at least ten (10%) percent of the total rentable area thereof), but less than the entirety of the Demised Premises is rendered
Untenantable as a result of an Abatement Event, then Tenant shall still be entitled to an abatement, but such abatement would be on a prorated basis, using the
percentage derived from a fraction having a numerator equal to the rentable area of the Untenantable portion of the Demised Premises and a denominator
equal to the total rentable area of the Demised Premises. The term “Untenantable”, as used herein, shall be deemed to mean where both: (i) the affected
portion of the Demised Premises has been placed in a condition where a reasonable tenant could not reasonably be expected to continue to use and occupy
such portion of the Demised Premises, and (ii) Tenant has actually and completely vacated and ceased to use the affected portion of the Demised Premises. In
the event that Landlord disputes a claim by Tenant that there has occurred an Abatement Event, Tenant may institute an arbitration proceeding for the purpose
of validating and affirming its claim. The arbitration shall be commenced and held at the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) office located nearest
the Building and shall be conducted before a single, independent arbitrator pursuant to the then prevailing expedited arbitration rules of the AAA. The
arbitrator must be an individual with at least ten (10) years experience in the Westchester commercial real estate market. The sole issue before the arbitrator
shall be whether there has occurred an Abatement Event under the provisions of this Article 38(B). The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding
upon Landlord and Tenant. Except for the determination of Tenant’s entitlement to an abatement (if appropriate), the arbitrator shall not be empowered to
award damages of any nature. The provisions of this Article 38(B) shall be inapplicable to any Untenantability which (a) is attributable to the actions or
omissions of Tenant or its employees, agents or contractors (including, without limitation, any defects in the design, implementation or performance of the
Tenant’s Initial Work or any subsequent Alterations [unless actually performed by Landlord or Landlord’s contractors]), or (b) results from any fire or other
casualty falling within the purview of Article 26 of this lease. Landlord and Tenant hereby acknowledge and agree that the essential services are electricity,
water, sanitary sewer, HVAC and elevator service.

CONDITIONS OF LANDLORD’S LIABILITY

39. Except as otherwise provided in Article 2 of this lease, if Landlord shall be unable to give possession of the Demised Premises on any date
specified for the commencement of the term by reason of the fact that the Premises have not been sufficiently completed to make the Premises ready for
occupancy, or for any other reason, Landlord shall not be subject to any liability for the failure to give possession on said date, nor shall such failure in any
way affect the validity of this lease or the obligations of Tenant hereunder.



TENANT’S TAKING POSSESSION

40. Tenant, by entering upon the Premises (whether directly or through its agents or contractors) for commencement of the performance of the
Tenant’s Initial Work, shall be conclusively deemed to have agreed that Landlord, up to the time of such entry, has performed all of its obligations hereunder
and that the Premises were in satisfactory condition as of the date of such occupancy, unless within ten (10) days after such date Tenant shall have given
written notice to Landlord specifying the respects in which the same were not in such condition (the “Demo Punchlist Items”). With respect to all Demo
Punchlist Items that are the responsibility of Landlord, Landlord shall remedy, at Landlord’s expense, within ten (10) days after its receipt of Tenant’s notice.

ENTIRE AGREEMENT

41.  Except for the confirmation of the dates referred to in Article 2 hereof, this lease (including the Schedules and Exhibits annexed hereto)
contains the entire agreement between the parties and all prior negotiations and agreements are merged herein. Tenant hereby acknowledges that neither
Landlord nor Landlord’s agent or representative has made any representations or statements, or promises, upon which Tenant has relied, regarding any matter
or thing relating to the Building, the land allocated to it (including the parking area) or the Demised Premises, or any other matter whatsoever, except as is
expressly set forth in this lease, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any statement, representation or promise as to the fitness of the
Demised Premises for any particular use, the services to be rendered to the Demised Premises, or the prospective amount of any item of additional rent. No
oral or written statement, representation or promise whatsoever with respect to the foregoing or any other matter made by Landlord, its agents or any broker,
whether contained in an affidavit, information circular, or otherwise, shall be binding upon the Landlord unless expressly set forth in this lease. No rights,
easements or licenses are or shall be acquired by Tenant by implication or otherwise unless expressly set forth in this lease. This lease may not be changed,
modified or discharged, in whole or in part, orally, and no executory agreement shall be effective to change, modify or discharge, in whole or in part, this
lease or any obligations under this lease, unless such agreement is set forth in a written instrument executed by the party against whom enforcement of the
change, modification or discharge is sought. All references in this lease to the consent or approval of Landlord shall be deemed to mean the written consent of
Landlord, or the written approval of Landlord, as the case may be, and no consent or approval of Landlord shall be effective for any purpose unless such
consent or approval is set forth in a written instrument executed by Landlord. Landlord and Tenant understand, agree and acknowledge that this lease has
been freely negotiated by both parties and that, in the event of any controversy, dispute, or contest over the meaning, interpretation, validity, or enforceability
of this lease or any of its terms and conditions, there shall be no inference, presumption or conclusion drawn whatsoever against either party by virtue of that
party having drafted this lease or any portion hereof.

DEFINITIONS

2 &«

42. The words “re-enter”, “re-entry”, and “re-entered” as used in this lease are not restricted to their technical legal meanings. The term “business
days” as used in this lease shall exclude Saturdays (except such portion thereof as is covered by specific hours in Article 6 hereof), Sundays and all legal
holidays. The terms “person” and “persons” as used in this lease shall be deemed to include natural persons, firms, corporations, partnerships, associations
and any other private or public entities, whether any of the foregoing are acting on their behalf or in a representative capacity. The various terms which are
defined in other Articles of this lease or are defined in Schedules or Exhibits annexed hereto, shall have the meanings specified in such other Articles,
Exhibits and Schedules for all purposes of this lease and all agreements supplemental thereto, unless the context clearly indicates the contrary.

Tenant shall not record this lease (nor a memorandum thereof). In the event that Tenant violates this



prohibition against recording, Landlord, at its option, may terminate this lease or may declare Tenant in default under this lease and pursue any or all of
Landlord’s remedies provided in this lease.

PARTNERSHIP TENANT

43. If Tenant is a general partnership (or is comprised of two (2) or more persons, individually or as co-partners of a general partnership) or if
Tenant’s interest in this lease shall be assigned to a general partnership (or to two (2) or more persons, individually or as co-partners of a general partnership)
pursuant to Article 21 (any such partnership and such persons are referred to in this Section as “Partnership Tenant”), the following provisions of this Section
shall apply to such Partnership Tenant: (a) the liability of each of the parties comprising Partnership Tenant shall be joint and several, and (b) each of the
parties comprising Partnership Tenant hereby consents in advance to, and agrees to be bound by, any modifications of this lease which may hereafter be made,
and by any notices, demands, requests or other communications which may hereafter be given, by Partnership Tenant or by any of the parties comprising
Partnership Tenant, and (c) any bills, statements, notices, demands, requests and other communications given or rendered to Partnership Tenant or to any of
the parties comprising Partnership Tenant shall be deemed given or rendered to Partnership Tenant and to all such parties and shall be binding upon
Partnership Tenant and all such parties, and (d) if Partnership Tenant shall admit new general partners, all of such new partners shall, by their admission to
Partnership Tenant, be deemed to have assumed performance of all of the terms, covenants and conditions of this lease on Tenant’s part to be observed and
performed, and (e) Partnership Tenant shall give prompt notice to Landlord of the admission of any such new partners, and upon demand of Landlord, shall
cause each such new partner to execute and deliver to Landlord an agreement in form satisfactory to Landlord, wherein each such new partner shall assume
performance of all of the terms, covenants and conditions of this lease on Tenant’s part to be observed and performed (but neither Landlord’s failure to
request any such agreement nor the failure of any such new partner to execute or deliver any such agreement to Landlord shall vitiate the provisions of
subdivision (d) of this Section).

SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS, ETC.

44. The terms, covenants, conditions and agreements contained in this lease shall bind and inure to the benefit of Landlord and Tenant and their
respective heirs, distributees, executors, administrators, successors, and, except as otherwise provided in this lease, their respective assigns.

BROKER

45. Each of Landlord and Tenant represents to the other that this lease was brought about by Jones Lang LaSalle Brokerage, Inc., as broker (the
“Broker”) and that all negotiations with respect to this lease were conducted exclusively among Landlord, Tenant and the Broker. Each of Landlord and
Tenant covenants that if any claim is made for commissions by any broker (other than the Broker) through or on account of the acts of a covenanting party,
then that covenanting party will indemnify, defend and hold the other party free and harmless from any and all liabilities and expenses in connection
therewith, including such other party’s reasonable legal fees and disbursements. Landlord shall pay the Broker a commission in connection with this lease,
subject and pursuant to the terms of a separate agreement between Landlord and Broker (for avoidance of doubt, no portion of such commission is payable
from the Landlord’s Contribution). In the event Tenant elects to use any broker (the “New Broker”) other than or together with the Broker in connection with
any extension of the Term of this lease (whether by way of a renewal option or a separate extension agreement), Tenant shall be responsible for (and
indemnify Landlord against) the entire amount, if any, by which the commission claimed by the New Broker exceeds the amount of the commission that
would have been payable by Landlord to the Broker on account of the subject transaction had such New Broker not been engaged by Tenant.



CAPTIONS

46. The captions in this lease are included only as a matter of convenience and for reference, and in no way define, limit or describe the scope of
this lease nor the intent of any provisions thereof.

NOTICE OF ACCIDENTS

47. Tenant shall give notice to Landlord, promptly after Tenant learns thereof, of (i) any accident resulting in material injury or damage in or about
the Premises, (ii) all fires and other casualties within the Premises, (iii) all damages to or defects in the Premises, including the fixtures, equipment and
appurtenances thereof for the repair of which Landlord might be responsible, and (iv) all damage to or defects in any parts or appurtenances of the Building’s
sanitary, electrical, heating, ventilating, air-conditioning, elevator and other systems located in or passing through the Premises or any part thereof.

AUTHORITY TO ENTER LEASE

48.  Tenant represents that the person executing this lease on behalf of Tenant has the requisite authority to do so. Landlord represents that the
person executing this lease on behalf of Landlord has the requisite authority to do so.

49. [Intentionally Omitted]

50. [Intentionally Omitted]

RENEWAL OPTIONS

51. Provided no default by Tenant then exists under this lease, Tenant shall have the option to renew this lease for up to two (2) additional five (5)
year periods (each, a “Renewal Term”), with the first such Renewal Term to commence on the day following the last day of the sixth (6™) Lease Year under
this lease and to expire on the day preceding the fifth (5th) anniversary of the first day of such first Renewal Term, and the second such Renewal Term to
commence on the day following the last day of the first Renewal Term and to expire on the fifth (5% anniversary of the last day of the first Renewal Term;
subject to and in accordance with the following terms and conditions:

(A) Tenant shall give notice to Landlord, in writing, not less than twelve (12) months prior to the commencement of the subject Renewal
Term that the subject option is being exercised. The parties agree to then negotiate the minimum annual rent for the subject Renewal Term (the “Minimum
Annual Renewal Rent”). The Minimum Annual Renewal Rent is intended to be ninety-five (95%) percent of the then current fair market annual rental rate per
square foot per year for the Demised Premises as of the first day of the subject Renewal Term, that a willing tenant would pay and a willing landlord of a first
class office building in the Westchester County, New York market area would accept at arm’s length, giving appropriate consideration to annual rental rates
per rentable square foot, the type of escalation clauses (including, without limitation, operating expenses, real estate taxes, CPI), the extent of liability under
the escalation clauses (e.g., whether determined on a “net lease” basis or by increase over a particular base year or base dollar amount), abatement provisions
reflecting free rent during any period during the lease term,



brokerage commissions, if any, length of lease term, size and location of premises being leased, reasonable tenant improvement allowances, if any, any other
tenant inducements or rental concessions, and all other relevant factors. The option for the second Renewal Term may be exercised only in the event Tenant
had previously exercised the option for the first Renewal Term. Upon the proper and timely exercise by Tenant of a renewal option hereunder, the Term of this
lease shall be extended for the subject Renewal Term on the same terms, covenants and conditions as contained in this lease, except that (i) the Minimum
Annual Renewal Rent shall be fixed in accordance with the provisions of this Article, (ii) unless otherwise contemplated in determining the Minimum Annual
Renewal Rent for such Renewal Term, the base years for the purposes of determining Tenant’s Proportionate Share of increases in Taxes and Operating Costs
hereunder shall be reset to the year in which the applicable Renewal Term commences; (iii) the Demised Premises shall be delivered in its “as is” condition as
of the first day of the subject Renewal Term; (iv) unless otherwise mutually-agreed by the parties, Tenant shall not be entitled to any rent concession,
allowance or other leasing incentive in connection with such renewal; and (v) following the second Renewal Term, there shall be no further option to renew
or extend the Term of this lease.

(B) If Landlord and Tenant have not mutually agreed upon the Minimum Annual Renewal Rent by the first day of the sixth (6th) month
prior to the commencement of the subject Renewal Term, then they shall each select one real estate appraiser within at least ten (10) years of experience
appraising similar space in the Westchester County, New York market area, each of whom shall conduct a real estate appraisal and furnish a report to indicate
their opinion of the fair market rental of the Demised Premises.

(C) If, after a review of the appraisal reports prepared and submitted in accordance with Article 51(B) above, Landlord and Tenant have
not agreed on the Minimum Annual Renewal Rent by the first day of the fourth (4th) month prior to the commencement of the subject Renewal Term, then
the matter shall immediately be submitted to arbitration before the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”), and shall be determined by a single arbitrator
in accordance with the provisions of this lease and the then applicable rules of the AAA within the County of Westchester, or of the closest office of the AAA.
The arbitrator shall, in determining the Minimum Annual Renewal Rent, take into consideration the then existing current fair market rental value of similar
premises in the vicinity. The arbitrator shall then, on an expedited basis, choose one of the determinations of the two appraisers originally selected by the
parties. The parties agree that the decision and determination to be made by the arbitrator with respect to the Minimum Annual Renewal Rent shall be final
and binding upon Landlord and Tenant.

(D) [Intentionally Omitted]

(E) Landlord and Tenant shall each separately pay their respective designated appraisers. The expenses, fees and charges in connection
with the arbitration process set forth in Article 51(C) above, shall be borne equally between Landlord and Tenant.

(F) Upon agreement as to the Minimum Annual Renewal Rent by the parties hereto or upon the Minimum Annual Renewal Rent being
fixed by the arbitrator, as the case may be, the parties hereto shall enter into a supplementary agreement extending the term of this lease as hereinabove
provided, provided that no such agreement shall be required to extend the Term as provided herein, it being intended that the renewal options granted Tenant
herein be self-operational if timely and properly exercised. In the event of no agreement between the parties or no decision by arbitration prior to the
commencement of the subject Renewal Term, Tenant shall pay an interim fixed rental at the minimum annual rental rate last in effect until the arbitration shall
have been completed, after which Landlord and Tenant shall make appropriate adjustment of such interim rent, such adjustment to be as of the
commencement date of the subject Renewal Term.

(G)  This option to renew shall be personal to Prestige Brands, Inc., and any permitted assignee of Tenant’s rights under this Lease
pursuant to Article 21(C) hereof and shall not otherwise be transferrable by operation of law or otherwise.



RIGHT OF OFFER

52. (A) At any time during the first four (4) Lease Years of the Term and, if Tenant exercises any of the Renewal Options set forth in Article 51
above, at any time from and after such exercise and during the first four (4) Lease Years of any such Renewal Term, where any leaseable unit located on the
second (2™) floor of the Building hereafter becomes vacant and available for lease (any such space being hereinafter referred to as “Offer Premises”), then
Landlord shall provide notice (the “Landlord’s Offer Notice”) to Tenant of the availability thereof prior to leasing the subject Offer Premises to any other
party, and, thereupon, Tenant shall have a right of offer to lease the entirety of the subject Offer Premises, subject to the terms and conditions of this Article
52. Tenant shall exercise such right of offer, if at all, in strict accordance with the following terms and conditions:

(i) At the time Tenant intends to exercise its right of offer hereunder, and as of the effective date of Tenant’s leasing of such Offer
Premises, Tenant (or its affiliates) shall be occupying at least 80% of the Demised Premises and no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing
under this lease;

(ii) Tenant shall give written notice to Landlord (“Tenant’s Offer Notice”) within fifteen (15) days after receipt of Landlord’s
Offer Notice, expressing unequivocally the fact the Tenant exercises its right of offer to lease the subject Offer Premises on the terms and conditions of this
Article 52; it being acknowledged and agreed that any written communication purporting to serve as Tenant’s Offer Notice, but containing language of
equivocation (i.e. a desire to lease the Offer Premises on terms not consistent with the terms of this Article 52), shall be deemed a counteroffer by Tenant and
shall constitute the election by Tenant not to exercise its right of offer with respect to the subject Offer Premises;

(iii) The minimum annual rental rate for the Offer Premises shall be equal to the then current fair market rental rate for the
subject Offer Premises (the “Offer Rent”), without credit or abatement. In the event Landlord and Tenant have not mutually agreed upon the Offer Rent
within thirty (30) days following delivery of the Tenant’s Offer Notice, the Offer Rent shall be determined through arbitration in accordance with Article
51(C) of this lease (except that the determinations of Landlord and Tenant as to the Offer Rent shall be submitted in lieu of appraisal reports). In the event of
no agreement between the parties or no decision by arbitration prior to the commencement date of subject Offer Premises as to the current fair market rental
rate, Tenant shall pay an interim fixed rental at the minimum annual rental rate then in effect with respect to the balance of the Demised Premises until the
arbitration shall have been completed, after which Landlord and Tenant shall make appropriate adjustment of such interim rent, such adjustment to be
effective as of the commencement of subject Offer Premises;

(iv) Unless otherwise mutually agreed by the parties (and reflected in the Offer Rent), Tenant shall accept the Offer Premises in
its then “as is” condition, and Landlord shall not be required to perform any work, make any installations or incur any expense in or with respect to the
subject Offer Premises in order to prepare same for occupancy by Tenant;

(v) The subject Offer Premises shall be incorporated into the Demised Premises under all of the terms of this lease and the term
thereof shall run co-terminously with the Term hereof, except that the term of this lease, as it relates to the subject Offer Premises, shall commence as of the
date on which Landlord tenders possession of the subject Offer Premises to Tenant, and except as otherwise set forth in clauses (iii) and (iv) above and except
for other changes made necessary by reason of the increased size of the Demised Premises (e.g., Tenant’s Proportionate Share).

(vi) If Tenant timely delivers the Tenant’s Offer Notice, then Landlord shall lease to Tenant and Tenant shall lease from Landlord
the entire Offer Premises; subject to the provisions of this Article. If requested by Landlord or Tenant, however, Landlord and Tenant shall enter into an
amendment of this lease (the “Offer Agreement”), which shall reflect the necessary modifications set forth in clauses (i) through (v) above.



(B) In the event Tenant fails to execute the Offer Agreement within thirty (30) days of presentment thereof by Landlord (where such
failure is unrelated to a good faith claim by Tenant that the proposed Offer Agreement is inconsistent with the terms and conditions of this Article 52),
Tenant’s right of offer will be automatically voidable at the election of Landlord and, if so voided, will be deemed to have lapsed and Landlord shall be free to
lease the Offer Premises to any third party upon any terms. If Tenant declines or fails to deliver Tenant’s Offer Notice within the fifteen (15) day period set
forth above, Landlord shall then have the right to lease the Offer Premises in portions or in its entirety to any third party or parties (the “First Generation Offer
Space Tenant”) without regard to the restrictions in this Article 52 and on whatever terms and conditions Landlord may decide in its sole discretion. If Tenant
so declines or so fails to exercise, this right of first offer shall terminate and be of no further force and effect until such time as Offer Premises again becomes
vacant and available, if ever, after the expiration or earlier termination of the lease with the First Generation Offer Space Tenant.

(C) This right of offer is personal to Prestige Brands, Inc., and any permitted assignee of Tenant’s rights under this Lease pursuant to
Article 21(C) hereof and shall not otherwise be transferrable by operation by law or otherwise. Landlord hereby represents and warrants to Tenant that there
are no other tenants of the Building that hold expansion, offer or refusal rights that would be superior to the rights granted to Tenant pursuant to this Article
52.

STORAGE SPACE

53. (A) Throughout the Term of this lease, Landlord shall provide Tenant with approximately 474 rentable square feet of space (the “Storage
Space”) in the basement of the Building. The Storage Space shall be used by Tenant, on a rent-free basis, for storage purposes only in accordance with the
provisions of this Article. Landlord acknowledges that Tenant’s Proportionate Share (as such term is defined in Article 1 hereof) shall be unaffected by the
Storage Space.

(B) It is understood and agreed by the parties that Tenant’s right to use the Storage Space shall be subject to the following terms and
conditions:

(i) Initially, the Storage Space shall be located in storage space Unit No. 003, located in the lower level of the Building.
However, Landlord shall have the right, from time to time, to relocate, at Landlord’s expense upon thirty (30) days written notice to Tenant, the Storage Space

to other storage space within the Building so long as such space is comparable in size to the original Storage Space;

(i) Tenant’s right to use the Storage Space shall terminate upon the expiration or earlier termination of the Term of this lease; and
thereupon, Tenant shall remove all of its property from the Storage Space, leaving same vacant and in broom clean condition;

(iii) the Storage Space may be used for storage purposes only, and access thereto may be made solely for the purpose of storing
and retrieving Tenant’s property;

(iv) Tenant shall ensure that the scope of the liability insurance policy required to be maintained by Tenant pursuant to Article 27
of this lease is expanded to include coverage of the Storage Space in addition to the Demised Premises;

(v) Tenant shall accept possession of the Storage Space in its “as is” condition as of the date hereof, and Landlord shall not be
responsible to perform any improvements or alterations to such Storage Space;

(vi) Landlord reserves the right to enter the Storage Space, at any time, to inspect same,



to make discretionary repairs and alterations thereto, or to show same to prospective tenants; provided Landlord exercises due care to avoid damage to
Tenant’s property stored therein;

(vii) Tenant shall not install any fixtures, subdivide or make any improvement or alteration to the Storage Space without the prior
written consent of Landlord except in compliance with the provisions of Article 15 of this lease;

(viii) any property remaining in the Storage Space following the expiration or earlier termination of this lease shall be deemed
abandoned and the provisions of Article 17 of this lease shall become applicable thereto; and

(ix) Tenant assumes any and all risks in the use of the Storage Space and shall comply with any and all rules and regulations
applicable thereto whether prescribed by Landlord or any governmental or quasi-governmental authority.

ROOF RIGHTS

54. If Tenant desires to install and operate upon the rooftop of the Building a communications satellite dish for use exclusively in connection with
the operation of its business at the Demised Premises, then Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to same, provided that Tenant enters into
Landlord’s then-standard rooftop communications agreement with Landlord and abides by all terms thereof, subject to reasonable revisions requested thereto
by Tenant. Landlord agrees that, in such event, there shall not be any fixed rental fee for use of that portion of the rooftop dedicated to Tenant’s rooftop
communications equipment (but there may be potential charges to Tenant pursuant to indemnity and similar provisions in the aforesaid agreement).

RESTRICTIVE COVENANT

55.  For so much of the Term of this lease that Prestige Brands, Inc. (or any permitted assignee of Prestige Brands, Inc. taking assignment of this
lease pursuant to the provisions of Article 21(C) of this Lease) then leases and occupies at least 40,000 rentable square feet of space in the Building, Landlord
shall not, without the prior written consent of Tenant, (i) lease any space on the first, second or third floors of the Building directly to any of the Major
Competitors of Prestige Brands listed on Schedule “D” to this lease, or (ii) name the Building after, or grant on-Building-facade signage rights or other
standalone exterior signage rights to, any of the Major Competitors of Prestige Brands listed on Schedule “E” to this lease. In the event of a breach by
Landlord of the provisions of this Article 54 (which remains uncured for a period of thirty (30) days beyond the giving by Tenant to Landlord of written
notice of such breach), Tenant, as its sole remedy on account of such breach, shall have the right to injunctive relief from a Court of competent jurisdiction.

DEEMED CONSENT WARNING NOTICE

56. As used herein, the term “Deemed Consent Warning Notice” shall mean a written notice from Tenant to Landlord that (i) specifically references
this Article 56 and the Article of this lease pursuant to which the subject request for Landlord consent or approval is being made (the “Subject Article); (ii)
advises Landlord that it has failed to provide Tenant with a response to a specifically-identified consent or approval request within the time period allotted
therefor under the Subject Article; (iii) advises Landlord of the fact that, pursuant to the terms of this Lease, Landlord will be deemed to have granted the
requested-consent or requested-approval, as applicable, if such failure continues beyond the delivery of this Deemed Consent Warning Notice for the
applicable additional time period set forth in the



Subject Article; (iv) enclosed a photocopy of the original request to which Landlord has failed to respond; and (v) includes on both the envelope and the first
page of the subject notice, in bold uppercase letters (14 point type or greater), the following statement: “THIS IS A TIME SENSITIVE

NOTICE AND LANDLORD SHALL BE DEEMED TO WAIVE ITS RIGHTS IF IT FAILS TO
RESPOND IN THE TIME PERIOD PROVIDED”.

GUARANTY

57. In order to induce Landlord to enter into this lease with Tenant, Tenant hereby covenants and agrees to cause Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc.,
the parent corporation of Tenant, to execute and deliver to Landlord a guaranty of the full and faithful performance and observance of all of the covenants,
terms and conditions of this lease to be performed or observed by Tenant, in the form annexed hereto as Exhibit “4”. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that, in
addition to any other applicable conditions and restrictions contained in this lease, the ability of Tenant to exercise any privilege, right or option under this
lease with regard to any assignment, subletting, renewal or expansion shall, at Landlord’s option, be further expressly conditioned upon such guarantor
executing and delivering to Landlord an affirmation and certification of its obligations under the guaranty from and after the effective date of the subject
assignment, subletting, renewal or expansion, unless such guarantor is expressly released of its obligations under its guaranty on the terms and conditions
hereof.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have respectively signed and sealed this lease as of the day and year first above written.

RA 660 WHITE PLAINS ROAD LLC

By: /s/ Richard Conniff
Name: Richard Conniff
Title: Authorized Person

PRESTIGE BRANDS, INC.

By: /s/ Ron Lombardi
Name: Ronald M. Lombardi
Title: CFO




SCHEDULE “A”
LANDLORD’S CLEANING SERVICES AND MAINTENANCE OF PREMISES
1. Landlord shall perform the following General Office Cleaning services between the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., Monday through Friday, of each

week (with the exception of union holidays) and said cleaning shall not be rescheduled by Tenant’s overtime or extraordinary use of the building or demised
premises.

A. Empty all wastepaper baskets, damp wipe ashtrays and receptacles.

B. Sweep and/or dustmop all hard surfaced flooring with mops so treated as to preserve the sheen and appearance of such flooring.

C. Carpet sweep all areas requiring same. Said areas to be vacuumed clean twice weekly; conduct spot cleaning where necessary.

D. Deposit all wastepaper from baskets in plastic bags (to be supplied by Contractor), placing same in locations as shall be designated

convenient for the remove thereof. Landlord shall not be responsible for the removal of large boxes, wooden pallets or abnormal amounts of
waste paper.

E. Hand dust all desks, chairs, worktables, office furniture and equipment within normal arms reach.

F. Damp dust and wipe clean all glass tops and all desks and tables, removing all finger marks and smudges from same.
G. Wipe clean of finger marks and maintain all brass and other bright work.

H. Wash and clean tops of all water coolers and fountains and floors and wall areas surrounding same.

L. Hand dust all doors and ventilation louvers located within normal arms reach.

J. Dust clean interior of all wastepaper baskets and disposal cans.

K. Dust and sweep all open closet flooring.

L. Lift and dust under all telephones and other such lightweight desk appurtenances, dusting and replacing same in their proper locations.
Telephones will be sanitized once a month.

M. Wisk brush all fabric covered furniture.

N. Instruct all employees to notify their supervisor, who in turn shall notify the proper designated representative of the building, of any
irregularity found in any office during the nightly tour of office cleaning.

0. After cleaning, all electric lamps are to be extinguished, office windows closed, office doors closed and premises to be left in a neat and
orderly condition.

P. Do high dusting once per month.

2. The Landlord shall perform the following Porter Services and Janitorial Maintenance Services in the manner and with the scheduling as set forth in the
following:

A. Scour wash all public lavatory flooring, using the proper coefficient of disinfectant for same.



Q.

Thoroughly wash, scour clean and disinfect all basins, bowls and urinals located in all public lavatories.
Damp dust and wipe clean all mirrors, powder shelves and enameled surfaces located in all public lavatories.

Wipe clean of finger marks and maintain in a constant state of uniform brightness, all brass and other bright work located in all public
lavatories.

Damp wipe clean all soap dispensers, receptacles, partitions, stalls and tile work within normal arms reach in all public lavatories. Said
areas to be washed down at least once during the course of each weekly period.

Empty and clean all paper towel and sanitary disposal receptacles in all public lavatories, depositing waste from same in designated
locations.

Refill all toilet tissue, hand soap and towel dispensers located in all public lavatories.

Wash all terrazzo lobby flooring. Same to be machine scrubbed a minimum of once during the course of each monthly period.

Hand dust all lobby marble, stone work and fixtures within normal arms reach.

Dustmop and/or vacuum all public corridors as situated throughout the entire building.

Thoroughly wash, wax and machine polish and/or refinish all public corridors as situated throughout the entire building twice during the
course of each weekly period. (Full floor tenants responsible for floor maintenance of their entire floor; Landlord is not responsible for the
maintenance of any elevator corridors or aisles).

Thoroughly wash, wax and machine polish and/or refinish all flooring as situated within the two elevator cabs.

Hand dust and clean all vertical surfaces located within the two elevator cabs.

Dust clean exterior of overhead lighting fixtures. Wash clean both inside and outside of all the lighting fixtures, fluorescent and
incandescent, situated in the core space of the building; once during the course of each yearly period.

Dust clean all overhead pipes, ventilating louvers, air conditioning louvers and dust high moldings and other high areas and surfaces
situated on all floors of the building and not reached during the regularly scheduled tours of nightly cleaning twice during the course of each

yearly period.

Damp mop all stairways and landings, dusting down all handrails, stairway doors and frames, fire hoses, standpipe nozzles and racks
located in two sets of stairways once during the course of each weekly period.

Clean and polish saddles and entrance hardware in public areas once a month.

All of the foregoing porter and janitorial maintenance services are to be rendered nightly, from Monday through Friday



of each week (excluding union holidays), between the hours of 6:00 P.M. and 7:00 A.M., unless otherwise scheduled.
3. Pick-up trash in the parking areas of the Building as required.

4. Interior and exterior perimeter window cleaning shall be performed once every six months (twice a year).



SCHEDULE “B”

Energy Service Schedule (Submetered)

1. Landlord shall provide at the rates hereinafter set forth and Tenant shall purchase (to the extent obligated to pay such charges hereunder) from
Landlord “energy service” for Tenant’s requirements in the Demised Premises, which shall include the energy necessary to provide heat and air conditioning
in the respective seasons and electric current for lighting and office equipment, as follows:

(A) ELECTRIC SERVICE. Landlord shall provide electric service (the “ELECTRIC SERVICE”) for lighting, convenience outlets,
supplemental air conditioning service and other customary office usage within the Demised Premises.

(B) BASE BUILDING HVAC SERVICE. Landlord shall provide the Demised Premises with heating, ventilating and air conditioning
service via the base building HVAC system (the “BASE BUILDING HVAC SERVICE”).

2. Charges for ELECTRIC SERVICE. The parties hereby acknowledge and agree that the Demised Premises will be, as part of the Tenant’s Initial
Work, submetered or check metered (all such submeters or check meters being hereinafter collectively referred to as the “SUBMETER™) for the purpose of
monitoring Tenant’s consumption of ELECTRIC SERVICE. Throughout the Term, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as additional rent and within ten (10) days
following billing therefor by Landlord, the charges for ELECTRICAL SERVICE consumed as measured by the SUBMETER; such charges to include
Landlord’s standard administrative fee for reading, monitoring and billing with respect to the SUBMETER (such administrative fee not to exceed one percent
(1%) of the total charges). Tenant shall cause the SUBMETER to be installed, connected and made operational by the Rent Commencement Date, failing
which Tenant shall pay, within ten (10) days following demand therefor by Landlord (as and when made by Landlord), a liquidated additional rent charge for
ELECTRICAL SERVICE, calculated at the rate of $350.27 per day, for the period from the Rent Commencement Date through and including the date on
which the SUBMETER has been installed, connected and made operational.

3. Charges for BASE BUILDING HVAC SERVICE. There shall be no additional charge to Tenant for BASE BUILDING HVAC SERVICE
provided to the Demised Premises during ordinary “WORKING HOURS?” (i.e., 8:00 A.M. through 6:00 P.M. Monday through Friday, excluding holidays). In
the event Tenant requests BASE BUILDING HVAC SERVICE outside of WORKING HOURS (“OT BB HVAC SERVICE”), Tenant shall pay to Landlord,
within ten (10) days following demand therefor, and as additional rent under this lease, an amount equal to the number of hours of such OT BB HVAC
SERVICE in the subject billing period, multiplied by Landlord’s then current hourly charge for OT BB HVAC SERVICE. Landlord agrees that Landlord’s
hourly charge for OT BB HVAC SERVICE shall be calculated so as to ensure full recoupment of the costs incurred by Landlord in providing the OT BB
HVAC SERVICE, but without profit to Landlord over and above such costs.

4. Tenant acknowledges that the base Building electrical system servicing the Demised Premises will be designed to accommodate a maximum
connected load of six watts per square foot, exclusive of BASE BUILDING HVAC SERVICE (the “Maximum Capacity”). Tenant’s use of electrical energy in
the Demised Premises shall not at any time exceed the Maximum Capacity. In order to ensure that the Maximum Capacity is not exceeded and to avert
possible adverse effect upon the Building electric service, Tenant shall not, without Landlord’s prior written consent in each instance, (i) connect additional
fixtures, appliances or equipment to the Building electric distribution system where the aggregate connected load of all such additional fixtures, appliances
and equipment would constitute a material increase in the connected load of all fixtures, appliances and equipment installed in the Demised Premises as of the
date on which Tenant has first taken full occupancy of the Demised Premises hereunder for the purpose of conducting its business therein, or (ii) make any
alteration or addition to the electric system of the Demised Premises.



5. If at any time during the Term, the Building is monitored by an energy management system, then the information derived from such energy
management system will constitute conclusive evidence of all issues regarding energy consumption and capacity levels.

6. Landlord shall have full and unrestricted access to all air-conditioning and heating equipment, and to all other utility installations servicing the
Building and the Demised Premises. Landlord reserves the right temporarily to interrupt, curtail, stop or suspend air-conditioning and heating service, and all
other utilities, or other services, because of Landlord’s inability to obtain, or difficulty or delay in obtaining, labor or materials necessary therefor, or in order
to comply with governmental restrictions in connection therewith, or for any other cause beyond Landlord’s reasonable control. Subject to Article 38 of this
lease, no diminution or abatement of Rent, additional rent, or other compensation shall be granted to Tenant, nor shall this lease or any of the obligations of
Tenant hereunder be affected or reduced by reason of such interruptions, stoppages or curtailments, the causes of which are hereinabove enumerated, nor shall
the same give rise to a claim in Tenant’s favor that such failure constitutes actual or constructive, total or partial, eviction from the Demised Premises. Subject
to Article 38 of this lease, Landlord shall have no liability to Tenant for any loss, damage or expense sustained or incurred by reason of any change, failure,
inadequacy, unsuitability or defect in the supply or character of the electric energy furnished to the Demised Premises or if the quantity or character of the
electric energy is no longer available or suitable for Tenant’s requirements.

7. At Landlord’s option, it shall furnish and install all lighting tubes, bulbs and ballasts used in the Premises and Tenant shall pay Landlord’s
reasonable charges therefor, on demand, as additional rent.

8.  Telephone and data transmission service (collectively, “telephone/data service”) shall be the responsibility of Tenant. Tenant shall make all
arrangements for telephone/data service directly with a telecommunications company supplying said service, including the deposit requirement for the
furnishing of service. Landlord shall not be responsible for any delays occasioned by the failure of said company to furnish such service. In the event
Landlord has designated a company as the prime telephone/data service provider for the Building, Tenant may use a different telephone/data service provider
of its choice provided the installation work of such provider shall be performed in strict accordance with the provisions of Article 15(B) of this lease relating
to Alterations, and further provided that such provider shall install the equipment required to provide such service to Tenant inside the Demised Premises and
not in the common areas of the Building (except that the wiring and cabling to such equipment may be run through such common areas in the manner and
location reasonably required by Landlord).

9.  The base Building HVAC system is comprised of a variable volume duct system on each floor, together with a reasonable number of air
diffusers and associated fixtures, all supplied from a central system designed to conform to the performance standards of Class A office buildings in
Westchester County. Normal operating hours shall be 8:00 A.M. to 6:00 P.M., Monday through Friday. The base Building system shall be capable of
delivering 100% outside fresh air, and shall never deliver less than 15% outside fresh air, or less than 0.35 cfm. The base Building system shall be capable of
maintaining inside conditions of not more than 50% relative humidity when outside conditions are not more than 95 F dry bulb and 75 F wet bulb, except that
as the outside temperature conditions vary, the inside space conditions shall be maintained approximately as follows:

OUTSIDE CONDITIONS MAXIMUM INSIDE
CONDITIONS
66--72 db 72 +/- 2db, 25--50 RH*
72--80 db 74 +/- 2db, 35--50 RH*
81--90 db 76 +/- 2db, 35--50 RH*
91--95 db 78 +/- 2db, 35--50 RH*

* With normal humidity tolerances



The system shall also be capable of maintaining a minimum temperature throughout the demised premises of 69 F when the outside temperature is 10 F. The
performance requirements noted above shall be maintained all year round, either by the use of varying amounts of outside air or by mechanical refrigeration.
However, the above noted performance requirements shall be based upon the following conditions of internal heat and moisture gain: (i) a population density
of no more than one person per 150 square feet, and (ii) electrical consumption of not more than six watts per square foot (on a connected load basis) for
Tenant lighting and power use. The base Building system shall be automatically controlled, and shall be reasonably free of noticeable noise, vibration, or
drafts and require minimum cost expenditure in fuel.



SCHEDULE “C”

Rules and Regulations

1. The sidewalks, entrances, driveways, passages, courts, elevators, vestibules, stairways, corridors or halls shall not be obstructed or encumbered
by any tenant or used for any purpose other than for ingress to and egress from the Demised Premises and for delivery of merchandise and equipment in a
prompt and efficient manner using elevators and passageways designated for such delivery by Landlord. There shall not be used in any space, or in the public
hall of the building, either by any tenant or by jobbers or others in the delivery or receipt of merchandise, any hand trucks, except those equipped with rubber
tires and side guards.

2. The water and wash closets and plumbing fixtures shall not be used for any purposes other than those for which they were designed or
constructed and no sweepings, rubbish, rags, acids or other substances shall be deposited therein, and the expense of any breakage, stoppage, or damage
resulting from the violation of this rule shall be borne by the Tenant who, or whose clerks, agents, employees or visitors, shall have caused it.

3. No Tenant shall sweep or throw or permit to be swept or thrown from the Premises any dirt or other substances into any of the corridors or halls,
elevators, or out of the doors or windows or stairways of the building, and the Tenant shall not use, keep or permit to be used or kept any coffee machine,
vending machine, burner, microwave oven, refrigerator or oven, food or noxious gas or substance in the Demised Premises, or permit or suffer the Demised
Premises to be occupied or used in a manner offensive or objectionable to Landlord or other occupants of the Building by reason of noise, odors and/or
vibrations, or interfere in any way with other tenants or those having business therein, nor shall any animals or birds be kept in or about the Building. Tenant
shall provide and maintain, at its expense, the hand-held fire extinguishers that are required to be maintained in Premises by the governmental agency having
jurisdiction over this matter. Smoking or carrying lighted cigars or cigarettes in the Building is prohibited.

4. No awnings or other projections shall be attached to the outside walls of the Building without the prior written consent of the Landlord.

5. No sign, advertisement, notice or other lettering and/or window treatment shall be exhibited, inscribed, painted or affixed by any Tenant on any
part of the outside of the Demised Premises or the Building or on the inside of the Demised Premises if the same is visible from the outside of the Demised
Premises without the prior written consent of the Landlord. In the event of the violation of the foregoing by any Tenant, Landlord may remove same without
any liability, and may charge the expense incurred by such removal to Tenant or Tenants violating this rule. Interior signs on doors and directory tables shall
be inscribed, painted or affixed for each Tenant by Landlord at the expense of such Tenant, and shall be of a size, color and style acceptable to Landlord.

6. No Tenant shall mark, paint, drill into, or in any way deface any part of the Demised Premises or the Building of which they form a part. No
boring, cutting or stringing of wires shall be permitted, except with the prior written consent of Landlord, and as Landlord may direct. No tenant shall lay
linoleum or other similar floor covering so that the same shall come in direct contact with the floor of the Demised Premises and, if linoleum or other similar
floor covering is desired to be used, an interlining of builder’s deadening felt shall be first affixed to the floor, by a paste or other water soluble material, the
use of cement or other similar adhesive material being expressly prohibited. All work involving construction is to be approved by Landlord.

7. No additional locks or bolts of any kind shall be placed upon any of the doors or windows by any Tenant, nor shall any changes be made in
existing locks or in the mechanisms thereof, provided that, subject to Landlord’s reasonable approval, Tenant may install a controlled security access system
with respect to the Premises so long as Landlord is given access codes thereto. Each Tenant must, upon the termination of his tenancy, restore to Landlord all
keys of stores, offices and toilet rooms, either furnished to, or otherwise procured by, such Tenant, and in the event of the loss of any keys, so furnished, such
Tenant shall pay to Landlord the cost thereof.



8. Freight, general business equipment, merchandise and bulky matter of any description shall be delivered to and removed from the Premises only
through the service entrances and corridors, and only during hours and in a manner approved by Landlord. Landlord reserves the right to inspect all freight to
be brought into the Building and to exclude from the Building all freight which violates any of these Rules and Regulations or the lease of which these Rules
and Regulations are a part. Movement of large furniture, large deliveries (other than customary office supply and water deliveries, and other deliveries
customarily made during office hours by other tenants of the Building (e.g. customary FedEx deliveries made during such time) and extended use of elevators
must be coordinated before 8:00 a.m. or after 6:00 p.m. Landlord shall reasonably cooperate and coordinate with Tenant in order to accommodate Tenant’s
required uses of the freight elevator at the Building. Except in connection with Tenant’s initial upfitting of the Premises (on account of which there shall be no
charge payable by Tenant to Landlord for use of the freight elevator), Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the reasonable costs incurred by Landlord in
making available a Building engineer for oversight purposes during any period of Tenant’s use of the freight elevator (other than in connection with a minor
usage where Landlord, in its reasonable discretion, determines that no Building engineer oversight is required).

9. Canvassing, soliciting and peddling in the building is prohibited and each Tenant shall cooperate to prevent the same.

10. Landlord reserves the right to exclude from the building between the hours of 6:00 P.M. and 8:00 A.M. and at all hours on Sundays and legal
holidays, all persons who do not present a pass to the building signed by Landlord or otherwise posses the appropriate key fob or access card for off-hours
entry into the Building, as applicable.

11.  Landlord shall have the right to prohibit any advertising by any Tenant which, in Landlord’s opinion, tends to impair the reputation of the
Building or its desirability as an office building, and upon written notice from Landlord, Tenant shall refrain from or discontinue such advertising.

12.  Tenant shall not bring or permit to be brought or kept in or on the Premises, any inflammable, combustible, hazardous or explosive fluid,
material, chemical or substance, or cause or permit any odors of cooking or other processes, or any unusual or other objectionable odors, to permeate in or
emanate from the Premises. Tenant shall provide and maintain, at its expense, the hand-held fire extinguishers that are required to be maintained in Premises
by the governmental agency having jurisdiction over this matter.

13. Tenant agrees to keep all entry doors closed at all times and to abide by all rules and regulations issued by the Landlord with respect thereto.

14.  In the event of any conflict between the foregoing Rules and Regulations any express provisions of the Lease to which the Rules and
Regulations are attached, the terms of the Lease shall control.



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Matthew M. Mannelly, certify that:

Date:

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

August 9, 2012 /s/ Matthew M. Mannelly
Matthew M. Mannelly
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Ronald M. Lombardi, certify that:

Date:

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

August 9, 2012 /s/ Ronald M. Lombardi
Ronald M. Lombardi
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Matthew M. Mannelly, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Quarterly Report of Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as applicable, and that information contained in such Quarterly Report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc.

/s/ Matthew M. Mannelly
Name: Matthew M. Mannelly
Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: August 9, 2012




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ronald M. Lombardi, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly
Report of Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as applicable, and that information contained in such Quarterly Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc.

/s/ Ronald M. L.ombardi
Name: Ronald M. Lombardi
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
Date: August 9, 2012



